The University of Hull

Telomerase: A Tumor Marker in The Peripheral Blood of Colorectal Cancer Patients

Being a thesis submitted for the Degree of MD In the University of Hull

by

Mr. Ghaith Khair, MBBS, MRCS

June 2008

Abstract

Colorectal cancer (CRC) recurrence after curable resection is still high. This fact strongly suggests that the dissemination of circulating tumour cells (CTC) occurs early in the disease process. The first clinical results obtained suggest that CTC detection and enumeration can be used to estimate prognosis and may serve as an early marker to assess anti-tumour activity of a treatment.

Telomerase is an RNA-dependant DNA polymerase that synthesises telomeric DNA sequences on the tip of chromosomes and is widely considered to be one of the most abundant and common tumour markers. Telomerase consists of two components; one is the functional RNA (hTR), which acts as a template for telomeric DNA synthesis. The second component is human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), the catalytic subunit of telomerase, which is concomitantly associated with telomerase activation during carcinogenesis. Its expression in tumours has been very commonly described using reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Furthermore hTERT peptides were found to be immunogenic both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and hence may be a suitable target for novel cancer immunotherapy.

The aim of this study was to detect circulating tumour cells (CTC) in the peripheral blood of CRC patients using telomerase as a tumour marker. Telomerase presence and activity were measured using a combination of approaches including; ELISPOT assay to detect viable CTL that can recognise hTERT peptides in 30 patients with CRC. The results showed that 71% of pre-operative samples and 54% post-operative samples had CTL reaction towards hTERT peptides. The second approach was to study the enzyme activity using TeloTAGGG Telomerase TRAP assay. In this study 97 patients were recruited, and telomerase activity was positive in 11% of patients. Finally the RT-PCR approach used in this thesis failed to detect hTERT mRNA in serum samples as a result of long duration of samples storage. In conclusion: CTC detection in the peripheral blood is a rare event especially in none metastatic disease, There is an urgent need for standardised isolation and analysis techniques to be adopted thus allowing large-scale, appropriately controlled, multicenter trials to be undertaken on the most promising candidate marker.

Contents

Page No.

Abstract	i
Contents	ii
List of tables	vi
List of figures	viii
Abbreviations	ix
Presentations and publications in support of this thesis	xi
Acknowledgements	xii

CHAPTER 1	1
1.1 Colorectal Cancer (CRC)	2
1.1.1 Incidence	2
1.1.2 Distribution	3
1.1.3 Mortality	3
1.1.4 Pathology	4
1.1.5 Grading	4
1.1.6 Staging	5
1.2 Aetiology	7
1.2.1 Environmental factors	7
1.2.2 Familial and genetic factors	10
1.2.3 Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)	11
1.2.4 Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colon Cancer (HNPCC)	12
1.3 Genetics of CRC	13
1.4 Telomeres and telomerase	16
1.4.1 The end replication problem	16
1.4.2 Telomeres	17
1.4.3 Telomeres and ageing	20
1.4.4 Telomerase	20

1.5 Telomerase regulation	22
1.5.1 Transcriptional regulation of hTERT	22
1.5.2 hTERT transcription repressors	23
1.5.3 hTERT splicing	24
1.5.4 Epigenetic regulation of hTERT transcription	24
1.5.5 Post-translational regulation of hTERT	25
1.6 Telomerase and cancer	26
1.7 Circulating Tumour Cells (CTC)	28
1.8 CTC enrichment	29
1.9 CTC in blood and CRC	30
1.10 Methods of CTC detection	33
1.10.1 Cytometric methodology	33
1.10.2 Nucleic acid based methodology	34
1.10.3 DNA markers	34
1.10.4 KNA markers	30 41
1.10.5 ITEKT IIKINA 1.10.6 CK	41 42
1.10.7 CEA	45
1.10.8 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)	49
1.10.9 Dipeptidase I (DPEP I)	50
1.10.10 Apolipoprotein AI (Apo-A1)	51
1.11 Telomerase and cancer Immunology	52
1.11.1 The role of Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL)	52
1.11.2 Telomerase and tumour associated antigens (TAA)	53
1.12 Aim of thesis	56
CHAPTER 2	57
2.1 Study approval	58
2.1.1 Patient recruitment	58
2.1.2 Aseptic technique	58
2.1.3 Selection criteria	59
2.1.4 Study protocol	59
2.2 Labelling Dynabeads with BerEP4	60
2.3 Preparation of CTC	61
2.3.1 Immunomagnetic separation (IMS) and CTC preservation	61
2.4 Telomerase PCR ELISA	62
2.4.1 Preparation of cell lysates	62
2.4.2 Protein assay of lysates	62

2.4.3 PCR condition	64
2.4.4 Hybridization and ELISA	64
2.5.1 Preparation of PBMC	65
2.5.2 Cell counting and viability testing	66
2.5.3 HLA-A2 and HLA-A3 typing of PBMC	66
2.5.4. ELISpot Assay	/0
2.5.4.1 Day 1 2.5.4.2 Day 2	70
2.5.4.3 Day 3	72
2.5.4.4 Day 4	73
2.6 RT-PCR of serum samples	73
2.6.1 Serum preparation	74
2.6.2 RNA extraction	74
2.6.3 RT-PCR condition	75
2.6.4 3% agarose gel preparartion	76
2.6.5 PCR products loading	77
CHAPTER 3	78
3.1 Introduction	79
3.2 Patient samples	79
3.3 HLA status and CTL response against hTERT peptide	s in CRC
patients	81
3.4 Repeated samples	87
3.5 Averaged results	88
3.6 PMA stimulation and Influenza response	88
3.7 Benign tumours	91
3.8 Site and stage of cancer	91
3.8 Deceased patients	93
3.9 Conclusion	93
CHAPTER 4	96
4.1 Introduction	97
4.2 Detection of serum hTERT mRNA	97
4.2.1 Preliminary work	98
4.2.2 RT-PCR verification	99
4.2.3 RT-PCR for patient samples	101
4.3 Conclusion	109

CHAPTER 5	113
5.1 Introduction	114
5.2 Prognostic value of telomerase activity in CTC 5.2.1 Results 5.2.2 Conclusion	114 115 117
5.3 Detection of Telomerase activity in circulating epithelial cells b Telomerase PCR ELISA 5.3.1 Methods 5.3.2 The conception of TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA 5.3.3 Data analysis 5.3.4 Results	y 117 118 119 119
5.4 Summary	128
 5.5 Conclusions and recommendations 5.5.1 The validity of IMS technique 5.5.2 Protein concentrations of cell lysates used in TeloTAGGG assay 5.5.3 The duration of samples storage 5.5.4 The validity of the TeloTAGGG kits 	129 129 131 131 132
CHAPTER 6	134
6.1 CTL response against tumour cells 6.1.1 Clinical trials of hTERT immunotherapy and future work	135 137
6.2 Telomerase and CTC	140
 6.3 Conclusion 6.3.1 Technical issues in CTC detection 6.3.2 Clinical application of CTC detection in cancer prognosis and treatment 6.3.3 Future work 	142 142 143 145
REFERENCES:	147
APPENDIX 4.1	178

List of Tables

Table 1.1: Dukes' stage	5
Table 1.2: Astler-Coller staging	6
Table 1.3: TNM staging	6
Table 1.4: Comparison of TNM group staging and Dukes'/modified	
Astler-Coller equivalents modified	7
Table 1.5: Epidemiology and biology of CRC	9
Table 1.6: Degree of risk of developing CRC according to family history	10
Table 1.7: The Revised Bethesda Guidelines for testing colorectal tumours for	
microsatellite instability (MSI)	13
Table 1.8: mRNA markers of breast and gastrointestinal tumours	37
Table 1.9: CK as a marker in the peripheral blood of CRC patients	45
Table 1.10: Carcinoembryonic antigen as a molecular marker in CRC	48
Table 2.1: Preparation of diluted BSA standards	63
Table 2.2: Master Mix concentrations	75
Table 2.3: PCR conditions	76
Table 3.1: Patient details that were used for the ELISpot assay	80
Table 3.2: Showing the ELISpot assays performed	81
Table 3.3: ELISpot results for A2 positive patients	84
Table 3.4: ELISpot results for A3 positive patients	85
Table 3.5: CTL response against hTERT in patients' samples	86

Table 3.6: ELISpot results for a HLA-A2 positive patient- patient 22, sample 2	87
Table 3.7: ELISpot results for a HLA-A3 positive patient- patient 101, sample 1	87
Table 3.8: Showing an example of the number of SPC counted per well	
and the average	88
Table 3.9: Patient responses to PMA stimulation and influenza: number	
of SFC obtained with PMA and Influenza.	90
Table 3.10: Patients samples with tumours originating in the colon	92
Table 3.11: Patient samples with the tumour originating in the rectum	92
Table 3.12: Patient details of patients who died during the course of the study	93
Table 4.1: RNA concentration and purity	101
Table 5.1: Patients' clinicopathological data	116
Table 5.2: Protein concentration of cell lysates	121
Table 5.3: An example TeloTAGGG assay	123
Table 5.4: Protein concentrations	124
Table 5.5: TeloTAGGG assay	125
Table 5.6: TeloTAGGG assay	126
Table 5.7: Patients with positive telomerase activity	128

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Incidence of CRC	2
Figure 1.2 CRC distribution	3
Figure 1.3 adenoma-carcinoma sequence	15
Figure 1.4 End replication problem (<u>www.uic.edu//ReplicationFork.gif</u>)	17
Figure 1.5 Human telomere	19
Figure 1.6 Telomerase structure (<u>www.uic.edu//bios100/f05pm/telomerase.jpg</u>)	21
Figure 1.7 Positive (A) and negative (B) isolation of desired cell populations	30
Figure 2.1 Study protocol	60
Figure 2.2 Protein standard curve example	63
Figure 2.3 examples of HLA typing on flow cytometry	69
Figure 2.4 Schematic ELISpot plate layout	72
Figure 3.1 Examples of ELISpot results	82
Figure 4.1 A 1.2% w/v agarose loading gel showing no PCR bands in any tube	99
Figure 4.2 The bright bands at approximately 450 bp demonstrate	
the positive expression of the cancer cell lines of GAPDH and β -actin genes	100
Figure 4.3 1.2% w/v agarose loading gel showing faint PCR bands in tubes 8 & 9	102
Figure 4.4 RT-PCR increased to 40 cycles to get a higher yield of RT-PCR	
Products	103
Figure 4.5 There are two faint bands at around 450 bp in columns 22 and 25	105
Figure 4.6 Demonstrates bright bands at 450 bp and 214 bp	106
Figure 4.7 RT-PCR using patients' serum samples	107
Figure 4.8 All patients' samples expressed hTERT mRNA	108
Figure 4.9 3% w/v agarose gel with smeared products	109
Figure 5.1 Samples distribution on ELISA plate	120

Figure 5.2 BerEP4-Dynabeads with no cells attached after mixing with	
BerEP4-negative cell line (CaCO-2) and extraction with magnet.	
Provided by D. Beral	130
Figure 5.3 BerEP4-Dynabeads attached to cells after mixing with a	
BerEP4-positive cell line (MCF-7) and extraction using the magnet.	
Provided by D. Beral	130

Abbreviations

APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli
Alpha 4 Gnt	Alpha 1,4 N-acetylglucosaminyl Transferase
AFP	Alpha-Fetoprotein
ALB	Albumin
Apo-A1	Apolipoprotein AI
APC	Antigen Presenting Cell
Anti-DIG-HRP	Polyclonal sheep antibody against Digoxigenin conjugated
	to Horseradish Peroxidase
Ag	Antigen
Вр	Base Pairs
B-HCG	Beta-subunit of Human Chorionic Gonadotropin
BSA	Bovine Serum Albumin
BM	Bone Marrow
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
COX	Cyclooxygenase
CTC	Circulating Tumour Cells
CEA	Carcino Embryonic Antigen
CK	Cytokeratins
C-MET	Hepatocyte Growth Factor Receptor
CEA	Carcino Embryonic Antigen
CEACAM5	Carcinoembryonic Antigen-related Cell Adhesion Molecule 5
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocytes
DPEP I	Dipeptidase I
DMSO	Dimethylsulphoxide
DIG	Digoxigenin
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ECL	Electrochemiluminescence
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immuno-Sorbent Assay

FAP	Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase
HRT	Hormonal Replacement Therapy
HNPCC	Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colon Cancer
HAT	Histone Acetyl Transferase
HDAC	Histone Acetyl Deacetylase
hMAM	Human Mamoglobulin
HER2/neu	Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2
hTERT	Human Telomerase Reverse Transcriptase
htR	Human Telomerase RNA
HiFCS	Heat Inactivated Foetal Calf Serum
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HEA	Human Epithelial Antigen
IGF-II	Insulin Like Growth Factor
IMS	Immunomagnetic Separation
IBD	Inflammatory Bowel Disease
MSI	Microsatellite Instability
MMR	Mismatch Repair
MZF-2	Myeloid-specific Zinc Finger Protein 2
MACS	Magnetic Affinity Cell Sorting
MUC-1	Membrane Associated Mucin 1
MAG-A3	Melanoma Associated Antigen
MAH	Membrane Array Hybridization
MAG-1	Malignant Antigen
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
MPC	Magnetic Particle Concentrator
NPC	Nasopharyngeal Cancer
РКС	Protein Kinase C
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PCR-SSCP	Polymerase Chain Reaction-Single Strand Conformation
	Polymorphism
PTHrP	Parathyroid Hormone related Protein
PBMC	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PMA	Phorbol-12-Myristate-13-Acetate
RT-PCR	Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction
RER	Rough Endoplasmic Reticulum
SCCA	Squamous Cell Carcinoma Antigen
SFC	Spot Forming Cells
TNM	Tumour-Node-Metastasis
TGFβ	Transforming Growth Factor β
TNF	Tumour Necrosis Factor
TAA	Tumour Associated Antigens
TMB	Tetramethylbenzidine
TRAP	Telomeric Repeat Amplification Protocol
WHO	World Health Organisation

Presentations and publications in support of this thesis

Full text manuscripts

Epithelial molecular markers in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients. G Khair, JRT Monson, J. Greenman. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007 Aug;50(8):1188-203.

Presentations

WT1

- 1. Determination of an anti-hTERT T cell response in colorectal cancer patients preand post-surgery. G Khair, G Hu, JRT Monson, J Greenman. Presented at the British association of surgical oncology, London, UK, November 2006
- 2. The prognostic value of circulating tumour cells in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients. G Khair, A Alabi, R Loveday, J Greenman, JRT Monson. The Society of Surgical Oncology, San Diego, USA, March 2006

Acknowledgements

I acknowledge with gratitude, the invaluable opportunity, the care and constant encouragement with which Professor JRT Monson has provided me. I am deeply indebted for his constant support, time and guidance.

I would like to thank Dr. John Greenman who is mostly responsible for helping me complete the writing of this thesis as well as the challenging research that lies behind it. Dr. Greenman has been a mentor. He showed me different ways to approach a research problem and the need to be persistent to accomplish any goal. He taught me how to write academic papers, and brought out the good ideas in me. Without his encouragement and constant guidance I could not have finished this thesis.

I would also like to acknowledge the continued help given by my colleagues in the Medical Research Laboratory at the University of Hull, particularly, Dr. Leigh Madden and Mr. D Beral for their direct supervision when handling the laboratory experiments .A special thanks to Rhonda Green for helping me at any time, and solving any unsolvable problems concerning M.D. students.

Last, but not least, I thank my family: my parents for their unconditional love and support and my beloved wife for her immense faith in her husband at times when I doubted myself, without her constant encouragement and moral support the completion of this thesis would not have been possible.

xii

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Colorectal Cancer (CRC)

1.1.1 Incidence

CRC is a common cancer worldwide with higher incidence rates in Western Europe and North America compared with Asia, Africa and South America, whereas intermediate rates prevail in Eastern Europe. Figure 1.1 shows the worldwide incidence of CRC.



Figure 2.1 Incidence of CRC (Cancer Research UK 2007 website)

CRC is the most common malignancy in the UK after breast and lung. Around 100 new cases of CRC are diagnosed each day in the UK. In 2004 there were 36,109 new cases of large bowel cancer registered in the UK. It is the second most common cancer in women after breast cancer, accounting for 12% of all cancers and the third most common cancer in men after prostate and lung cancer accounting for 14% of all cancers. The incidence trends for men and women differ. Since the late 1970s male CRC incidence rates have increased by nearly 21% to almost 57 per 100,000 in 2000. Female rates have remained stable since the late 1970s at around 36 per 100,000 and mortality is declining at similar

rates for both genders (Coleman et al. 2004). CRC is more common in Scotland and Northern Ireland than in England and Wales (Cancer Research UK 2004).

1.1.2 Distribution

There are more cases of colon cancer than rectal cancer; around two-thirds (22,349) in the colon and one-third (13,760) in the rectum (Cancer Statistics registrations 2004). Half of colon cancer grows in the rectosigmoid colon, 25% in the right colon and 25% in the transverse colon, splenic flexure, descending colon and in the hepatic flexure (Fig 1.2).



Figure 1.2 CRC distribution (Cancer Research UK website)

1.1.3 Mortality

In 2005 there were 16,092 deaths from CRC in the UK, comprising 10,308 from colon and 5,784 from rectal cancer (Office for National Statistics 2006) and the mortality rates were higher in men than women. Around 8,500 men and 7,600 women died of the disease. There have been significant improvements in 5-year survival over the last 30 years. For colon cancer the five year survival rate has increased from 22% to 47% for men and from 23% to 48% in women. Similarly, there have been improvements in the five year survival rate of rectal cancer. For men 5-year survival increased from 25% to 47%, and for women, 27% to 51%. (Aaltonen et al. 1994).

1.1.4 Pathology

The vast majority (98%) of colorectal tumours are adenocarcinoma, the remainder being squamous cell carcinoma and carcinoids. Tumours of mesenchymal origin are relatively rare (Kumar 1994). The macroscopic appearances of CRC are classified into 4 types:

- 1) **Ulcer**: the ulcerative cancer which presents as a typical malignant ulcer with raised rolled edges, often with a necrotic base.
- Polypoid cancer: a proliferative type of lesion which protrudes into the bowel lumen.
- 3) Annular or stenotic cancer: a circumferential lesion.
- Diffuse infiltrative cancer: an extensive lesion infiltrating the bowel wall often for at least 5-8 cm.

1.1.5 Grading

Colorectal carcinoma varies in the degree of differentiation not only from tumour to tumour but also from area to area within the same tumour as they tend to be heterogeneous in their morphology. In 1999 the World Health Organisation (WHO) has classified the tumour grade into:

- 1) Grade I: poorly differentiated.
- 2) Grade II: moderately differentiated.
- 3) Grade III: well differentiated.

Approximately 60% of CRCs are moderately differentiated and the rest are equally divided into well and poorly differentiated.

1.1.6 Staging

The pathologic staging of CRC is based upon the extent of invasion of the tumour through the bowel wall, the involvement of regional lymph nodes and the presence of distant metastases. The Dukes' system was described in the early 1930s, originally solely for rectal tumours, and divides CRC into three groups as shown in Table 1.1 A more recent modification is the Astler-Coller system which was itself modified to include distant metastases (Table 1.2). Finally, the TNM (Tumour-Node-Metastasis) classification is a universal staging system which was adapted for a number of tumour types and is probably the most commonly used worldwide (Table 1.3). Table 1.4 enables equivalent stages in each system to be compared.

 Table 1.1: Dukes' stage (Dukes 1932)

Dukes' Stage	Description
A	The tumour is confined to the bowel wall with no involvement of lymph nodes
В	The tumour extends through the bowel wall but with no involvement of lymph nodes
С	There is involvement of lymph nodes

Astler-Coller	Description		
Α	Tumour limited to the bowel mucosa		
B1	Tumour extends into the muscularis propria but not through it; nodes uninvolved		
B2	Tumour penetrates through the muscularis mucosa; nodes uninvolved		
C1	Tumour extends into the muscularis propria but not through it; with involved nodes		
C2	Tumour penetrates through the muscularis mucosa; with involved nodes		
D	Distant metastases		

 Table 1.2: Astler-Coller staging (Astler and Coller 1954)

Table 1.3: TNM staging

Т	Tumour size
Тх	Primary tumour cannot be assessed
то	No evidence of primary tumour
Tis	Carcinoma insitu; intraepithelial or invasion of lamina propria
T1	Tumour invades submucosa
T2	Tumour invades muscularis propriety
	Tumour invades through muscularis propria into subserosa or into non-peritonealized
Т3	pericolic or perirectal tissue
T4	Tumour perforates the visceral peritoneum and/or directly invading other organs or tissues
Ν	Lymph node involvement
Nx	Regional nodes cannot be assessed
N0	No regional lymph nodes metastasis
N1	Metastasis in 1-3 regional lymph nodes
N2	Metastasis in 4 regional lymph nodes
N3	Involvement of any lymph node along named vascular trunk
м	Metastases
Мx	Distant metastasis cannot be assessed
MO	No distant metastasis
M1	Distant metastasis present

TNM grouping	TNM stage	Dukes' stage	modified Astler-Coller
stage			
Tis, N0 M0	0	None	None
T1,N0, M0	Ι	А	А
T2, N0, M0		А	B1
T3, N0, M0	II	В	B2
T4, N0, M0		В	B3
Any T, N1, M0	III	С	C1
Any T, N2, M0		С	C2
Any T, N3, M0		С	C3
Any T, any N, M1	IV	None	D

 Table 1.4: Comparison of TNM group staging and Dukes'/modified Astler-Coller

 equivalents modified (Fleming et al. 1997)

1.2 Aetiology

The aetiology of CRC is multifactorial. And it is widely accepted that both environmental and genetic factors have a role in colorectal carcinogenesis.

1.2.1 Environmental factors

The international differences, migrants' data and recent rapid changes in incidence rates in Italy and Japan show that CRC is sensitive to environmental changes, e.g. Diet, medication, activity, etc. Dietary intake has been thought to play a role in the carcinogenesis of the colon and the rectum. In 1971 Burkitt was the first to popularize the theory that a high fibre diet reduces the intestinal transit time and thus decreases the exposure to potential carcinogens. Also that bulky stool has a dilution effect on the secondary bile acids which have a proliferative effect on the intestinal mucosa (Burkitt 1971). Other studies have subsequently suggested that CRC is at lower risk with higher intake of high fibre diet (Singh and Fraser 1998), and a high intake of vegetables and fruit decreased the risk of developing adenomatous polyps in men (Giovannucci et al. 1992). However another study showed that there is no relation between high fibre diet and the risk of CRC in women (Fuchs et al. 1999).

Another dietary factor is Calcium and Vitamin D3, where calcium and vitamin D3 decrease the risk of CRC by binding to the secondary bile acids and fatty acids forming insoluble soaps therefore inhibiting their proliferative effect on intestinal mucosa (Newmark et al. 1984) (McMichael and Potter 1985). Folic acid depletion has been reported to play a role in colorectal carcinogenesis, a study undertaken by Freudenheim (428 colon and 372 rectal cancer cases) (Freudenheim et al. 1991) showed that increased folate intake is associated with lower risk of CRC. A second cohort study undertaken by Giovannucci assessed dietary intake for a 1-year period for a cohort of 47,931 U.S. males (Giovannucci et al. 1995) showed an increase risk of CRC with low folate and methionine intakes. Also the same study showed an increased risk of CRC with high alcohol intake. Other studies have shown that non-steroidal-anti-inflammatory-drugs (NSAIDS) such as aspirin have a protective role in CRC by suppressing Cyclooxygenase (COX) and regulating colon carcinoma-induced angiogenesis by two mechanisms: COX-2 can modulate production of angiogenic factors by colon cancer cells, while COX-1 regulates angiogenesis in endothelial cells. Inhibition of COX-2 produces effects on the proliferation and apoptosis (Barnes et al. 1998) and angiogenesis (Tsujii et al. 1998) of intestinal mucosa.

Other studies showed that hormonal factors have a protective role against CRC. A metaanalysis was performed on 18 epidemiologic studies of postmenopausal hormone therapy and CRC and found a 20% reduction [RR = 0.80, 95% confidence interval (CI), 0.74 to 0.86] in risk of colon cancer and a 19% decrease (RR = 0.81, 95% CI, 0.72 to 0.92) in the

risk of rectal cancer for postmenopausal women who had ever taken hormone therapy compared with women who never used hormones (Grodstein et al. 1999), however the relation of CRC with use of menopausal hormones was evaluated in the United States among 40,464 postmenopausal women, 41 to 80 years of age, who were followed for an average of 7.7 years. Long term use of menopausal hormones was not associated with risk of total CRCs or cancers of the colon or rectum. Recent hormone users, however, had a small but insignificant reduction in risk of CRC (RR = 0.78, CI = 0.55-1.1) (Troisi et al. 1997). Table 1.5 summarises the main findings regarding environmental factors with the molecular mechanisms by which they are thought to act (Potter 1999).

Population risk factors	molecules
Family history	$FAP \rightarrow APC$
<u> </u>	HNPCC \rightarrow microsatellite instability pathway
	? Others
Meat and smoking	Nitrosamines and
	Heterocyclic amines
	\rightarrow ? APC mutation
	? K-ras mutation
Alcohol	acetaldehyde→ DNA damage
	Effects via reduced folate
Vegetables	Antioxidants \rightarrow reduced DNA damage
-	Folate \rightarrow DNA integrity
	Fibre \rightarrow SCFAs \rightarrow apoptosis
Physical activity/low	Reduced growth stimulus
Body mass	Reduced transit time
NSAIDS	COX-2 inhibit
HRT	? Prevention of ER hypermethylation

 Table 1.5: Epidemiology and biology of CRC (Potter, JD) (Potter 1999)

SCFAs: short chain fatty acids FAP: Familial Adenomatous Polyposis APC: adenomatous Polyposis Coli HRT: Hormonal Replacement Therapy

1.2.2 Familial and genetic factors

Family history is strongly associated with increased risk of CRC, 12-15% of colon cancer have a family history of colon cancer in a first degree relative (Potter et al. 1993), (Kerber et al. 1998). In 1976 Lovett was first to describe the association between the incidence of CRC and family history (Lovett 1976).

Studies have shown that proximal colon cancer is more associated with family history than distal colon (Lynch et al. 1993). Slattery (Slattery et al. 2003) collected data from two population-based case control studies of colon and rectal cancer: Cases were first primary colon cancer diagnosed between 1991 and 1994 (n = 1308 cases and 1544 controls) or rectal cancer diagnosed between 1997 and 2001 (n = 952 cases and 1205 controls). The results showed that family history of CRC was associated with the greatest risk among those diagnosed at age 50 or younger (OR: 2.09 95% CI: 0.94-4.65 for rectal tumours; OR: 3.00 95% CI: 0.98-9.20 for distal colon tumours; and OR: 7.88 95% CI: 2.62-23.7 for proximal colon tumours), while the effect of family history on rectal cancer was less significant (OR: 1.37 95% CI: 1.02-1.85). Table 1.6 represents the risk of having a family history of CRC.

 Table 1.6: Degree of risk of developing CRC according to number of family members with the disease (Lovett 1976)

1 first degree relative	1/17
1 first degree relative, 1 second degree relative	1/12
1 first degree relative < 45 years old	1/10
2 parents	1/8.5
2 first degree relatives	1/6
3 first degree relatives	1/2
-	

1.2.3 Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP)

FAP is an autosomal dominant genetic disorder first described by Lockhart-Mummery in 1925. It affects approximately 2 in 8,000 people (Bisgaard et al. 1994) and is associated with hundreds to thousands of adenomatous polyps in the colon and the rectum, usually manifested in the teens/early twenties, which inevitably develop into malignant polyps if not treated. FAP is caused by germline mutations in the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene which was first identified in 1991 (Nishisho et al. 1991) and mapped to chromosome 5q (Groden et al. 1991). Somatic mutations of this gene are associated with tumourgenesis in 80% of colorectal tumours. APC encodes a large protein with multiple cellular functions and interactions, including roles in signal transduction, mediation of the intercellular adhesion, stabilization of the cytoskeleton and possibly of the regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis (Fearnhead et al. 2001). However APC mutations are not solely responsible for all cases of FAP as intense screening for APC gene mutations were not found in 30% of classical FAP patients. In 2003 a biallelic germline mutation of the base –excision repair gene MYH was first reported (Lipton et al. 2003) (Sieber et al. 2003) which was found in the APC negative FAP patients. The germline MYH mutations predispose people to a recessive phenotype, multiple adenomas, or polyposis coli. For patients with about 15 or more colorectal adenomas especially if no germ-line APC mutation has been identified and the family history is compatible with recessive inheritance genetic testing of MYH is indicated for diagnosis and calculation of the level of risk in relatives.

1.2.4 Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colon Cancer (HNPCC)

HNPCC is an autosomal dominant syndrome (Lynch et al. 1985), which accounts for approximately 2% of all CRC (Aaltonen et al. 1994) (Lynch et al. 1989). It is characterized by predominantly affecting the right side of the colon, with a tendency to arise in the younger age groups and possessing a strong hereditary trend. It also involves other cancer such as those of the endometrium, urinary tract, the biliary system and the small intestine (Lynch et al. 1989). The Amsterdam Criteria were set out to diagnose HNPCC (Vasen et al. 1991). However, extracolonic tumours were not taken into account and in order to improve sensitivity and specificity, newer, more detailed criteria were defined, namely the Amsterdam Criteria II (Vasen et al. 1999), the Bethesda (Rodriguez-Bigas et al. 1997) and the most recently Modified Bethesda Guidelines (Umar et al. 2004). These criteria are the basis upon which genetic counselling screening is offered to affected individuals and their families to determine the level of risk and offer appropriate family-screening. The latest criteria are shown in Table 1.7.

The clinical diagnosis can be confirmed by testing for germline mutations in a family of genes that are involved in DNA mismatch repair (MMR) (Liu et al. 1995) (Herman et al. 1998). The MMR system identifies and repairs errors that result from the activity of DNA polymerase during replication. The MMR system recognizes the mismatch, excises it and facilitates the resynthesis of the correct sequence (Kolodner et al. 1995).

Five mismatch repair genes have been known to be involved in HNPCC susceptibility (hMSH2, hMLH1, hPMS1, hPMS2 and hMSH6/GTBM) (Akiyama et al. 1997) (Miyaki et al. 1997) (Fishel et al. 1993). hMSH2 and hMLH1 germline mutations were found to be responsible for more than 90% of HNPCC families. (Lipton et al. 2004).

Table 1.7: The Revised Bethesda Guidelines for testing colorectal tumours for microsatellite instability (MSI) (Umar et al. 2004)

Tumours from individuals should be tested for MSI in the following situations:

- 1) Colorectal cancer diagnosed in a patient who is less than 50 years of age.
- 2) Presence of synchronous, metachronous colorectal, or other HNPCC associated tumours,* regardless of age.
- 3) Colorectal cancer with the MSI-H[†] histology[‡] diagnosed in a patient who is less than 60 years of age.§
- 4) Colorectal cancer diagnosed in one or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCC-related tumour, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years.
- 5) Colorectal cancer diagnosed in two or more first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumours, regardless of age.

*Hereditary nonpolyposis CRC (HNPCC)-related tumours include Colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, and brain (usually glioblastoma as seen in Turcot syndrome) tumours, sebaceous gland adenomas and keratoacanthomas in Muir–Torre syndrome, and carcinoma of the small bowel.

[†]MSI-H _ microsatellite instability-high in tumours refers to changes in two or more of the five National Cancer Institute-recommended panels of microsatellite markers.

[‡]Presence of tumour infiltrating lymphocytes, Crohn's-like lymphocytic reaction, mucinous/signet-ring differentiation or medullary growth pattern.

§There was no consensus among the Workshop participants on whether to include the age criteria in guideline 3 above; participants voted to keep less than 60 years of age in the guidelines.

1.3 Genetics of CRC

The evidence suggests that there are few pathways for a normal colonic cell to transform

into a cancerous one. The adenoma -carcinoma sequence, was first described by Morson

(Morson 1974).

APC is a tumour suppressor gene whose mutation usually occurs early in the adenoma-

carcinoma sequence, germline mutations of APC being responsible for FAP. APC

mutations or allelic losses of 5q are seen in 40-80% of CRC and adenomas (Korinek et al. 1997). APC binds to a protein called β -catenin, and stimulates its phosphorylation. In cells with an APC mutation, this phosphorylation does not take place and β -catenin is activated. The intracellular location of β -catenin changes upon APC mutation; it migrates to the nucleus, interacts with transcription factors, and induces the expression of genes that stimulate cell growth.

Mutations in the APC or β -catenin genes results in failure of proper adhesion-migration of cells and transcription of proliferating signal (Polakis 1997) (Korinek et al. 1997) and are sufficient to initiate the growth of a small benign tumour but are not sufficient to make such tumours progress to more advanced forms. Several other pathways participate in this progression. One of these pathways involves transforming growth factor β (TGF β), a small polypeptide hormone that negatively controls colon cell growth through regulation of transcription factors like SMAD4 (Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996). K-*ras* is an oncogene whose mutation is also thought to occur early in the adenomacarcinoma sequence. It encodes a protein involved in signal transduction within pathways critical for normal proliferation and differentiation. K-*ras* mutations occur in 35-42% of CRC and a similar proportion of large adenomas, but are less common in smaller adenomas, perhaps suggesting that K-*ras* mutation is not directly involved in initiating cancerous change but does facilitate subsequent growth.

The other pathway in CRC development is via the dysplasia- carcinoma sequence. In ulcerative colitis, patients have a 20 fold higher risk of developing CRC than normal individuals. It was found that most patients with ulcerative colitis have a mutation in the p53 gene resulting in dysplasia and carcinoma (Brentnall et al. 1994). The p53 gene is

found on chromosome 17p and either p53 mutation or 17p allelic loss or immunohistochemical evidence of p53 overexpression has been found in 4-26% of adenomas, 50% of invasive foci within adenomas and 50-75% of CRC. P53 is inactivated not only in CRC but also in most other cancer types. Activation of the normal p53 gene inhibits cell growth by blocking the cell cycle and by stimulating cellular suicide (apoptosis). Kinzler's group has discovered several of the genes that mediate these effects. The $p21^{Wafl}$ and $14-3-3\sigma$ genes control cell birth by regulating passage through various phases of the cell cycle. The *PUMA* gene is a powerful stimulator of apoptosis that is located in mitochondria and binds to homologous proteins, like BAX, that control cell death (Kinzler and Vogelstein 1996). Figure 1.3 demonstrates the key steps in the adenoma carcinoma sequence.



Figure 1.3 adenoma-carcinoma sequence

The final pathway involves mutations or hypermethylation of the MMR genes. (Kane et al. 1997) (Herman et al. 1998). This mutation results in microsatellite instability. Microsatellites are repetitive genetic loci which are relatively stable, when these loci become unstable as a result of insertion or deletion of repeated units, they become prone to form small loop in DNA strand during DNA replication. These are normally repaired, but in the absence or mutated form of MMR genes, these loops become permanent and alleles will be formed in the next round of replication which lead to loss of growth and apoptosis control. Furthermore the mutation of MMR genes results in the inhibition of TGF receptor on the colonic epithelial cells (Markowitz et al. 1995) and BAX gene (Rampino et al.) which leads to loss of growth and apoptosis control. This hypothesis is supported by the fact that this tumour suppressor gene is absent in 90% of CRC with microsatellite instability and 10% of sporadic CRC (Grady et al. 1997).

1.4 Telomeres and telomerase

1.4.1 The end replication problem

Replication of chromosomes poses a special problem for cells. Watson and Olovnikov independently hypothesised that DNA should be progressively lost from the ends of chromosomes each time the cell divides (Olovnikov 1996).

The reason is that the traditional DNA polymerase cannot fully replicate the 3' end of the lagging strand of a linear molecule (Figure 1.4).

DNA consists of two strands of nucleic acid subunits. The "direction" of a strand of DNA is determined by how these nucleic acid subunits are attached and the two strands run antiparallel to one another. This means that one strand runs 5'-3' while the complimentary strand runs 3'-5'. During replication the DNA helix seperates into two strands. DNA polymerase synthesises the complementary leading and lagging strands of new DNA that combine with the parent strands to form two daughter copies of the DNA. DNA polymerase can only make DNA in a 5'-3' direction and it needs RNA primers which attach to the DNA strand thus giving the DNA polymerase a place to start. Thus

the result is one strand that is synthesised as a continuous piece of DNA (leading strand) and another that is synthesized in small, discontinuous pieces (lagging strand). This leaves a gap at the 3' end of the lagging strand which cannot be replicated and results in the telomere becoming shorter, by ~50-200 base pairs (bp), with each successive cell division. This would mean the loss of the genetic material each time the cell divides and hence loss of function and eventually cell death. But this does not happen; the reason is the presence of telomeres.



Fig.1.4 End replication problem (www.uic.edu/.../ReplicationFork.gif)

1.4.2 Telomeres

Telomeres are the terminal ends of each chromosome and consist of repetitive tandems of the sequence TTAGGG (Fig 1.5). Telomeres do not carry any genetic information; they function as a "cap" that protects the DNA chromosome from loss, therefore preserving the genetic integrity of the chromosomes, preventing its degradation and end to end fusion.

The end of the telomere terminates with a single stranded 3' overhang of variable length. (Wright et al. 1997) (McElligott and Wellinger 1997) (Makarov et al. 1997). In addition to these repeated sequences, a number of proteins are attached to telomere DNA strands. These are telomeric repeat factors 1 (TRF1) and 2 (TRF2), which help to maintain the telomeric stability and regulate telomere length. They are known to specifically recognise the TTAGGG repeat sequence (Broccoli et al. 1997) (Bilaud et al. 1997). TRF1 regulates telomere length by inhibiting telomere elongation once telomeres reach a critical size by inhibiting the action of telomerase at the ends of individual telomeres (van Steensel and de Lange 1997). While TRF2 suppresses end to end fusion between chromosomes by maintaining the correct structure at telomere termini and hence serves to stabilize chromosome ends (van Steensel et al. 1998).

As a result of the end replication problem mentioned earlier, telomeric sequence of the lagging strand becomes shorter with each time the DNA replicates. Consistent with this hypothesis, telomere shortening was observed with progressive cell divisions *in vitro* and with increasing age *in vivo* (Harley et al. 1990) (Hastie et al. 1990) (Lindsey et al. 1991) (de Lange et al. 1990).

Telomere shortening occurs in different types of human tissues and organs including; dermal fibroblasts (Allsopp et al. 1995), mucosal keratinocytes (Kang et al. 2002), peripheral blood cells (Cawthon et al. 2003), gastrointestinal epithelial cells (Furugori et al. 2000), adrenocortical cells (Yang et al. 2001), renal cortex (Melk et al. 2000), liver

(Takubo et al. 2000) and spleen (Takubo et al. 2002). Most of these cells are mitotically active and hence indicate the effect of cell division on telomere length during ageing. Conversely it was also found that telomeres length is stable in tissues that do not have mitotic activity such as the heart and the brain tissues (Takubo et al. 2002). Telomeres shorten during each cell division by 5-200 bp. Telomere length in human is 5-

10 kbp and hence the proliferative capacity of primary human cells in tissue cultures is limited to 50-70 population doublings (Harley et al. 1990).

Telomeres shorten to a point where further division lead to cell senescence, this phase is known as phase 1 or M1 (Hara et al. 1991) (Wright et al. 1989). It is a process in which the cell is viable, but loses the ability to replicate; this phase can be bypassed by the mutation of certain tumour suppressor genes such as p53, p16 and rb genes. (Shay et al. 1991). Further shortening of the telomere length leads to the M2 crises phase. (Counter 1996) (Shay and Wright 1989), where further shortening leads to apoptosis and cell death. Rarely some cells manage to overcome these crises by the activation of the telomerase enzyme, in this case the cell becomes immortal or transforms into a cancerous cell.



Human telomeres

Fig. 1.5 Human telomere

1.4.3 Telomeres and ageing

While telomere shortening has been linked to the ageing process, it is not yet known whether shorter telomeres are just a sign of ageing or actually contribute to ageing. Richard Cawthon and colleagues found shorter telomeres are associated with shorter lives (Cawthon et al. 2003). Among 143 unrelated individuals older than 60, those with shorter telomeres were three times more likely to die from heart disease and eight times more likely to die from infectious diseases. Also Cawthon found that when people are divided into two groups based on telomere lengths, the group with longer telomeres live an average of five years more than those with shorter telomeres.

1.4.4 Telomerase

Telomerase is an RNA-dependant DNA polymerase that syntheses telomeric DNA sequences and almost universally provides the molecular basis for unlimited cellular proliferation. Telomerase is present in germline cells at a level which allows constant maintenance of the telomere length. It is absent in most normal somatic cells, but present in low levels in basal layer of the skin (Harle-Bachor and Boukamp 1996), peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PMNC) (Counter et al. 1995), activated lymphocytes (Weng et al. 1996) and intestinal crypts (Hiyama et al. 1996). The high turnover of these tissues implies the need for maintenance of telomere length to allow continues proliferation. Telomerase was first discovered in *Tetrahymena thermophila* in 1985 (Greider and Blackburn 1985). Telomerase consists of two components; one is the functional human telomerase RNA (hTR), which acts as a template for telomeric DNA synthesis (Feng et al. 1995). hTR is expressed in all tissues regardless of telomerase activity with cancer cells having a five-fold higher expression than normal cells (Kilian et al. 1997) (Lingner

et al. 1997). hTR is transcribed by RNA polymerase II and is processed at the 3' end to produce a mature transcripts of 451 nucleotides (Feng et al. 1995).

The second component of telomerase is the human telomerase reverse transcriptase molecule (hTERT), which is the catalytic subunit of telomerase (Yi et al. 1999), it is concomitantly associated with telomerase activation during cellular immortalization and carcinogenesis (Nakamura et al. 1997) (Meyerson et al. 1997) (Harrington et al. 1997). The mode of action of telomerase was first described by Greider and Blackburn (Greider and Blackburn 1989) who observed that telomerase recognizes the G-rich strand of an existing telomere repeat sequence and elongates it in the 5' to 3' direction by adding single stranded TTAGGG repeats to the end of the chromosome. The telomerase complex is a RNA-dependant enzyme that uses the 3' nucleotide overhang as a template for telomerase mediated elongation of the telomere (Zakian 1996). The 3' end of the template region of the hTR anneals to the 3' overhang of the telomeric DNA then adds one DNA nucleotide at a time until full telomeric subunit is formed (Miller and Collins 2002). When the subunit is complete, the enzyme slides to a new end and starts the same process again (Figure 1.6).



Figure 1.6 Telomerase structure (www.uic.edu/.../bios100/f05pm/telomerase.jpg)

1.5 Telomerase regulation

Telomerase regulation occurs at different levels including; hTERT transcription, hTERT splicing, epigenetic regulation and post-translational. Of all components of the telomerase complex hTERT plays the most important role in regulation.

1.5.1 Transcriptional regulation of hTERT

hTERT expression has been found to be up regulated in most precancerous lesions and human cancers studied including gastric (Jong et al. 1999), ovarian (Kyo et al. 1999), urinary bladder (Suzuki et al. 1999), cervical (Wisman et al. 2000) and skin (Wu et al. 1999) tumours, with expression being associated with telomerase activity (Weinrich et al. 1997). hTERT is encoded by hTERT gene located on the short arm of chromosome 5 (15p15.33) (Meyerson et al. 1997) (Bryce et al. 2000), it consists of 16 exons and 15 introns and extends over 40 kB (Cong et al. 1999) (Wick et al. 1999). Transient transfection experiments showed that hTERT promoter is inactive in normal cells but active in immortal cells (Bryce et al. 2000) (Takakura et al. 1999). This promoter was found to be GC rich and lacking the TATA box. The proximal part of this promoter is responsible for the majority of transcriptional activity. This promoter has multiple binding sites such as E boxes and SP1 binding sites; some factors are involved in the activation of hTERT promoter by binding to these binding sites. One of these factors is c-myc, which is an oncogene that promotes growth, proliferation and apoptosis

(Grandori et al. 2000). It has been shown that the c-myc gene induces hTERT expression and telomerase activity by binding to the E box on the promoter site (Wu et al. 1999). SP1 is another protein that has a role in the regulation of hTERT transcription where it binds to its binding site inducing hTERT expression (Kyo et al. 2000). Furthermore SP1

co-operates with c-myc to activate hTERT transcription. However these two factors are not enough to explain cancer specific telomerase activation since some tumours were found to have telomerase activity by up-regulation of hTERT transcription independent of c-myc and SP1 effect (Oh et al. 2001) (Gewin and Galloway 2001). Some hormones have also been found to have a role in the regulation of hTERT transcription, including the steroid sex hormones. It was found that sequence analysis of hTERT promoters revealed oestrogen response elements. This binding of oestrogen to these sites was shown to induce the transcription of hTERT expression (Kyo et al. 1999a) (Kyo et al. 1999b) (Misiti et al. 2000). Also it was found that hTERT expression can be induced indirectly by inducing c-myc expression in oestrogen receptor positive cells (Kyo et al. 1999b).

Progesterone has a complex role in hTERT transcription, it initially activates transcription by inducing hTERT promoters (Wang et al. 2000), and later exhibits a negative effect by inducing p21 expression, the over-expression of p21 leads to repression of hTERT expression in progesterone positive cells (Mitchell et al. 1999a) (Mitchell et al. 1999b) (Belair et al. 1997).

1.5.2 hTERT transcription repressors

Telomerase repressors may exist in normal cells, which contribute to the silencing of telomerase activity. It was found that transfer of certain human chromosomes into cancer cells results in the repression of hTERT expression and down regulation of telomerase activity; i.e. the transfer of chromosome 3 into renal cancer and breast cancer cell lines resulted in hTERT mRNA repression and shortening of telomere length (Oshimura and Barrett 1997).
Few telomerase repressors have been clearly identified to date, one of these repressors is however the myeloid specific zinc finger protein 2 (MZF-2). This protein has an inhibitory effect on hTERT transcription through binding to its sites on hTERT promoter. Another repressor is the Wilms' tumour 1 suppressor gene product (WT1). Its over-expression inhibits telomerase. However, WT1 gene is expressed in limited cell types such as the kidney spleen and gonads, which makes its potential role in hTERT regulation limited to these tissues.

P53 over-expression also has a role in hTERT regulation. It interacts with SP1 and prevents it from binding to hTERT promoter *in vitro* hence inhibits hTERT expression (Xu et al. 2000). It was found that over-expression of p53 in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma was associated with inhibition of telomerase activity (Kanaya et al. 2000) (Fuxe et al. 2000) (Henderson et al. 2000).

1.5.3 hTERT splicing

Variant splicing forms several transcripts which are detected in human body (Ulaner et al. 1998) (Ulaner et al. 2000). The function of these transcripts is still unknown and only the full-length transcripts function as the catalytic subunit of telomerase.

These transcripts include α transcript, which lacks a small region at the beginning of exons 6, β transcript which lacks exons 7 and 8, and α - β which lacks both areas.1.5.4

1.5.4 Epigenetic regulation of hTERT transcription.

DNA methylation is important for the development of mammals. Methylation of protooncogenes and tumour suppressor genes is associated with human cancer (Jones and Takai 2001). It has been shown that treatment with DNA methylation inhibitor 5-azacytidine induces hTERT transcription in two telomerase-negative cell lines (Devereux et al. 1999) (Dessain et al. 2000). Also the degree of methylation in the hTERT promoter and telomerase activity in B-cell lymphocytic leukaemia has been shown to be inversely correlated (Bechter et al. 2002).

Transcription is influenced by chromatin structure as well as post-transcriptional modification of histones, and has been implicated in the physiological control of chromatin structure (Stein and Schultz 2000). Histone acetylation is catalyzed by histone acetyl transferase (HAT) and deacetylase (HDAC). Several transcriptional factors such as Mad can repress transcription by recruiting HDAC to specific sites in certain promoters (Laherty et al. 1997) (Heinzel et al. 1997), also HDAC mediates transcriptional repression via the SP1 binding sites (Doetzlhofer et al. 1999).

1.5.5 Post-translational regulation of hTERT

Normal ovarian tissues and uterine leiomyoma cells have no telomerase activity despite the fact that both express hTR and hTERT mRNA (Ulaner et al. 2000). Also hTERT mRNA is present in T and B lymphocytes. This suggests that the expression of hTERT is not always sufficient to produce telomerase activity and that posttranslational modification of hTERT may play an important role in regulating telomerase activity. Data indicate that hTERT phosphorylation has a role in determining telomerase activity. It was found that PMNC telomerase activity is enhanced by protein kinase C (PKC) and the use of phosphatase 2A inhibits telomerase activity by inhibiting hTERT phosphorylation (Li et al. 1997). Also interesting data from Liu *et al* (Liu et al. 2001) showed that induction of telomerase activity during the activation of resting CD4 T cells was independent of hTERT protein increase. Instead, hTERT is phosphorylated and translocated from the cytoplasm to the nucleus, indicating that phosphorylation has an important role in the regulation of telomerase activity.

1.6 Telomerase and cancer

One of the most important differences between normal cells and tumour cells is that the former exhibit cellular senescence whereas tumour cells continue to proliferate indefinitely.

As mentioned earlier as the cell divides it reaches a stage where further cell division leads to critical shortening of telomere length, reaching the crisis phase (M2), at this point the cell either enters senescence or commences expression of telomerase and becomes a telomerase positive, immortal tumour cell. Telomerase maintains the telomere length allowing indefinite cell division and malignant transformation (Fossel 1998). It assures cancers cells immortality, which allows the accumulation of mutations required for cells to become malignant (Holt et al. 1996).

Although telomerase has an important role in tumourgenesis, it has been established that ectopic expression of telomerase in normal human fibroblasts is sufficient for their immortalization but is not associated with malignant transformation (Morales et al. 1999). This means that many cell types need hTERT plus other factors to produce immortality. It was found that inactivation of p53/p21 or pRb/p16 pathways play a role together with telomerase in tumourgenesis for some cell types, such as mammary epithelial cells and keratinocytes. hTERT have also been shown to collaborate with viral

oncoproteins, such as SV40LT (which inactivates p53 and pRb) or human papillomavirus 16 (HPV16) E6 and E7 proteins which inactivate pRb, to escape from senescence (Morales et al. 1999).

Most human cancers have shortened telomeres and express high levels of telomerase (Kim et al. 1994) (Shay et al. 1997). Owing to the strong association between telomerase and cancers, telomerase and its two components; hTR and hTERT have been the focus of intensive studies in many tumours as potential diagnostic markers or therapeutic markers. Researchers in the last decade have been trying to use different ways to measure telomerase tumour cells in both tissue and blood samples. Various studies have evaluated telomerase and its subunits as a tumour marker in CRC; Yan and colleagues (Yan et al. 1999) studied the correlation of telomerase activity and the expression of hTERT subunit in 25 adenocarcinoma tissue samples, 30 adenomas and 15 samples of normal mucosa. Telomerase activity and hTERT expression were measured using telomerase repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) assay and RT-PCR analysis, and it was found that hTERT mRNA was expressed in all cancer samples and, 12/13 telomerase-positive adenoma samples, but was never detected in the telomerase negative colorectal tissues. The authors concluded that hTERT expression correlates with telomerase activity. Another study used the same techniques to detect telomerase activity and hTERT mRNA in 140 cancer tissues, 140 normal adjacent mucosa and 20 adenomas. They found that the median value of hTERT expression and telomerase activity were higher in cancer tissues than adenomas and normal samples, and that hTERT expression significantly correlated with telomerase activity in cancer and adenoma samples (p=0.031, p=0.021) respectively (Niiyama et al. 2001).

Furthermore Gertler and colleagues assessed the correlation betwee hTERT mRNA and the disease histology by studying CRC samples from 57 patients utilizing real time RT-PCR. They found that the expression of hTERT in cancer samples and corresponding adjacent mucosa was higher in advanced disease (Gertler et al. 2002). Telomerase activity has been detected in different types of human cancers. In his review Shay *et al* has summarised data on telomerase activity in various types of human cancers (Shay and Bacchetti 1997).

1.7 Circulating Tumour Cells (CTC)

Treatment of solid tumours is still insufficient in a great majority of cases in part due to the development of metastases. Lymphatic and haematogenous pathways are the most important pathways for tumour spread. Even in localized diseases the relapse rate is still high, this suggests that undetected occult tumour cells and micrometastases in localized disease play a crucial role in the process of metastases.

Metastases are an important factor that regulates the prognosis and cancer outcome. In the process of metastases, tumour cells shed from the primary tumour, spread through the blood stream, bind to the vascular endothelium, spread into the extracellular space, escape the host defence mechanisms and finally form a secondary tumour. In 1869 Ashworth, reported in Ghossein (Ghossein and Bhattacharya 2000) was the first to describe CTC when he discovered cells in the blood stream similar to those in the tumour at post mortem. CTC are a potential cause of disease relapse particularly following surgery, therefore the presence or absence of CTC has been considered by some to be an important prognostic factor pre and/or post-operatively, and an indicator for the decision concerning adjuvant treatment and follow up (Hardingham et al. 1995).

However, this idea has been questioned as the majority of CTC shed from solid tumours do not survive in the blood and only approximately 1% live long enough to form distant metastases (Fidler 1970). Also, the reliability of using CTC has been debated from a methodological perspective because it has been reported that cells are only shed intermittently and often circulate in clumps, both factors can make accurate detection problematic (Ghossein et al. 1995).

1.8 CTC enrichment

As mentioned above one of the main limitations in the detection of CTC is that the number in the circulation can be very low. In order to solve this problem a variety of enrichment methods have been employed. Immunomagnetic separation has been one of the most widely-used methods. This technique has 3 main variations; MACS (magnetic affinity cell sorting) systems, magnetic beads and ferro fluid based system (Ring et al. 2004). The first two methods use specific antibodies linked to magnetic beads that bind tumour-expressed molecules and allow isolation by magnetism. There are different ways these reagents can be used, either for positive selection, where the antibodies interact directly with circulating epithelial cells and allow their separation, e.g. CEA 125 and Ber-EP4, or negative selection, where the beads remove all the *unwanted* cells from the mixture, leaving the desired cells in solution unmodified, e.g. CD45 beads with a pan-leucocyte marker can be used to remove white blood cells from any tumour cells of epithelial origin in blood. Figure 1.7 diagrammatically illustrates both positive and negative methods of isolation.

The third variation, the ferro fluid based system, is simply a modification of that described above and uses epithelial cell adhesion molecules, rather than antibodies,

coupled to colloids of 1nm ferro fluid, which can bind to cells and be magnetically separated (Racila et al. 1998).



Figure 1.7 Positive (A) and negative (B) isolation of desired cell populations

1.9 CTC in blood and CRC

The relatively poor overall survival rate of CRC strongly supports that dissemination of CTC is thought to be early in the disease process and emphasise the need of finding new tumour markers valuable in the early detection and as a marker of prognosis and response to treatment.

The introduction of early lymphovascular ligation before manipulation of the tumour in surgery (non touch isolation) was first introduced by Barnes (Barnes 1952) as a way to reduce the incidence of tumour cell dissemination and metastasis development. It was

found that non touch isolation reduces the dissemination of CTC. In the study done by Hayasha 18/27 CRCs samples had mutations for K-ras and p53. Blood samples were then collected of the portal vein before, during, and after manipulation of tumours. Eleven out of eighteen were operated on in a conventional resection technique and 7 were in the notouch isolation technique. In 8/11 (73%) conventional resection technique cases the same genetic alteration of the primary tumour in the portal blood during operation were identified, whereas only 1 patient (14%) in the no-touch isolation technique group had a positive result. (Hayashi et al. 1999). Other studies has reinforced Hayashi results (Weitz et al. 1998) (Sales et al. 1999) but only one study showed that surgical manipulation has no role in CTC dissemination at the time of surgery, where sixteen patients underwent resection for primary CRC and two patients with irresectable tumours were studied, reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to detect carcino embryonic antigen (CEA) in tumour biopsy specimens and blood samples obtained from the antecubital vein before and after surgery and from the main drainage vein of the tumour when the tumour had been excised; CEA was positive in all tissue samples. In two patients CEA was detected in antecubital vein blood before surgery and in one of them also after surgery. Only in one patient (Dukes C) CEA was detected from the main drainage vein of the tumour. (Garcia-Olmo et al. 1999).

The major obstacle of using blood samples to detect CTC was the presence of activated lymphocytes, which normally express high levels of telomerase, so in order to escape this problem different studies have used immunomagnetic separation techniques to separate CTC from activated lymphocytes. BerEP4 monoclonal antibody that recognizes an

epitope on the protein moiety of glycopeptides (34 and 39 kDa) expressed at the surface of epithelial cells in normal and malignant tissues (Latza et al. 1990).

Few studies have been done on colorectal and breast cancers. Loveday and colleagues did a study using BerEP4 antibody in immunomagnetic separation to separate tumour cells from pre and post-operative blood samples of 35 CRC patients, and tried to detect telomerase activity in CTC (Loveday et al. 2004).

Another study tried to detect telomerase activity in portal and peripheral blood samples of CRC patients, they found that telomerase activity was higher in portal than in peripheral blood samples, and that telomerase activity is more expressed in patients with liver metastasis, which suggests that the presence of telomerase activity in portal blood samples reflects the existence of liver metastasis of CRC (Nozawa et al. 2003). Another study used immunomagnetic separation and TRAP-ELISA to detect telomerase activity in circulating tumour cells and non small cell carcinoma of the lung, this study found that 73% patients with stage IIIB or IV non small cell carcinoma of the lung had telomerase activity and in 72% of stage C or D colon cancer detected telomerase activity (Gauthier et al. 2001). This study did not look at the prognostic value of telomerase in circulating tumour cells since it was only looking at telomerase activity in pre-operative samples.

Also telomerase activity has been detected in CTC of breast cancer patients, where one study showed that 84% of patients with metastatic breast cancer have positive telomerase activity in their blood samples (Soria et al. 1999).

1.10 Methods of CTC detection

Over the past twenty years numerous groups have attempted to detect CTC, both with and without enrichment, in patients with solid malignancies, and to establish their clinical significance using a wide range of different techniques. The two main analysis techniques that have been commonly used are: cytometry and nucleic acid based assays, both of which have advantages and disadvantages.

1.10.1 Cytometric methodology

In both flow and immunocytochemical techniques monoclonal antibodies against various epithelial specific antigens are used to detect, and often enumerate, the tumour cells. The monoclonal antibodies label the tumour cells that can be subsequently visualized (directly or indirectly) fluorescently or colorimetrically (Cote et al. 1999). Both technologies are robust and have been demonstrated to work in model *in vitro* systems. A diverse repertoire of antigens has been investigated; by far the most common of these being the intracellular cytokeratins (CK). It is generally accepted that the detection limit for cytometric methodology is 1 specific tumour cell amongst 1,000,000 irrelevant cells when one or more different monoclonal antibodies against CKs have been used (Racila et al. 1998) (Pantel et al. 1993). However, there are two main disadvantages of using cytometric techniques; first, the sensitivity to detect micrometastases by these techniques has been questioned due to the limited amount of screened cells and secondly the lack of methodological standardization. Together these problems are thought to be the reason for many discrepancies in the immunocytochemical data from different studies (Braun and Pantel 1999) (Muller and Schlimok 2000), with false positive rates ranging from below 1% to over 80% having been reported.

1.10.2 Nucleic acid based methodology

This method relies heavily on the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the detection and molecular characterization of CTC. The use of nucleic acid based methodology gives at least a ten-fold improvement in the sensitivity of detecting CTC allowing the identification of 1 cell in a background of 10,000,000 unwanted cells (Pelkey et al. 1996)⁻ (Castells et al. 1998). Both DNA and RNA molecular markers have been used for the detection of CTC and these will be discussed individually. The major disadvantage of circulating DNA material is that it can be released by dying tumour cells and remains in the circulation because of its relatively high stability in comparison to RNA. Therefore, the presence of DNA markers does not necessarily indicate the presence of viable CTC but is indicative of a tumour burden (Zehentner 2002).

1.10.3 DNA markers

Genomic mutations in K-ras or p53, two of the commonest genetic abnormalities in CRC, have been reported to be useful for the detection of tumour cells circulating in the lymphatics of colorectal and non-small cell carcinoma of the lung (Hayashi et al. 1995) (Hashimoto et al. 2000). A recent study done by Hsieh and colleagues (Hsieh et al. 2005) tried to identify the prognostic values of K-ras, p53 and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene mutations in tumours and sera of 118 CRC patients using polymerase chain reaction-single strand conformation polymorphism (PCR-SSCP) analysis, followed by direct DNA sequencing of the amplified genomic DNA. Subsequently, serum molecular markers were correlated to the patients' clinicopathological features and risk of metastases and recurrence. This study showed that both serum APC and p53 presence closely correlated with lymph node metastasis and TNM stage (both P < 0.05).

Moreover, the presence of one or more serum markers was associated with depth of tumour invasion (P = 0.03), lymph node metastasis (P < 0.001), and TNM stage (P < 0.001). In addition, postoperative metastasis and recurrence rates were higher in patients positive for one or more serum markers, compared with those patients who were negative for all three (P < 0.001). APC and K-ras markers were more frequently observed in patients with metastasis (both P < 0.05), while p53 was commonly detected in the cases of peritoneal metastasis (P = 0.004). These recent findings, from a relatively large patient cohort, suggest that serum molecular markers are potentially useful markers for CRC prognosis.

Also, Hibi *et al* (Hibi et al. 1998) characterised the genetic alterations in serum DNA obtained from 44 CRC patients using an oligonucleotide-mediated mismatch ligation assay. Among the 16 cases with K-ras gene mutations in these tumours, the same mutation was detected in three paired serum samples simultaneously. In the 10 tumours with a p53 mutation an identical mutation was detected in DNA from serum samples of seven. Comparison of the molecular analysis with clinical diagnosis of these patients revealed that five of these seven patients had early stage tumours (P = 0.01). Taken in combination, either a K-ras or p53 mutation was detected in serum from 40% of the patients (n=10) whose primary tumours contained a mutation, and in 23% of all the 44 patients with CRC. It was concluded that the frequent detection of p53 mutation in the serum of patients with early stage tumours suggests a possible use as a marker for CRC monitoring; however the relatively small cohort size requires further confirmatory work. Hardingham and colleagues also studied K-ras mutation and found that the presence of mutations on codon 12 of K-ras in CTC was predictive of decreased free survival and

increased the risk of relapse (Hardingham et al. 1995). The study investigated the presence of tumour cells in perioperative peripheral blood samples in a cohort of twenty-seven patients. Immunomagnetic beads, labelled with Ber- EP4, were used to harvest epithelial cells from blood and K-ras mutations were identified by PCR. Circulating K-ras mutant cells were detected in 9 of 27 patients; seven of whom died as a result of recurrent or metastatic disease after a median of 14 months, whereas mutant cells were not detected in 18 patients, and 16 of 18 remained disease free after a median follow-up of 16 months. This study indicates that detection of circulating tumour cells perioperatively by immunobead-PCR can provide a sensitive prognostic marker for recurrent and metastatic CRC. Additional, well-controlled, studies of this type are urgently needed to verify these encouraging findings.

1.10.4 RNA markers

The fact that the presence of circulating DNA cannot be used to definitely confirm the presence of viable cancer cells because of its relatively high stability, researchers have turned to mRNA as it has a shorter half-life once released from tumour cells (Zehentner 2002). The most common hypothesis for the presence of circulating mRNA is from cell lysis of circulating tumour cells, micrometastases shed by the tumour, the induction of tumour necrosis, apoptosis and active release (Anker et al. 1999).

Initially there was a concern that mRNA would be too labile however, it was successfully detected in various malignancies. Kopreski *et al* was the first to detect tyrosinase mRNA in the plasma of malignant melanoma patients using reverse transcriptase –PCR (RT-PCR) (Kopreski et al. 1999). Subsequently mRNA of various genes has been widely used to detect CTC in different types of solid tumours. Table 1.8 shows all the studies on

tumours of gastrointestinal tract to date and compares these with the studies on breast cancer; the single most studied tumour type.

		BREAST		
mRNA marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
Maspin	30	Nested RT-PCR	38% in post CT samples	(Sabbatini et al. 2000)
PTHRP	30	RT-PCR	30%	(Wulf et al. 1997)
MUC-1	122	RT-PCR & southern blot	11% primary cancer	(de Cremoux et al. 2000)
			24% In mets	
hTERT	18	RT-PCR	25%	(Chen et al. 2000)
B-HCG	119	RT-PCR & southern blot	8%	(Hoon et al. 1996)
hMAM	114	Nested RT-PCR	25%	(Zach et al. 1999)
hMAM	78	Nested RT-PCR	24%	(Silva, A. L. et al. 2002)
hMAM	98	Real time-PCR	11%	(Suchy et al. 2000)
hMAM	60	Nested RT-PCR	9% with no mets	(Bossolasco et al. 2002)
			24% with mets	
hMAM	33	RT-PCR	54%	(Lin et al. 2003)
HER2/neu	17	Semi nested RT-PCR	59%	(Wasserman et al. 1999)
MAG	16	RT-PCR & ECL	25%	(Miyashiro et al. 2001)
CK19	60	Nested RT-PCR	13% in primary cancer	(Slade et al. 1999)
			54% in mets	
CK19	78	RT-PCR	25%	(Schoenfeld et al. 1997)

Table 1.8: mRNA markers of breast and gastrointestinal tumours

For abbreviations see page 42

		BREAST (continue)		
mRNA marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
CK19	53	Nested RT-PCR	43% before CT	(Manhani et al. 2001)
			14% after CT	-
CK19	34	Nested RT-PCR	21%	(Datta et al. 1994)
CK19	109	Nested RT-PCR	30% with no node disease	(Kahn et al. 2000)
			36% with node disease	
			71% with mets	
CK19		Real time-PCR	30% with no mets	(Aerts et al. 2001)
			> 70% with mets	
CK19	148	Nested RT-PCR	30% with no mets	(Stathopoulou et al. 2002)
			52% with mets	
CK10	161		27% after CT	(Xenidis et al. 2003)
01(10		Nested RT POR		(Stathopoulou et al. 2003)
CK19	47 with moto	Nested RT-PCR	31% in early before C1	
	47 with mets		1% in early before CT	
			20% with mets after CT	
01/40			700/	(Lopez-Guerrero et al. 1999)
CK19		RT-PCR	70%	
Macain			03%	
		27.202	2278	(Silva et al. 2001)
CK19	45	RT-PCR	49%	
hMAM			60%	(Taback et al. 2001)
B-HCG	65	Nested RT-PCR	2% for 4 markers	
C-MET			3% for 3 markers	
Mag-A3			15% for 2 markers	
alpha 4 Gnt			49% for 1 marker	(Luppi et al. 1996)
Maspin	29	Nested RT-PCR	20% with mets	
hMAM	133 invasive	Nested RT-PCR	8%	(Grunewald et al. 2000)
CK19	cancer		48%	
EGFR			10%	
CK19	20	Nested RT-PCR &	90%	(Gradilone et al. 2003)
EGFR		southern blot	5%	
CK20			0%	
CK19	72	RT-PCR	10%	(Hu and Chow 2001)
CK20			3%	
B-HCG			13%	

	O	ESOPHAGEAL & OROPHARYNGE	EAL	
mRNA marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
CEA & CK20	28	Real time-PCR	CEA 25%	(Ito et al. 2004)
			CK20 105	
SCCA	70	RT-PCR	33%	(Kaganoi et al. 2004)
CEA	54	RT-PCR	57%	(Nakashima et al. 2003)
CK19	40 NPC	Nested RT-PCR	25% early stage	(Lin et al. 2000)
			40% advanced stage	
			75% distant mets	
		GASTRIC		
mRNA marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
CK19, CK20	52	RT-PCR	10%	(Majima et al. 2000)
CK20	47	RT-PCR	43%	(Zhang et al. 2003)
CK19	64	MAH		(Wu et al. 2006)
hTERT				
CEA				
MUC1				
c-MET	52	RT-PCR	62%	(Uen et al. 2006)
MUC1			71%	
alpha 4 Gnt	37		62%	(Shimizu et al. 2003)
				(Ikeguchi and Kaibara
CEA	59	Real time -PCR	46%	2005)
CEA	57	RT-PCR	37%	(Miyazono et al. 2001)
CEA	46	RT-PCR	can identify risk of recurrence	(Seo et al. 2005)
CK20	70	RT-PCR	40%	(Illert et al. 2005)
CEA	36	RT-PCR	22%	(Nishida et al. 2000)
СК	34	RT-PCR	21%	(Yeh et al. 1998)

		LIVER		
mRNA marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
AFP	38	Real time-PCR	24%	(Morimoto et al. 2005)
AFP & MAG-1	65	Nested RT-PCR	42% for MAG-1	(Yang et al. 2005)
			54% for AFP	
IGF-II	111	RT-PCR	34%	(Dong et al. 2005)
AFP	50	RT-PCR	40%	(Cillo et al. 2004)
AFP	93	RT-PCR	53%	(Liu et al. 1998)
AFP	30	RT-PCR	95%	(Jiang et al. 1997)
ALB	62	RT-PCR	63%	(Muller et al. 1997)
AFP	64	RT-PCR	36%	(Komeda et al. 1995)
				(Matsumura et al.
AFP	33	RT-PCR	52%	1994)
ALB	27	RT-PCR	43%	(Hillaire et al. 1994)
		BILIARY & PANCREAS		
marker	Cohort size	Method	Positive results	Ref
alpha 4 Gnt	55	Quantitative RT-PCR	76%	(Ishizone et al. 2006)
CEA	67	RT-PCR	48%	(Uchikura et al. 2002)
CEA	40	Nested RT-PCR	42% in bile duct cancer 62% in pancreatic cancer	(Miyazono et al. 1999)

RT-PCR, Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction; ECL,

Electrochemiluminescence; PTHrP, Parathyroid hormone related protein; hMAM, Human mamoglobulin; HER2/neu, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; hTERT, Human telomerase reverse transcriptase; B-HCG, Beta-subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin; MUC-1, Membrane associated mucin 1; MAG-A3, Melanoma associated antigen; Alpha 4 Gnt, alpha 1,4 N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase; SCCA, Squamous cell carcinoma antigen; NPC, Nasopharyngeal cancer; CK, Cytokeratins; CEA, Carcino embryonic antigen; MAH, Membrane array hybridization; C-MET, Hepatocyte growth factor receptor; Mets, Metastases; AFP, Alpha-fetoprotein; MAG-1, Malignant antigen; IGF-II; Insulin like growth factor; ALB, Albumin.

RT-PCR has been used to detect disseminated tumour cells in the peripheral blood, bone marrow, and peritoneal lavage of CRC patients by detecting the mRNA of various tumour and epithelial markers, and prognostic value has been reported (Schott et al. 1998). As said previously this technique has the ability to detect at best 1 cancer cell in 10,000,000 unwanted cells (Castells et al. 1998) (Mori et al. 1996) (Nakamori et al.

1997). Despite its wide use in detecting cancer cells RT-PCR has the disadvantage of not being able to quantify marker expression, it simply gives negative/positive discrimination. This has led researchers to use real time PCR, which allows the quantification of low level background transcription and the definition of cut off values for marker expression, hence improving sensitivity (Bustin et al. 1999) (Straub et al. 2001). Although an extremely powerful and reliable technique any PCR-based technique still has the disadvantage of potentially being over-sensitive, in that it can detect minimal amounts of mRNA expression in a non tissue specific manner (illegitimate transcription) meaning the technique is usually highly sensitive but insufficiently specific (Solmi et al. 2004).

The most commonly used RT-PCR targets in CRC studies are human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT), cytokeratins (CK), carcino-embryonic antigen (CEA), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), as well as a number of rare markers such as Dipeptidase I (DPEP I) Apolipoprotein AI (Apo-A1). The merits and limitations of each of these markers will be considered in turn.

1.10.5 hTERT mRNA

hTERT expression is associated with telomerase activation during cellular immortalisation and carcinogenesis as discussed in section 1.4.4. Its expression has been detected in serum samples from 70/78 patients (90%) with hepatocellular carcinoma (Miura, N. et al. 2003) and in four serum samples out of 16 patients (25%) with breast cancer (Chen et al. 2000) using RT-PCR.

hTERT expression was also detected intracellularly in the peripheral blood of 18/65 (46%) patients with gastric cancer using red blood cell (RBC) lysis followed by RT-PCR

(Shin et al. 2002), and detected in 29/55 (53%) patients with hepatocellular carcinoma using immunomagnetic separation technique to isolate CTC followed by RT-PCR (Waguri et al. 2003).

hTERT mRNA has been detected in the plasma samples of CRC patients (Lledo et al. 2004). Peripheral blood samples of 50 patients were collected pre operatively and real time PCR was used to detect the expression of hTERT, it was found that 82% of CRC patients had hTERT mRNA expression values higher than the maximum values of normal control and the sensitivity and the specificity of the assay were 98% and 64% respectively. The authors concluded however that, "hTERT expression did not correlate with the disease stage nor with the serum levels of CEA". The fact that plasma samples alone were used in this study, without an attempt to first isolate tumour cells by means of immunomagnetic separation, could explain the high level of detection of hTERT expression, as transcription of telomerase from non-tumour sources such as activated lymphocytes would have been possible.

1.10.6 CK

CK are intermediate filament keratins found in epithelial tissue. There are two main types: the acidic type I CKs and the basic or neutral type II CKs. These molecules are expressed by all epithelial cells and are part of the cell architecture; the most commonly used CKs for detection of CTC are CK19 and CK20 which are expressed in the gastrointestinal epithelium, urothelium, merkel cells and tumours derived from these tissues (Weitz et al. 1999).

Various studies have managed successfully to detect CK markers intracellularly and extracellularly. Vlems evaluated the use of CK 20 intracellularly in CRC patients using

RT-PCR on mononuclear cells collected from the peripheral blood and bone marrow and found that it was expressed in 9/30 blood and in 9/19 bone marrow samples (Vlems et al. 2002); but was also found to be expressed in 10/47 of healthy, non cancer individuals. This study has been corroborated by a number of other studies (Bustin et al. 1999) (Champelovier et al. 1999). A recent study done by Guo and co-workers (Guo et al. 2005) detected CK20 mRNA intracellularly in 72.5-82.5% in CTC of 40 CRC patients using a combination of positive and negative immunomagnetic isolation and real time PCR. They demonstrated that CK20 mRNA presence in CTC correlates significantly with the tumour size and lymphatic and hepatic invasion, but not the grade of differentiation. A study by Wong and colleagues, (Wong et al. 2001) evaluated the use of CK19 expression in a cohort of 33 CRC patients and 26 normal controls, by separating PBMC containing any CTC and extracting RNA from the cells in a one step method. A standard curve was made using different concentrations of PBMC spiked with the SK-BR-3 cell line followed by a semi-quantitative RT- PCR and Southern blot analysis. This study found that CK19 was expressed in 64% of CRC patients and 19% of controls and that the upper limit of CK mRNA among controls was exceeded by 14 patients, 12 of which (86%) developed metastases or recurrence. It was concluded that CK19 expression correlates with disease stage and CEA serum levels. Other studies have explained the expression of CK19 in healthy, non cancer, patients by the fact that blood samples might have been contaminated by epidermal cells during venepuncture leading to the illegitimate transcription of CK19 in the epidermal cells (Dingemans et al. 1997) (Castells et al. 1998) (Krismann et al. 1995), such technical difficulties are hard to overcome.

Some studies have used both CK19 and CK20 expression in an attempt to increase the specificity of the prognostic markers. Hardingham and colleagues (Hardingham et al. 2000) used both markers to detect CTC from blood samples of 94 CRC patients and 64 patients with adenomas and inflammatory bowel disease, using immunomagnetic separation and RT-PCR. They found that 20% of CRC patients had CK19 and CK20 expressed in CTC, whereas 10% of patients with benign adenoma had CTC expressing CK19 and CK20 and only 2% of patients with benign inflammatory bowel disease were positive. It was concluded that the presence of CK19/CK20 positive CTC was associated with a reduction in the disease free survival period.

Another study investigated the prognostic value of CK in CRC using a MACS system, followed by immunocytochemistry, to detect CTC expressing CK in the bone marrow. Of the 51 patients with CRC, 65% showed positive expression of CK and the presence of these cells correlated significantly with tumour stage, tumour extension and the clinically used tumour marker CA 19-9 (Weihrauch et al. 2002). Conversely, in a small study of patients with CRC (n=12) Gradilone and colleagues (Gradilone et al. 2003), using RT-PCR and Southern blot analysis for CK19 and CK20 in peripheral blood, claimed that both markers had no prognostic value after a follow up of 40 months. It is difficult to explain such discrepancies, although the small size of the study cohorts is likely to be very influential, which are exemplified by many other studies. See Table 1.9 for a summary of all the work which has investigated the prognostic value of CK in CRC patients. The main limitation of using CK as a tumour marker, despite some encouraging results, is the fact that normal controls commonly give positive results, and so this has encouraged researchers to look for better markers.

Cohort Size	Marker	Sample	Method	Positive results	Correlation	Ref.
30	CK20	PBMC	RT-PCR	9/30 in blood	No	(Vlems et al. 2002)
33	CK19	PBMC	Semiquantitive RT- PCR	64%	Yes	(Wong et al. 2001)
58	CK20	PBMC	& Southern blot RT-PCR	78% in BM 74% in portal vein	Yes	(Miura, M. et al. 2003)
40	CK20	PBMC	IMS & real time PCR	73%-83%	Yes	(Guo et al. 2005)
21 Controls	CK19+ ck20	PBMC	RT-PCR	30% CK19	GCC a good marker CK not a	(Bustin et al. 1999)
	& GCC			100% ck20 80% GCC	good marker	
94 CRC					Yes	(Hardingham et al. 2000)
Benign	CK19+CK20	Whole blood	IMS+RT-PCR	20% in CRC 10% in adenoma 12% in IBD		
26	CK8+CK19 CK20	Whole blood	IMS+ nested RT-PCR	12/23 patients	No	(Silva, J. M. et al. 2002)
100	CK20	Whole blood	RBC lysis + RT-PCR	34/100 16 with no mets	Yes	(Guller et al. 2002)
53	CK19	Plasma	Nested RT-PCR	74%	Yes	(Hampton et al. 2002)
129 CRC 58	CK20	Serum	Real time PCR	88% CRC	No	(Wharton et al. 1999)
Controls				84% controls		
12 CRC 35	CK19+CK20	Serum	RT-PCR + southern	75% CK19	No	(Gradilone et al. 2003)
Controls			blot	8% ck20		

Table 1.9: CK as a marker in the peripheral blood of CRC patients

CK, Cytokeratins; PBMC, Peripheral mononuclear cells; BM, bone marrow: IMS, Immunomagnetic separation; RT-PCR, reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction; IC, intracellular; EC, extracellular; RBC, red blood cells.

1.10.7 CEA

CEA is a glycoprotein involved in cell adhesion. It was first identified in 1965 in human colon cancer tissue extracts, and it was later found that serum from individuals with CRC and other carcinomas had raised levels of CEA compared with healthy individuals. CEA and related genes make up the CEA family which belong to the immunoglobulin superfamily. In humans there are 29 genes, 18 of which are normally expressed by columnar epithelial cells and goblet cells of the colon, mucous neck cells and pyloric mucous cells of the stomach, as well as various specialised squamous and secretory epithelium (Hammarstrom 1999).

Because of the observed over-expression of CEA protein in CRC, the mRNA has been used as a marker to detect CTC (Berinstein 2002). In summary, most available data on CRC indicates that the presence of CTC detected by CEA mRNA correlates with the presence of distant metastases (Jonas et al. 1996) and hence, as expected, associated with poor prognosis (Mori et al. 1998). However CEA mRNA was also detected in patients with inflammatory disease and in normal controls reducing its specificity as a tumour marker per sé in CRC. A recent study (Douard et al. 2005) developed a new multiplex RT-PCR assay for CTC detection based on the expression of carcinoembryonic antigenrelated cell adhesion molecule 5 (CEACAM5; formerly CEA) and CEACAM7 (formerly CGM2) in 84 CRC patients, 32 non-CRC patients and 41 healthy individuals. Positive immunomagnetic separation was applied to blood samples before RT-PCR. RT-PCR assay was negative for all the 41 healthy individuals and the 32 non-CRC patients. The test was positive in 53/84 (63%) of the CRC patients for CEACAM5 and/or CEACAM7, and 32/84 (38%) were positive for both markers. When the CRC patients were subdivided in terms of stage, it was seen that 80% of stage III-IV cases (36/45) were positive

for one of the two markers, in contrast only to 44% of cases (17/39) for the early stage (I-II) patients. Further larger studies using a similar methodology, perhaps including additional markers, are eagerly awaited. A full list of all the studies to date that have investigated CEA mRNA, in CRC is shown in Table 1.10 In a very recent study Lloyd and her co-workers utilized multiple markers including CEA and CK20 to detect CTC in peripheral blood and peritoneal lavage using immuno-bead RT-PCR. They reported that the presence of CTC in the peritoneal lavage, post bowel manipulation, correlated significantly with disease prognosis (P = 0.002), and suggested that lavage sampling is a more appropriate medium in which to detect CTC than peripheral blood (Lloyd et al. 2006).

				Correlate with Disease's	
Cohort Size	Sample	Method	Positive results	stage	Ref.
					(Miura, M.
26	DRMC	Pool time BCB	Moro in Duko'a D	Voo	et al.
	FDIVIC	Redi lille FCR		165	(Silva J
					M. et al.
53	Plasma	Nested RT-PCR	32%	Yes	2002)
39	PBMC	Real time PCR	6/39 in pre-op samples 10/39 in post-op samples		(Guller et al. 2002)
					(Castells
95 CRC	whole blood	RT-PCR	41% in CRC	Vos	et al.
	whole blood			103	1000)
9 160			55.0% III IBD		(Hampton
					et al.
32	whole blood	Real time PCR	16%	No	2002)
					(Guadagni
51 CRC	PBMC	Nested RT-PCR	67% in CRC	Yes	2001)
	_		Negative in benign		/
8 benign polyps			polyps		
					(vvnarton
100	whole blood	RBC lysis + RT-PCR	48%		1999)
					(Schuster
120 CPC	Diagma	Pool time BCB	960/ in CBC		et al.
129 CKC	FidSilla	Redi tille FCR			2004)
58 controls			83.7% in controls		(Wong of
33 CRC	PBMC	Semiguantitive RT-	88% in CRC		al. 2001)
26 controls		PCR & southern blot	92% controls		,
20 00111010			02/0 00111010		(Noh et al.
19	PBMC	RT-PCR	21.1% in pre-op samples	No	2001)
			52.6% on follow up		
84 CRC	PBMC	IMS + RT-PCR for CEACAM5 + CEACAM7	CEACAM5 53/84		(5 -
					(Douard et al
32 BENIGN			CEACAM7 32/84		2005)
41controls					,

Table 1.10: Carcinoembryonic antigen as a molecular marker in CRC

CRC, Colorectal cancer; IBD, inflammatory bowel disease; PBMC, Peripheral mononuclear cells; RT-PCR, Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction; CEACAM, carcinoembryonic antigen related cell adhesion molecule.

1.10.8 Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)

EGFR are receptors for the epidermal growth factor which plays an important role in the regulation of cell growth and proliferation. The binding of EGF to its receptor causes activation of the intrinsic protein kinase activity that in turn stimulates DNA synthesis and cell proliferation (Carpenter and Cohen 1990). Mutation involving EGFR can lead to its constant activation and result in the uncontrolled cell proliferation; a hallmark of cancer (Lynch et al. 2004). As a tumour marker EGFR has the advantage of being expressed in a wide range of epithelial tumours (Khazaie et al. 1993), being rarely expressed by haemopoietic cells (Hildebrandt et al. 1997) and a number of high specificity antibodies are available, as these are being tested as potential targeted therapies (Baselga and Mendelsohn 1994) (Naruse et al. 2002).

EGFR is over-expressed in 50-70% of primary colon, breast and lung cancer tissue samples (Salomon et al. 1995). EGFR has been detected in CTC in 22% of metastatic breast cancer patients (n=37), but not in localised disease or normal controls (Leitzel et al. 1998), and was found to be expressed in CTC in 74% of blood samples of bladder cancer patients (n=27, n=16 respectively), but not in healthy controls (Gazzaniga et al. 2001a) (Gazzaniga et al. 2001b)

EGFR expression has been found to be positive in 12.5%, 30%, 18% (n=16, n=10, n=11) of advanced CRC, non small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer respectively (Clarke et al. 2003). In this study blood samples were collected from patients with advanced stage cancers and samples were mixed with red blood cell lysis buffer and then tumour markers were detected using real time PCR. The integrity of the RNA was

confirmed using human beta2 microglobulin primers. In a similar study De Luca (De Luca et al. 2000) examined the expression of EGFR in 91 patients with colon, breast and lung cancer. They isolated CTC mixing peripheral blood sample with 5% (w/v) dextran saline and then EGFR was detected using reverse transcriptase and Southern blotting. EGFR was expressed in 17/30 (57%) of stage IV lung cancer, 11/23 (48%) of stage IV breast cancer and in 16/38 (59%) of Duke's D colon cancer, it was found that 10.5% of healthy controls had a positive expression of EGFR as a result of illegitimate transcription of EGFR in leucocytes. Also in this study EGFR sensitivity and specificity were compared with CEA and CK 19 mRNA; it was found that 5/11 (45%) and 3/11 (27%) of patients expressed CEA mRNA and CK mRNA respectively and that 20% and 10% of normal controls expressed CEA mRNA and CK mRNA respectively. The above studies have suggested that EGFR has a role in tumourigenesis, however, like that of hTERT, it is detected in the blood sample of patients with advanced disease and it could result in some false positive results, as a result of the illegitimate transcription.

1.10.9 Dipeptidase I (DPEP I)

DPEP I is a zinc dependent metallopeptidase that hydrolyses a variety of dipeptides and is involved in glutathione metabolism (Kozak and Tate 1982). DPEP I was identified as a tumour suppressor gene as a result of its decreased expression in Wilm's tumour (Austruy et al. 1993), however, its exact role is still unknown. One idea is that the enzyme is involved in the degradation of the extracellular matrix component that would facilitate the migration of tumour cells (McIver et al. 2004).

Using immunomagnetic isolation CTC were separated and real time PCR for DPEP I showed that the molecules was over expressed by ≥ 2 fold in colon tumours, compared

with normal adjacent mucosa in 82% of patients, also it was detected in peritoneal lavage and blood samples of 15/38 (39%) patients with resectable CRC, but was absent in blood samples of healthy controls (McIver et al. 2004). This study demonstrated some encouraging results showing that DPEP I was detectable in cancer patients, but not in normal controls. Because the study was a small scale pilot, it needs to be reassessed with a larger group of patients; as this remains the only study to utilize DPEP I as a tumour marker. Its applicability to other tumours also needs to be assessed.

1.10.10 Apolipoprotein AI (Apo-A1)

Apolipoprotein AI is the major protein moiety of high density lipoprotein (HDL); it is mainly produced in the liver and the intestines (Brewer et al. 1978), but is also produced *in vitro* by some differentiated cell lines established from human colorectal tumours (Reisher et al. 1993).

Normanno and colleagues (Normanno et al. 1998) attempted to detect disseminated tumour cells in peripheral blood in 20 CRC patients using Apo-A1 mRNA. Blood samples were collected pre- and immediately post-operatively and CTC were isolated by mixing the blood sample with 5% (w/v) dextran. RNA was extracted and then northern blot and RT-PCR were used to detect expression of APO- A1m RNA. No normal controls or patients with resected cancer were found to have APO-A1 expressed in peripheral blood, but two out of 10 patients with metastatic disease were positive. Despite the small numbers this study suggests that their RT-PCR technique is highly sensitive and specific, since they could detect up to 10 tumour cells in 5 ml of peripheral blood (one tumour cell in a background of 2.5×10^6).

1.11 Telomerase and cancer Immunology

1.11.1 The role of Cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL)

In the last few decades efforts have been made to understand the role of immune surveillance mechanisms against cancer cells in order to develop effective anti tumour immunotherapy.

The immune response against cancer cells is a complex one and involves the interaction of different cells and their products. However CTL play the major role in cancer immunity (Greenberg 1991) (Robins 1986). CTL are CD8⁺ and therefore are class I Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) restricted in terms of cytotoxicity. MHCI molecules are glycoproteins expressed on the surface of all nucleated cells; in human there are 3 principal forms of MHCI: HLA-A, HLA-B and HLA-C, these molecules are involved in antigen presentation to CTL. Antigen peptides bind to the α -chain of the MHC molecule to form a stable MHC-peptide complex which exits the rough endoplasmic reticulum (RER) to the surface of the Antigen Presenting Cell (APC) via Golgi apparatus which is then recognized by CD8⁺ cells. Once CTL are activated they perform their cytolytic activity by releasing perforin and proteases. Perforin forms pores in the tumour cell membrane through which proteases enter the tumour cell stimulate apoptosis, and fragment the tumour DNA (Atkinson and Bleackley 1995).

An alternative way by which CTL respond against tumour cells is the Fas-FasL interaction. FasL is part of the tumour necrosis factor receptor family (TNF) that binds to Fas on the membrane of tumour cells inducing cell death (Ishiwatari-Hayasaka et al. 1997). Some CTL also have Fas on their cell membranes which means potential self destruction of CTL as a tumour escape mechanism (O'Connell et al. 1996), also this interaction has been "accused" of facilitating local tumour invasion by inducing apoptosis of hepatocytes adjacent to tumour margins (Yoong et al. 1999).

1.11.2 Telomerase and tumour associated antigens (TAA)

TAA are proteins aberrantly and overly expressed by tumour cells. TAA can be classified into humoral and cellular (CD4⁺ and CD8⁺) responses according to the type of immune response they elicit. Many clinical studies have tried to identify one or more TAA that could have a role in future cancer immunotherapy but unfortunately most of those TAA described to date are restricted in expression to a few tumour types, therefore the concept of "epitope deduction" was used, in which some gene products with selective tumour expression were deducted and then scanned for peptides that match MHC binding motifs (Schultze and Vonderheide 2001) (Vonderheide 2002), the above description was used in order to identify a universal TAA which desirably should possess the following features:

- 1) Expressed by most human tumours but absent or rare in normal tissue.
- 2) Plays a universal role in tumourgenesis.
- 3) Includes peptide sequences that bind to MHC molecules.
- 4) Be recognized by the T cell repertoire in an MHC restricted manner.
- 5) Has the potential to be a major factor in future cancer immunotherapy.

Telomerase and its catalytic subunit have been proposed as a universal tumour antigen since it has all of the above features. Vonderheide and colleagues described the first immunogenic peptides from hTERT. This peptide designated as -I540 (ILAKFLHWL) - was found within the middle of the deduced amino acid sequence of hTERT, roughly 70 amino acids to the amino terminus of the first reverse transcriptase motif. This peptide binds to CTL in a MHC class I (HLA-A2) restricted fashion (Vonderheide et al. 1999), and demonstrated that CTL were induced in 70% of individuals specific to I540 epitope *in vitro*. These CTL lines killed a wide range of tumour cell line and primary tumours in a peptide-specific MHC-restricted fashion.

Using the same method Meniv *et al.* managed to identify another hTERT epitope -P865-(RLVDFLLV). In their experiments PMNC from prostate cancer patients and normal individuals were used. Positive HLA-A2 samples were pulsed with P540 and P 865 hTERT peptides and their result showed that 9/10 blood samples from donors developed CTL activity for P540 with 7 having activity for P865 after *in vitro* immunization. Furthermore CTL had lytic activity in 3 out of 4 patients with prostate cancer, moreover *in vivo* immunization of HLA-A2 transgenic mice generated a specific CTL response against both hTERT peptides (Minev et al. 2000).

Using the method of epitope deduction, Vonderheide groups screened HLA-A3-restricted peptide epitopes and identified K973 (KLFGVLRLK) which was subsequently tested for immunogenicity on human *in vitro* T-cell system. This epitope generated specific CTL from HLA-A3+ cancer patients and healthy individuals. These CTL lysed tumours from multiple histologies in an MHC-restricted fashion, suggesting that the epitope is naturally processed and presented by tumours. (Vonderheide et al. 2001).

Another study identified new hTERT-derived peptides carrying motifs for HLA-A24 (Arai et al. 2001). Two of the 5 peptides tested, VYAETKHFL and VYGFVRACL, were capable of generating HLA-A24-restricted CTL and demonstrated cytotoxicity against leukemia cells.

Cryptic epitopes that have a low affinity for HLA were also identified. Their affinity was increased using the P1Y heteroclitic peptide approach where peptides were mutated by tyrosine substitution at position one of the peptides in order to increase their affinity to bind to MHC. Two hTERT (hTERT 572 and hTERT 988)-derived low affinity peptides exhibited strong affinity for HLA-A2 and stimulated specific CTL from healthy donor PBMC. These CTL were able to lyse myeloma, melanoma and ovarian carcinoma cell lines. Also in vivo studies showed that HLA-A2 transgenic mice vaccinated with those two peptides generated CTL that specifically lysed antigen (Ag)-expressing tumour cells, thus recognizing the cognate endogenous Ag. This study suggests that low affinity epitopes could be used for cancer immunotherapy (Scardino et al. 2002). Another study confirmed that the low affinity peptide (P572) was processed and presented by HLA -A2 in tumour cells, and is recognized by specific CTL (Hernandez et al. 2002). Based on the above studies a few clinical experiments were done on colorectal and breast cancer patients. Titu et al studied the T-cell response against two HLA-A2-specific epitopes of hTERT (P540 and P865) in 37 CRC patients and 12 normal controls using an interferon gamma (IFN-γ) ELISPOT assay (Titu et al. 2004). CTL recognized P540 HLA-A2 in 5 (13%) and P865 HLA-A2 in 4 (11%) of CRC patients. Two (5%) patients possessed T-cells that recognized both these peptides. No relationship between cancer stage and the presence of specific CTL against hTERT was observed although the

number of the patients was small. None of the normal controls possessed T-cells capable of recognizing the hTERT or the epitopes. The results of this study demonstrate that CTL active against hTERT are present in 20% of CRC patients, the authors suggested that this could be due to an error in protesome processing (Ayyoub et al. 2002), lack of co-stimulatory molecules (Greenfield et al. 1998) or anergy and resistance to activation in ELISPOT assay (Hermans et al. 1998).

In a similar manner Amaranath and colleagues investigated the specific CD8⁺ CTL response in a cohort of 45 primary breast cancer patients and 44 normal controls against 3 hTERT peptides (I540, R865 and K973). In this study CTL recognized HLA-A2 P540 and P865 epitopes in 13/17 (76%) and 8/17 (47%) respectively, CTL recognized both HLA-A2 epitopes in 8/17 (47%), CTL recognized HLA-A3 K973 epitope in 5/7 (71%) patients. In contrast, 38% of normal healthy female controls responded against a single peptide only (Amarnath et al. 2004).

1.12 Aim of thesis

Finally the aim of this thesis was to detect CTC in the peripheral blood of CRC patients using telomerase as a tumour marker and correlate the findings with clinicopathological status of the patients. Telomerase presence and activity was measured using a combination of approaches including; ELISPOT assay to detect CTL that can recognize hTERT epitopes, the TeloTAGGG[™] Telomerase TRAP assay to study the enzyme activity, and finally RT-PCR to measure hTERT mRNA in serum. These techniques have increasing sensitivity, with the RT-PCR approach being expected to be the most sensitive.

CHAPTER 2 METHODS AND MATERIALS

In this chapter the general methods and materials for the following experiments

conducted in this thesis will be described.

2.1 Study approval

This study received ethical approval from the Hull and East Riding Local Research Ethics Committee (Ref: LREC/12/00/232) and NHS approval from the Hull and East Yorkshire NHS Hospitals Trust Research and Development department (Ref: ELSY 2654).

2.1.1 Patient recruitment

Venous blood (30ml for PBMC and 10ml for CTC preparation) was initially taken from 105 CRC patients. In addition healthy volunteers of similar age were recruited in this study as normal controls. Written informed consent form was obtained from all patients and normal controls.

The blood samples were obtained by phlebotomy under aseptic technique. Venous blood was aspirated into a 60ml Luer-lock syringe pre-coated with 5000 I.U. (1ml) of sodium heparin, maintained at room temperature and then processed in the laboratory within a maximum of 2 hours.

2.1.2 Aseptic technique

All aseptic techniques were performed in a class II microbiological safety cabinet (Walker Safety Cabinets, Glossup, UK) fitted with a UV sterilizing lamp. All glassware and heat-stable solutions were autoclaved prior to use at 121°C for 15 minutes, whilst heat-labile solutions were sterilized by passage through a 0.2 Micron syringe filter (Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany). All disposable equipment and solutions were of sterile tissue culture grade, and all chemicals used were of molecular grade.

2.1.3 Selection criteria

Patients were selected according to the following criteria:

- Histological evidence of colonic or rectal adenocarcinoma.
- Age > 18 years.
- Patient able to provide written, informed, consent.

Patients were excluded according to the following criteria:

- Patients with other than benign or malignant tumours.
- Underlying immunodeficiency disorder or immunodeficiency state.
- Active autoimmune disorder.
- Patients unwilling or unable to give written informed consent.
- Concurrent chemotherapy or radiotherapy

2.1.4 Study protocol

Blood samples were obtained from CRC patients at multiple time points. The initial sample was obtained pre-operatively at the time of recruitment. Two further samples were then obtained in the post-operative period at between four and eight weeks following surgery. If the patient did not go on to receive post-operative, adjuvant therapy then their participation in the study finished at this point. Those patients who received
adjuvant treatment were requested to provide samples approximately every four weeks during the course of their treatment. A flow chart in figure 2.1 summarises the study protocol.



Figure 2.1 Study protocol CTC: circulating tumour cells

2.2 Labelling Dynabeads with BerEP4

From the stock suspension 500μ l (2 x 10^8 beads) was removed and placed in a 1.5ml microcentrifuge tube. This was then placed in a Dynal Magnetic Particle Concentrator (MPC) for 1 minute before pipetting off the supernatant. The tube was removed from the MPC and the beads resuspended in 500μ l PBS-0.1% BSA and the washing step repeated to ensure the removal of the azide preservative. Following this 100μ l (32μ g) mouse monoclonal anti-human epithelial antigen clone Ber-EP4 antibody (Dako, Ely, UK) was added and the tube rotated at 4°C for 30 minutes.

2.3 Preparation of CTC

The 10 ml of venous blood was mixed with an equal amount of phosphate buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.4, and then layered onto Ficoll-Hypaque (Histopaque, Sigma, Poole, UK). Blood/PBS mixture (20ml) was gently layered onto Histopaque (20ml) in a 50ml polypropylene tube (Greiner, Stonehouse, UK). The tube was subsequently centrifuged at 400*g* for 30 minutes at 4°C. PBMC were isolated from the interface between Histopaque and plasma, and collected into a polypropylene tube.

2.3.1 Immunomagnetic separation (IMS) and CTC preservation

The isolated PBMC were then washed with an equal amount of PBS and centrifuged at 400g for 5 minutes. After centrifugation the PBMC were resuspended in 500µl PBS-1% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA) and 12µl of 5x10⁶ pre-washed immunomagnetic Dynabeads.

The mixture was then incubated with rotation at 4°C for 30 minutes in the dark room. After this incubation the beads and the epithelial cells were harvested by placing the tube against a magnet (Dynal). Cells were washed 3 times in PBS-1% BSA, the supernatant was discarded, and cells were resuspended at a concentration of $1-2x10^7$ cells/ml in heat inactivated foetal calf serum (HiFCS) with 10% (v/v) dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) as cryopreservative. The cells were finally transferred into 1ml cryotubes (Nunc) and incubated overnight at -80°C (cooling rate 1°C/minute). The following morning the cryotubes were transferred for long term storage in liquid nitrogen until further use.

2.4 Telomerase PCR ELISA

Telomerase activity was assessed using TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA^{PLUS} kit (Roche, Sussex, UK), all reagents were supplied in the kit. The manufacturers' protocol was followed throughout as detailed below.

2.4.1 Preparation of cell lysates

Cells were thawed on ice, transferred to 1.5 ml polypropylene tubes and then centrifuged at 2000*g* for 10 minutes to pellet the cell-bead complexes from section 2.3.1. Supernatant was removed, and then the pellet was washed with 1ml of PBS and the mixture was centrifuged again for 10 minutes to ensure that the cell bead complexes are all collected. And after removing the supernatant cells were resuspended in 100 μ l lysis buffer from the TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA^{PLUS} kit and incubated for 30 minutes on ice. Cell debris were removed by centrifugation (13000*g* for 20 minutes, at 4°C), and then 80-90 μ l of supernatant was removed, taking care not to transfer any cellular debris, and then stored at -80°C until analysis.

2.4.2 Protein assay of lysates

The protein concentration of lysates was determined using Coomassie Plus kit (Pierce,

Rockford, IL, USA) (Table 2.1). The contents of one BSA standard and PBS as a diluent

were used to prepare a set of protein standards.

Volume of Volume and source of Final BSA Vial diluent concentration BSA А 0 300µl of stock 2,000µg/ml В 125µl 375µl of stock 1,500µg/ml С 325µl of stock 1,000µg/ml 325µI 175µl of vial B dilution 750µg/ml D 175µl Е 325µl 325µl of vial C dilution 500µg/ml F 325µl 325µl of vial E dilution 250µg/ml 325µl of vial F dilution G 125µg/ml 325µI 100µl of vial G dilution Н 25µg/ml 400µl Т 400µl 0 0

Table 2.1: Preparation of diluted BSA standards

Standards and cell lysates (10µl) were added into the appropriate microplate wells, 300µl of Coomassie Plus reagent was added to each well and the mixture was put on a shaker for 30 seconds. The plate was then incubated for 10 minutes at room temperature after which the absorbance at 595nm was read using a plate reader (Anthos 2010, LabTech, UK). A standard curve was prepared by plotting the average blank-corrected 595nm measurement for each BSA standard. The standard curve was used to determine the protein concentration of each lysate sample. See figure 2.2 for an example.



Figure 2.2: Protein standard curve example

2.4.3 PCR condition

For each sample and control template a master mix consisting of 25μ l of reaction mixture and 5μ l of internal standard were prepared per each tube. Master mix (30μ l) was transferred into a microtitre plate per PCR reaction. Cell lysates (3μ l) and 1μ l of control template control (high and low) were added to each well. Nuclease-free water was added to each well to make a total volume of 50μ l. Two sets of aliquots of the above were prepared; one was treated with heat (85° C for 10 minutes) in order to inactivate the samples for use as a net total volume of 50μ l. Two sets of aliquots of the relevant tubes were **Concentration µg/ml** subjected to thermal cycing (Tecnne Progene, UK) according to the following protocol:

- 1) Primer elongation for 30 minutes at 25°C
- 2) Telomerase inactivation for 5 minutes at 94°C
- Amplification (30 seconds at 94°C, 30 seconds at 50°C, 90 seconds at 72°C) x 30 cycles and 10 minutes at 72°C

2.4.4 Hybridization and ELISA

Following PCR, two aliquots of amplification products $(2.5\mu l)$ were denatured at room temperature for 10 minutes with 10µ denaturation reagent. The denatured hybridization products were then hybridized separately to one of two digoxigenin labelled detection probes, either specific for telomeric repeats (hybridization buffet T) or the internal standard (IS buffer), mixed briefly and then added to streptavidin coated microtitre plate. The plate was covered and incubated at 37°C on a shaker (300rpm) for 2 hours. Hybridization solutions were removed and the wells washed three times with washing buffer. The anti-DIG-HRP antibody (polyclonal sheep antibody against digoxigenin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase) conjugate working solution (100µ) was added and incubated with shaking at room temperature for 30 minutes. The solution was removed and the wells were washed five times with a solution buffer. Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate (100µl) was added; the plate was covered with foil and incubated on shaker at room temperature for 10-20 minutes (until colours developed). A 100µl of stop reagent that contains < 5% of sulphuric acid was added and the absorbance of samples measured (450nm-690nm) on an Anthos plate reader (Lab Tech, UK). The mean of the absorbance readings of the negative samples were subtracted from the absorbance readings of the test samples. Samples were regarded as positive if the difference in absorbance was higher than twice the background activity, as recommended by the manufacturer's protocol.

2.5.1 Preparation of PBMC

PBMC were prepared and stored using the methods and materials mentioned in section 2.3 and 2.3.1using 30 ml of venous blood.

2.5.2 Cell counting and viability testing

Trypan blue (0.1% w/v, 10μ l) was added to 10μ l of PBMC suspension and the concentration of cells in solution determined in duplicate using a haemocytometer (Improved Neubauer, Weber, UK). Viable cells exclude the dye, whereas dead cells take it up through their disrupted membranes. A systematic method of counting was used in order to ensure accuracy and precision and to avoid re-counting the same cell. The 25 large squares in the counting chamber were counted starting from left to right and then across and back, in a snake-like fashion. Each of the large squares, made up of 25 smaller squares, were counted in the same way as the large squares. A manual clicker counter was used to enumerate the cells. A minimum count of 100 viable cells was needed in order to ensure that the cells could be fixed to a concentration of $2x10^6$ cells/ml. The concentration of cells was calculated by: number of counted cells x 10^4 x dilution factor. When calculating cell numbers for subsequent assay only viable cell numbers were used for HLA-A2 and HLA-A3 typing.

2.5.3 HLA-A2 and HLA-A3 typing of PBMC

The HLA typing of the patients was determined by flowcytometry (FACS). PBMC were incubated with mouse anti-human HLA-A2 mAb, mouse anti human HLA-A3 mAb, and two irrelevant mouse mAb; Ig1-RPE/IgG1-FIT (as negative controls), and CD3-RPE/CD4-FITC (as positive control), in order to confirm the interpretation of the fluorescence histograms. The cells were incubated with the primary antibodies at 4°C, after which the excess antibody was washed away with 500µl of PBS-BSA-N₃ solution (PBS with 0.25% w/v BSA, and 10mM sodium azide) and then the cells centrifuged (400g for 5 minutes at 4°C). The supernatant was discarded and 50µl/tube of secondary

66

antibodies (F(ab')₂ rabbit anti-mouse IgG:FITC, 1mg/ml stock – 1/100 dilution - 50µl (Serotec) was added. Two other controls were established, represented by tubes to which only the secondary antibody or cells only were added, respectively. The cells were then incubated for another 30 minutes at 4°C. Unbound antibody was washed from the cells as before with PBS-BSA-N₃ and the cell pellets were finally re-suspended in 400µl of this buffer.

To measure the proportion of labelled cells within a population, a flow cytometer (FACSCalibur, BD Biosciences) was used, and data analyzed using CELL Quest® software (BD Biosciences).

Only patients who reacted positively with both anti HLA-A2 and/or HLA-A3 were considered to be $HLA-A2^+/A3^+$ and their PBMC was used for subsequent analysis of anti hTERT CD8⁺ T cells. Figure 2.3 illustrates HLA typing by flow-cytometry.



1) HLA-A2/A3 negative



2) HLA-A2 positive



3) HLA-A3 positive



4) HLA-A2/A3 positive

Figure 2.3 examples of HLA typing on flow cytometry.

2.5.4. ELISpot Assay

The ELISpot assay assesses CTL responses against specific peptides expressed by host MHC; it was performed using an IFN- γ ELISpot kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (R&D systems, UK). If CTL react against the tumour-derived peptide the CD8 positive cells will usually release IFN- γ that can be detected with immobilised antibodies. The multiscreen-HA sterile 96 well filtration plate (ELISpot plate) (Millipore, CA, USA) used allows for a maximum of seven samples to be run on a single plate. All the techniques were carried out in sterile conditions, in a class II microbiological safety cabinet.

2.5.4.1 Day 1

For each assay, up to seven PBMC samples were selected and removed from the liquid nitrogen. Attention was taken to ensure that all the samples had the same HLA status so that they could all be put onto the same plate with the same peptides. The PBMC samples were thawed in a water bath at 37°C for a few minutes. Each sample was carefully mixed and transferred into RPMI 1640 culture medium (10ml) and centrifuged at 400*g* for 5 minutes to remove freeze media. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in 1ml CTL medium. The samples were incubated at 37°C until ready to be used. The number of viable cells present in the sample was determined by counting the number of viable PBMC using the method in section 2.5.2. Samples with a cell count of 100 or more were used and samples with a significantly low number of cells were discarded. The samples that had between 70-99 cells were kept and if there was another sample stored in the liquid nitrogen, it was prepared in the same way, counted, and combined to increase the number of cells to make up at least 100. In the case when two

samples were mixed together, these were centrifuged again (400*g* for 3 minutes) and resuspended in 1ml CTL medium. If the samples could not be used, more samples were defrosted in the same way, prepared and counted, until there were seven different patients' samples that could be used. The samples were adjusted to a concentration of $2x10^6$ cells/ml using CTL medium. Each sample was put into a well of a 6 well plate and put in a 37°C incubator overnight. Any spare wells with no cells were filled with RPMI, in order to create a humidified environment for the growth of the cells. Capture antibody (100µl, IFN- γ without biotin) was pipetted into each of the wells of the ELISpot plate and incubated in the fridge at 4°C overnight.

2.5.4.2 Day 2

The plate was washed six times by multichannel pipetting 200µl sterile PBS into the wells and discarding in virkon (2% w/v). After tapping dry, 150µl of blocking medium (a 15ml quantity of PBS-10% w/v BSA was made up and filter sterilised by passage through a 0.2µm filter, Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany) was added to each well and the plate incubated for two hours at 37°C. After discarding the blocking medium and tapping dry, 100µl of each cell sample from the 6 well plates was added to the ELISpot microtitre plate. Appropriate hTERT peptides (10µl of 100ng/ml, ProImmune, Oxford, UK) were then added to the wells according the pipetting scheme layout (Figure 2.4)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Α	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
В	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
С	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
D	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
Е	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
F	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
G	hTERT-1		hTERT-2		Inf-		hTERT-		Inf-		PMA	Cells
		\rightarrow		\rightarrow	A2	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow	A3	\rightarrow		only
	IFN-γ	IFN-γ	IFN-γ							CTL	CTL	CTL

Figure 2.4: Schematic ELISpot plate layout

Note: CTL denotes CTL medium (a negative control set of wells)

Influenza peptides (10µl) and 5µl of Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate PMA were added to their respective wells. In addition, 100µl of recombinant IFN- γ (1ng/µl, Serotec, Oxford, UK) was added to three wells as an additional positive control. The presence of IFN- γ should always give a positive result. No peptides were added to some of the cells, leaving the cells in the well alone with the capture antibody, which will show a background level of IFN- γ response. Any response measured in these wells was deducted from the values obtained from the test peptides. CTL medium (100µl) was used as a negative control, and was added to three wells. The plate was incubated at 37°C overnight.

2.5.4.3 Day 3

The wells were washed six times using 200μ l PBS-0.05% v/v Tween-20 (Sigma) and tapped dry. Mouse anti-human IgG1 IFN γ antibody (100 μ l) conjugated to biotin

(Mabtech AB, Nacka, Sweden) was added to each well, to detect bound IFN γ , and incubated overnight in the fridge at 4°C.

2.5.4.4 Day 4

PBS-0.05% Tween-20 (200µl) was used to wash the plate six times, as before. 100µl of streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hemel Hemstead, UK), diluted 1 in 1000 with PBS, was added to the wells and left in the dark at room temperature for two hours. The plate was washed six times as before using PBS-0.05% v/v Tween, alkaline phosphatase substrate was made up from a kit (Bio-Rad) by adding 100µl of solution A, 100µl of solution B and 400µl of buffer to 9.6ml distilled water. Then the alkaline phosphatase substrate solution (100µl) was added to the plate. The plate was left, covered, for 15-30 minutes until visible blue spots appeared. The remaining reagent in the plate discarded. The plate was then washed under running tap water and left to dry.

The plates were stored in a dark and dry place at room temperature until they were taken to be counted using the AID ELISpot automated plate reader at St James University Hospital, Leeds by Dr. L Madden. The analysis of the results was done using the AID ELISpot analysis software.

2.6 RT-PCR of serum samples

Serum samples were collected from 97 CRC patients, who underwent curative surgical resection. Blood samples were collected on three occasions; pre-operatively, one month and one year post operatively.

2.6.1 Serum preparation

The venous blood samples were kept in the fridge (4°C) in an upright position for at least 30 minutes. After that the blood samples were centrifuged (3000*g*, for 10 minutes, at 4°C). Then serum was extracted and stored at -80° C until use.

2.6.2 RNA extraction

The manufacturer's protocol was followed throughout to extract serum RNA. (SV Total RNA Isolation System, Promega USA).

Serum samples were thawed on ice, and then 175µl of serum was transferred into a sterile 1.5 ml micro-centrifuge tube using RNase-free pipettes tips to reduce the chance of RNase contamination. The same amount of SV RNA lysis buffer was added to each sample and mixed gently by pippeting. Next 175µl of the mixture was added to 350µl of SV RNA dilution buffer and mixed gently by inverting the tube 3- 4 times; the tubes were then placed in a water bath at 70°C for 3 minutes. Finally the tubes were centrifuged at 13000g at 20-25°C to pellet cell protein debris.

The cleared lysate solution was transferred to a fresh micro-centrifuge tube and 200µl ethanol (95%) was added to each tube and mixed gently by pipetting 3-4 times. The mixture was then transferred to spin column assembly and the mixture was centrifuged at 13000g for one minute. After discarding the liquid from the spin basket 600µl of SV RNA wash solution was added to the spin column assembly, and then the columns were centrifuged at 13000g for one minute.

After that a 50 μ l of DNase incubation mix (40 μ l Yellow Core Buffer, 5 μ l 0.09M MnCL₂ and 5 μ l of DNase I enzyme) was added directly to the membrane of each spin column assembly and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. After the incubation period

74

200µl of SV DNA stop solution was added to each sample and then centrifuged at 13000g for one minute. Then 600µl of SV RNA wash solution was added and the spin column assembly centrifuged for a further one minute. The spin basket was then emptied and 250µl of SV RNA Wash Solution was added and the column was centrifuged for 2 minutes. Then the spin basket was put in a new elution tube and 100µl of nuclease-free water was added directly to the membrane of the spin basket and then the tube was centrifuged for 2 minutes to elicit the purified RNA which if not used immediately was stored at -80° C.

2.6.3 RT-PCR condition

The QIAGEN oneStep RT-PCR protocol was followed thoroughly (QIAGEN, West Sussex). RNA extract, primer solutions, hTERT forward and reverse, (RL-hTERT-FOR: 5'-CGT GGT TTC TGT GTG GTG TC-3', RL-hTERT-REV: 5'-CCT TGT CGC CTG AGG AGT AG-3') (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/), dNTP Mix, 5x QIAGEN oneStep RT-PCR Buffer and RNase free water were all thawed on ice. A master mix was made according to Table 2.2, and 45µl dispensed into PCR tubes.

RNase-free water	29.75µl/reaction
RT-PCR Buffer	10.0µl/reaction
dNTP Mix	2.0µl/reaction
hTERT for	0.5µl/reaction
hTERT rev	0.5µl/reaction
RT-PCR enzyme mix	2.0µl/reaction
RNase inhibitor	0.25µl/reaction
Total Master Mix	45µl/reaction

 Table 2.2: Master Mix concentrations

Template RNA from patients, normal controls, or CRC cell lines (5µl) (CaCO2 & LoVo cell lines) and 5µl of nuclease-free water as a negative control were added to each individual PCR tube. The thermal cycler was pre-heated to 50° C before the PCR tubes were placed in the thermal cycler. The following PCR conditions were applied (Table 2.3) and the PCR products were later run on an agarose gel (section 2.6.4).

RT-PCR steps	Time	Temperature
Reverse transcription	30 minutes	50°C
Initial PCR activation step	15 minutes	95°C
3-step cycling (40 cycles)		
Denaturation	1 minute	94°C
Extension	1 minute	72°C
Final extension	10 minutes	72°C

Table 2.3: PCR conditions

2.6.4 3% agarose gel preparartion

Agarose (3g) was mixed with 100ml of 1xTBE (Tris base, boric acid and EDTA); the mixture was put in the autoclave to allow the 3% w/v gel to desolve. The gel solution was left to cool down, and after that 2μ l of ethidium bromide was added to the gel. The gel was poured into a casting mould with a comb to form the wells and the gel was left to set.

2.6.5 PCR products loading

PCR product (10µl) were mixed with 2µl of 6x loading dye (BlueJuice[™] Gel Loading Buffer, Invitrogen), and then the mixture and the DNA ladder (GeneRuler[™] DNA ladder, Invitrogen) were loaded in the agarose plate and left running on electrophoresis at 100 V for 45 minutes. The gel was photographed using a UV illuminator (Uvi Tech).

CHAPTER 3

Detection of specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognising hTERT using the ELISpot assay

In this chapter the results of the telomerase activity in peripheral blood of CRC patients

using ELISpot assay will be discussed

3.1 Introduction

TAA are oncogenic proteins expressed by tumour cells. Human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) is the catalytic subunit of telomerase and it is the rate limiting factor. Peptide epitopes from this molecule could be a used as universal TAA since it is expressed by most human tumours, plays a universal role in tumourgenesis and is recognized by the CD8 cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) in an MHC restricted manner (see section 1.11.2)

The aim of this study was to detect CTL that can recognize hTERT epitopes.

3.2 Patient samples

Out of the 105 patients that were initially recruited, 34 were HLA-A2 or HLA-A3 positive; the remaining 71 patients were not eligible to be used in the ELISpot study. Some of the samples were found to be either dead or there were not enough viable cells $(2x10^5 \text{ cells/µl})$ required to perform the ELISpot, therefore, only 30 of the 34 patients were used. Table 3.1 shows the relevant patient details of the patients that were used for the ELISpot assay. The median age of the patients was 69 (53-83).

Although all of the patients had at least two samples taken: pre (sample 1) and postoperation (sample 2), not all the samples could be analysed, due to insufficient viable cells. Table 3.2 shows the patient and their samples that were used. 28 pre and 13 postoperational samples were tested, providing a cohort of 12 sample pairs that for analysis. A further 6 patients had more than 2 consecutive samples tested, allowing a small pilot study on follow-up with time.

Patient	Site of	Dukes		Date of	HLA
No.	Cancer	Stage	Age	Death	Status
21	Rectum	С	57	n/a	A2+
26	Colon	C2	74	n/a	A2+
36	Colon	D	73	n/a	A2+
37	Colon	C2	83	n/a	A2+
40	Rectum	С	62	19/02/2005	A2+
42	Colon	С	67	n/a	A2+
43	Colon	С	58	n/a	A2+
44	Rectum	C2	77	n/a	A2+/A3+
53	Benign	Benign	75	26/02/2005	A2+
61	Rectum	C1	59	n/a	A3+
66	Colon	В	77	n/a	A2+
67	Rectum	C1	62	n/a	A2+
69	Rectum	C1	68	n/a	A2+
71	Colon	В	69	n/a	A3+
72	Colon	В	77	n/a	A2+
73	Benign	Benign	72	n/a	A2+
75	Rectum	C2	78	n/a	A2+
76	Colon	В	59	n/a	A2+
77	Rectum	C1	53	n/a	A2+
79	Rectum	А	78	n/a	A2+/A3+
80	Colon	В	80	n/a	A2+
90	Benign	Benign	80	02/05/2005	A2+
91	Colon	D	70	n/a	A3+
95	Rectum	C2	81	06/11/2005	A2+
97	Rectum	С	67	25/02/2006	A2+/A3+
98	Colon	C1	63	n/a	A2+/A3+
99	Colon	А	76	n/a	A2+
100	Benign	Benign	65	n/a	A2+/A3+
101	Rectum	C1	67	n/a	A2+/A3+
105	Rectum	В	64	n/a	A2+

Table 3.1: Patient details that were used for the ELISpot assay

Note: n/a=not applicable, as patient did not die during the course of the study

Patient	Dukes Stage			Samn	le No		
110.	Bluge	1	2	3	4	5	6
21	С						
26	C2						
36	D						
37	C2						
40	С						
42	С						
43	С						
44	C2						
53	Benign						
61	C1						
66	В						
67	C1						
69	C1						
71	В						
72	В						
73	Benign						
75	C2						
76	В						
77	C1						
79	Α						
80	В						
90	Benign						
91	D						
95	C2						
97	С						
98	C1						
99	A						
100	Benign						
101	C1						
105	В						

Table 3.2: Showing the ELISpot assays performed

Note: Black boxes indicate that the sample was used for the ELISpot assay

3.3 HLA status and CTL response against hTERT peptides in CRC patients

From the 30 patients that were investigated, 21 (70%) were HLA-A2 positive, 3 (10%) were HLA-A3 positive and 6 (20%) were HLA-A2 and A3 positive.

The immediate results from the practical work can be shown by observing the spots obtained on the ELISpot plates. The results obtained were variable, as Figure 3.1 shows that the size, intensity, and number of spots were different in each case. The spots were

then counted using an AID ELISpot automated plate reader (St James Hospital, Leeds) to give the final results as numbers.



Figure 3.1 Examples of ELISpot results.

- a) Good response
- b) Good response, but high response with no peptide creates negative results
- c) Poor response, but positive PMA.
- d) Poor result due to background colouration (from prelimary work).

For all the data, the numbers of spots are recorded per $2x10^5$ PBMC. The specific number

of spots was calculated by subtracting the number of spots present in the wells with no

peptide (negative control well). This gives the number of spot forming cells (SFC), which relates directly to the exact number of cells that responded. Where the number of spots became a negative number, the value was changed to zero, as it is not possible to have a negative number of spots. This method was previously used by (Amarnath et al. 2004) Tables 3.3 and 3.4 show the average ELISpot results for the A2 and A3 positive patients respectively. The patients that are positive for A2 and A3 are recorded in both tables, and the results analysed independently, denoted as two samples.

The results obtained can be looked at on an individual basis, or may be compared in groups to establish patterns of responses, at a certain time-point, or over time. It is mainly the hTERT peptide response and influenza response that will be studied. Other factors that come into consideration will also be noted, such as the site and stage of cancer, and patient death.

Pat	ient	A	verage num	Specific number of SFC per well						
		hTERT-	hTERT-	Inf		No	hTERT-	hTERT-	Inf	
Number	Sample	1	2	A2	PMA	peptide	1	2	A2	PMA
21	2	8	4	7	16	1	7	3	6	15
21	2	59	69	55	171	24	35	45	31	147
21	4	194	213	187	269	203	0	10	0	66
21	6	88	90	87	193	81	7	9	6	112
26	2	15	8	3	37	6	9	2	0	31
36	2	0	1	3	1	2	0	0	1	0
36	3	10	3	1	116	2	8	1	0	114
37	1	56	38	45	185	42	14	0	3	143
37	2	1	3	4	9	5	0	0	0	4
40	1	7	0	1	12	5	2	0	0	7
42	1	0	0	0	38	0	0	0	0	38
42	2	9	4	11	25	1	8	3	10	24
42	3	5	2	7	5	1	4	1	6	4
43	1	1	2	1	69	2	0	0	0	67
43	3	26	17	6	21	2	24	15	4	19
43	4	1	2	1	14	1	0	1	0	13
44	1	5	3	0	5	1	4	2	0	4
44	3	90	100	97	329	100	0	0	0	229
44	4	27	39	30	87	32	0	7	0	55
53	1	5	1	2	12	1	4	0	1	11
66	1	25	27	31	287	19	6	8	12	268
66	2	26	29	20	153	22	4	7	0	131
66	3	123	59	47	183	35	88	24	12	148
67	1	186	164	174	205	120	66	44	54	85
69	1	5	2	0	12	3	2	0	0	9
71	1	95	101	77	148	81	14	20	0	67
72	1	91	80	82	246	55	36	25	27	191
72	2	12	20	18	111	21	0	0	0	90
73	1	100	89	87	182	78	22	11	9	104
75	1	58	50	66	305	56	2	0	10	249
76	1	174	186	170	240	169	5	17	1	71
77	1	242	238	233	260	204	38	34	29	56
79	1	25	12	19	368	8	17	4	11	360
80	1	0	1	0	65	1	0	0	0	64
90	1	0	0	2	5	4	0	0	0	1
95	1	3	5	11	32	13	0	0	0	19
97	1	10	31	16	118	58	0	0	0	60
97	2	3	3	1	12	1	2	2	0	11
98	1	13	10	7	5	9	4	1	0	0
98	2	13	21	17	17	3	10	18	14	14
99	1	1	8	8	5	7	0	1	1	0
100	1	97	112	147	166	109	0	3	38	57
105	1	1	0	0	8	0	1	0	0	8

 Table 3.3: ELISpot results for A2 positive patients

Pat	ient	Average	e number	of SFC	per well	Specific number of SFC per well			
Number	sample	hTERT A3	Inf A3	PMA	no peptide	hTERT A3	Inf A3	PMA	
44	1	3	3	5	1	2	2	4	
44	3	72	74	329	100	0	0	230	
44	4	31	31	100	32	0	0	55	
61	1	23	29	159	32	0	0	127	
71	1	9	4	12	12	0	0	0	
71	2	99	89	116	115	0	0	1	
71	3	5	9	7	73	0	0	0	
71	4	56	38	95	86	0	0	9	
71	5	42	50	42	215	0	0	0	
79	1	16	13	368	8	8	5	360	
91	1	2	8	4	6	0	2	0	
91	2	123	59	87	90	33	0	0	
97	1	10	14	118	58	0	0	60	
97	2	5	3	12	1	4	2	11	
98	1	29	9	17	3	26	6	14	
98	2	133	121	166	109	24	12	57	
100	1	133	121	166	109	24	12	57	
101	1	18	0	1	3	15	0	0	
101	1	0	3	29	2	0	1	27	
101	2	59	69	172	77	0	0	95	

Table 3.4: ELISpot results for A3 positive patients

Twenty-eight HLA-A2 positive patient samples were stimulated with PMA of these 18 (64%) showed recognition of the hTERT-1 peptide, 19 (68%) responded to hTERT-2 peptide, and 16 (57%) recognised both peptides. Six of the 9 (67%) HLA-A3 positive samples recognised the hTERT A3 peptide.

The pattern of response to hTERT was also investigated by examining the results for samples that belong to the same patient pre-operatively and post-operatively. Where CTL that recognized hTERT were detected in 20/28 patients (71%) pre-operatively, and 7/13 (54%) analyzable post-operative samples showed a CTL response. Table 3.5 simplifies the results of tables 3.3 and 3.4.

Patient	Dukes			Comm	la No		
NO.	Stage	1	2	Samp	bie No.	F	(
	G	1	2	3	4	5	0
21	C	+	+		+		+
26	C2		+				
36	D		-	+			
37	C2	+	-				
40	C	+					
42	C	-	+	+			
43	C	-		+			
44	C2	+	-	+			
53	Benign	+					
61	C1	-					
66	В	+	+	+			
67	C1	+					
69	C1	+					
71	В	+	-	-	-	-	
72	В	+	-				
73	Benign	+					
75	C2	+					
76	В	+					
77	C1	+					
79	А	+					
80	В	-					
90	Benign	-					
91	D	-	+				
95	C2	-					
97	С	-	+				
98	C1	+	+				
99	А	+					
100	Benign	+					
101	C1	+		1			
105	B	+	-				
	-	I	1	1	1	1	1

Table 3.5: CTL response against hTERT in patients' samples

+: positive CTL response

-: negative CTL response

The above pre and post operative samples provided a cohort of 12 sample pairs. In this cohort 3 patients had CTL response in their pre and post operative samples, five patients had CTL response in the pre-operative sample but not in any of the post-operative samples and 4 patients developed CTL response in their post-operative samples but not in the pre-operative samples.

A further 6 patients had more than 2 consecutive samples tested, allowing a small pilot study on follow-up with time. In this group 5 patients in their last sample had CTL against hTERT peptides detected and one sample was negative. Four of these patients were Duke's C and 2 were Dukes' B, these samples were collected over a period of 4 months.

3.4 Repeated samples

In order to validate the assay, the ELISpot assay was repeated on the same samples but it was not possible to repeat the tests for all the samples as there was either insufficient time or there were insufficient cells from the patient. In the case of patient 21, sample 2, and patient 101, sample 1, where the only two samples that were repeated. The results are shown in Table 3.6 and 3.7.

 Table 3.6: ELISpot results for a HLA-A2 positive patient- patient 22, sample 2

Pat	ient	Speci	ific number of	f SFC per w	vell		Positive re		
						hTERT-	hTERT-	Inf	
Number	Sample	hTERT-1	hTERT-2	Inf A2	PMA	1	2	A2	PMA
21	2	7	4	6	16	Y	Y	Y	Y
21	2	35	46	31	147	Y	Y	Y	Y

Table 3.7. ELISpot results for a fille AS positive patient patient for, sample	Table 3.7 :	: ELISpot res	sults for a HI	LA-A3 posi	itive patient-	patient 101.	, sample 1
--	--------------------	---------------	----------------	------------	----------------	--------------	------------

Pati	ient	Specific	number of SH	FC per well	Posi		
Number	Sample	hTERT A3	Inf A3	PMA	hTERT A3	Inf A3	PMA
101	1	16	0	0	Y	Ν	Ν
101	1	0	1	27	Ν	Y	Y

Even though the magnitude of the responses was not the same in the repeat, the results for patient 21 and 101 showed positive for both samples. Therefore this assay's validity is confirmed.

3.5 Averaged results

The results for the final ELISpot count, given in Tables 3.2 and 3.3, are calculated averages between several wells. For each sample, the test for each peptide was triplicated, and an average taken, to look at the variability of the result and to ensure a representative number. Table 3.8 shows a few examples of the original number of spots in the wells, as well as the calculated average. In the case of patients 76 and 77, the original numbers are very closely associated so, therefore, the average is a true reflection of the result. However, there are some samples, for example patient 40, where the numbers of spots are not so closely associated, giving a number that may be incorrect. The variability makes comparisons difficult and may be overcome by repeating the assay and taking more care over the procedure.

 Table 3.8: Showing an example of the number of SPC counted per well and the average

Pat	ient	hTERT-1			l		PN	ЛА		No p	eptide
Number	Sample				Average			Average			Average
40	1	3	16	1	7	19	4	12	0	9	5
76	1	160	193	170	174	247	233	240	181	156	169
77	1	256	233	238	242	257	263	260	222	186	204

3.6 PMA stimulation and Influenza response

PMA is a positive control, as it causes a non-specific response in all viable cells. However, not all the results show an effective PMA stimulation, suggesting that the cells may be dead. The threshold for a positive response was taken from (Titu et al. 2004) to be 16 and above. In his study the most appropriate method was to calculate the mean number of spots counted in all irrelevant wells and add three standard deviations to obtain the threshold above which the number of spots counted in study wells can be considered as being significant. More than 99% of the spots obtained in the irrelevant wells would be found below this threshold, and, consequently, it can be postulated that any number of spots obtained in the study wells above this threshold indicates a positive response to peptide stimulation. As a method of further verifying the results obtained, the frequencies of CTL active against an HLA-A2/A3-restricted epitope of the influenza a (IA) matrix protein were also quantified. The influenza response gives indication of the state of the patient's immune system, and because of the efficient vaccination of the human body against influenza it was used as a positive control for the assay in many studies (Scheibenbogen et al. 1997) (Vonderheide et al. 2001). A negative influenza response shows that the body had no or very little immune response. Table 3.9 shows patient sample responses to both PMA and influenza. Out of the 51 samples, 30 (59%) showed a positive response to PMA. The average number of SFC in response to PMA was 65. Twenty-three (45%) samples out of the 51 responded to influenza, and 16 (31%) showed a positive response to both PMA and influenza. Seven samples were viable but had no immune response. The average number of SPC in response to influenza was 5.

Patient	Sample		Above		
No.	No.	PMA	Threshold	Influenza	Response
21	2	81	+	18	+
21	4	66	+	0	-
21	6	112	+	6	+
26	2	31	+	0	-
36	3	114	+	0	-
36	2	0	-	1	+
37	1	143	+	3	+
37	2	4	-	0	-
40	1	7	-	0	-
42	1	38	+	0	-
42	2	24	+	10	+
42	3	4	-	6	+
43	1	67	+	0	-
43	3	19	+	4	+
43	4	13	-	0	-
44	1	4	-	0	-
44	3	229	+	0	-
44	4	55	+	0	-
53	1	11	-	1	+
61	1	127	+	0	-
66	1	268	+	12	+
66	2	131	+	0	-
66	3	148	+	12	+
67	1	85	+	54	+
69	1	9	-	0	-
71	1	0	-	0	-
71	2	1	-	0	-
71	3	0	-	0	-
71	4	9	-	0	-
71	5	0	-	0	-
72	1	191	+	27	+
72	2	90	+	0	-
73	1	104	+	9	+
75	1	249	+	10	+
76	1	71	+	1	+
77	1	56	+	29	+
79	1	360	+	13	+
80	1	64	+	0	-
90	1	1	-	0	-

Table 3.9: Patient responses to PMA stimulation and influenza: number of SFCobtained with PMA and Influenza.

Patient No.	Sample No.	PMA	Above Threshold	Influenza	Response
91	1	0	-	2	+
91	2	0	-	0	-
95	1	19	+	0	-
97	1	60	+	0	-
97	2	11	-	1	-
98	1	7	-	3	+
98	2	57	+	13	+
99	1	0	-	1	+
100	1	57	+	25	+
101	1	13	-	1	+
101	2	95	+	0	-
105	1	8	-	0	-

Note: Repeated results were averaged

3.7 Benign tumours

Four patients were found to have benign tumours. The ELISpot assay was still performed, as this information was revealed after the assay had been carried out, and provided an interesting contrast with malignant disease.

Patients 53 and 90 did not show a positive response to PMA, so their data is not valid. Patient 73 showed good PMA stimulation, both hTERT peptides responded, and influenza caused a response. Patient 100 showed almost no response to the A2 hTERT peptides, but responded highly to hTERT A3 (see Table 3.3 & 3.4).

3.8 Site and stage of cancer

Out of all the patients used for the study, half originated in the colon and half in the rectum (excluding the 4 benign patients). Tables 3.10 and 3.11 show the results grouped according to their cancer origin.

For the samples from the colon, all except for 3 samples (67%) responded to hTERT. About 60% of the rectal cancer patients responded to hTERT.

Patient		Specific number of SFC per well					
Number	Sample	hTERT-1	hTERT-2	hTERT A3	PMA	Influenza	
26	2	9	2	n/a	31	0	
36	3	8	1	n/a	114	0	
37	1	14	0	n/a	143	3	
42	1	0	0	n/a	38	0	
42	2	8	3	n/a	24	10	
43	1	0	0	n/a	67	0	
43	3	24	15	n/a	19	4	
66	1	6	8	n/a	268	12	
66	2	4	7	n/a	131	0	
66	3	88	24	n/a	148	12	
72	1	36	25	n/a	191	27	
72	2	0	0	n/a	90	0	
76	1	5	17	n/a	71	1	
80	1	0	0	n/a	64	0	
98	2	10	18	24	57	13	

Table 3.10: Patients samples with tumours originating in the colon

 Table 3.11: Patient samples with the tumour originating in the rectum

Patient		Specific number of SFC per well					
Number	Sample	hTERT-1	hTERT-2	hTERT A3	PMA	Influenza	
21	2	21	24	n/a	81	18	
21	4	0	10	n/a	66	0	
21	6	7	9	n/a	112	6	
44	3	0	0	0	229	0	
44	4	0	7	0	55	0	
61	1	n/a	n/a	0	127	0	
67	1	66	44	n/a	85	54	
75	1	2	0	n/a	249	10	
77	1	38	34	n/a	56	29	
79	1	17	4	8	360	13	
95	1	0	0	n/a	19	0	
97	1	2	2	4	60	0	
101	2	n/a	n/a	0	95	0	

Putting the site of cancer aside, 2 (8%) patients' had Dukes' A cancer, 6 (23%) had Dukes' B, 16 (61%) Dukes' C (including Dukes' C1 and C2), and 2 (8%) had Dukes' D.

3.8 Deceased patients

Table 3.12 shows the relevant details and results of the 5 patients who died. Two of the patients who died had benign tumours. Both died within 3 months of their operation. Their average age was 78, suggesting that that may have died due to operation stress rather than the tumour per se. The other three patients had CRC in the rectum. Their CRC were all at a fairly late stage: Dukes' C2.

The hTERT responses were consistently low and all the patients had no or a very low influenza response, indicating that the immune system was not functioning normally. This could have been one reason for the cause of death. A faster rate of disease progression than otherwise would be normal may have caused death, due to many other factors.

Patient Site of Dukes Specific number of SFC per well Age hTERT-2 hTERT A3 Number Cancer Stage hTERT-1 PMA Influenza С 40 Rectum 62 2 0 n/a 7 0 Benign 75 53 Benign 4 0 n/a 11 1 90 0 0 0 Benign Benign 80 n/a 1 95 C2 81 0 0 19 0 Rectum n/a 97 Rectum С 67 2 2 2 35 0

Table 3.12: Patient details of patients who died during the course of the study

3.9 Conclusion

In this thesis 2 peptides were used that react to CTL in an HLA-A2 and HLA-A3 restricted manner.

Thirty patients in this study were HLA-A2/A3 positive and were having chemotherapy

and hence were studied for CTL reaction. Twenty eight pre-operative samples and

thirteen post-operative samples were analysable, 71% of pre-operative samples and 54%

post-operative samples had CTL reaction towards hTERT peptides whether in an HLA-A2, HLA-A3 or HLA2/A3 restricted manner.

The results of this thesis seems to be higher than Titu *et al* results, who studied the T-cell response against two HLA-A2 specific peptides of hTERT (I540 and P865) in 37 CRC patients and 12 normal controls (Titu et al. 2004). The results of their study demonstrate that CTL active against hTERT are present in only 20% of CRC patients. The discrepancy in the results of both studies could be due to the fact that in our study samples were considered positive only if the value SFC was ≥ 1 . Whereas in Titu *et al* study the samples were considered positive only when the number of the spots with peptides were ≥ 16 spots which is the threshold level from the cells with no peptides. Furthermore in our study we added another hTERT which have contributed for the higher results.

The results in this thesis were closer to Amarnath *et al* (Amarnath et al. 2004) results who investigated CTL response in breast cancer patients. The same methods and peptides were used in their study and CTL recognized HLA-A2 P540 and P865 peptides in 76% and 47% respectively, CTL recognized both HLA-A2 peptides in 47%, CTL recognized HLA-A3 K973 peptides in 71% patients.

In this study the responses to both PMA and influenza were analysed. Out of the 51 samples, 30 (59%) showed a positive response to PMA. The average number of SFC in response to PMA was 65.

Twenty three (45%) samples out of the 51 responded to influenza, and 16 (31%) showed a positive response to both PMA and influenza. 7 samples were viable but had no immune response. The average number of SPC in response to influenza was 5. These

94

results were more or less similar to results of many studies (Vonderheide et al. 2001) (Titu et al. 2004) (Amarnath et al. 2004) (Scheibenbogen et al. 1997) studies.

Although the experimental methods in this chapter were used by other authors and they produced reliable generic methodology for the study of the CTL immune response against any peptide antigens, in our study there was variability in the results were the size, intensity, and number of spots were different in each case as shown in figure 3.1, which could be due to contamination making our results unreliable.

So far all studies conducted agree that CTL precursors capable of recognizing hTERT peptides can be found or expanded *in vitro* in cancer patients but none of them have studied the effect of these CTL cells on tumours' development and progression.
CHAPTER 4 Detection of hTERT mRNA in serum samples of CRC patients

In this chapter the results of the hTERT mRNA detection serum samples of CRC patients

using RT-PCR will be discussed

4.1 Introduction

The expression of hTERT in blood, reported in only five previous studies, has been detected in: 90% (70/78) of serum samples of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (Miura, N. et al. 2003), 25 % (4/16) of serum samples of patients with breast cancer (Chen et al. 2000) using RT-PCR, 46% (30/65) of the peripheral blood of patients with gastric cancer using red blood cell lysis followed by RT-PCR (Shin et al. 2002), and in 53% (29/55) of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma using immunomagnetic separation technique to isolate CTC followed by RT-PCR (Waguri et al. 2003).

Finally hTERT mRNA has been detected in the plasma samples of CRC patients (Lledo et al. 2004) with 82% (41/50) of these patients having hTERT mRNA expression values higher than the maximum values of normal control using real time PCR.

In this study the aim was to detect the expression of hTERT mRNA in serum samples of CRC patients who underwent curative resection and to determine the correlation between hTERT expression, disease stage and patient prognosis.

4.2 Detection of serum hTERT mRNA

Ninety seven patients were recruited prospectively and serum blood samples were collected pre-surgery, one month and one year post operatively. The serum samples were aliquoted and stored at -80^oC until use. The mean age for the patients was 71 (43-90 years). Forty six percent of the patients were Duke's C, 26% Duke's B, 20% Duke's A and 7% were Duke's D. The mortality rate in this study was 17%. The demographic features of the patients recruited are shown in Appendix 4.1.

4.2.1 Preliminary work

In the first experiment of serum hTERT mRNA expression, 5 patients' samples were used to extract RNA. Purified water (ddH₂O) and a sample from a normal volunteer were used as negative controls. The RT-PCR reaction was prepared using the following primers: (http://frodo.wi.mit.edu/), with TERT PCR product size of 4015 bp.

- 1) RL-hTERT-FOR: 5'-CGT GGT TTC TGT GTG GTG TC-3'
- 2) RL-hTERT-REV: 5'-CCT TGT CGC CTG AGG AGT AG-3'
- 3) GAPDH-FOR: 5'-ACC ACA GTC CAT GCC ATC AC-3'
- 4) GAPDH-REV: 5'-TCC ACC ACC CTG TTG CTG TA-3'

The RT-PCR reaction steps were followed as detailed in section 2.6.3 in the methods chapter, but initially 35 steps were used for denaturation and extension. In this reaction hTERT and GAPDH expression should show bands of 214 bp and 450 bp respectively. The results of this experiment were all negative even using the GAPDH primers (Figure 4.1). The same experiment was repeated 3 times using the same samples and all were negative.



Figure 4.1 A 1.2% w/v agarose loading gel showing no PCR bands in any tube.

N.B. 100 bp ladder was used (GeneRulerTM DNA ladder, Invitrogen)

Tube 1: ddH₂O + GAPDH primers (negative control) Tube 2: normal volunteer + GAPDH primers Tube 3: normal volunteer + RL-hTERT primers Tube 4: ddH₂O + RL-hTERT primers (negative control) Tube 5: normal volunteer + RL-hTERT primers (negative control) Tube 6: Sample 92a + RL-hTERT primers Tube 7: Sample 90a + RL-hTERT primers Tube 8: Sample 87a + RL-hTERT primers Tube 9: Sample 50c + RL-hTERT primers Note: a: pre- operative sample, b: 1 month post operative sample and c: one year post operative sample.

4.2.2 RT-PCR verification

As a consequence of the negative results in the GAPDH controls it was decided to use an

additional house keeping gene and two cancer cell lines that are known to express hTERT

mRNA (positive controls) in order to check the integrity of the RT-PCR reaction. The

two cancer cell lines were CACO2 (colon cancer cell line) and MCF-7 (breast cancer cell

line).

Initially the integrity of the cancer cell lines was checked by measuring the RNA concentration by measuring the absorbance of each sample at 260 nm by spectrophotometry. RNA preparations from CACO2 and MCF-7 cancer cell line showed sufficient RNA concentrations (10 ng/ μ l and 70 ng/ μ l respectively), that subsequently produce a positive RT-PCR reaction since the QIAGEN RT-PCR kit provides highly efficient sensitive reverse transcriptase of any RNA quantity from 1pg to 2 μ g. In this experiment the RT-PCR was optimised to allow the detection of the control genes using both cancer cell lines (Figure 4.2). This experiment was repeated again and the same positive results were obtained.



Figure 4.2 The bright bands at approximately 450 bp demonstrate the positive expression of the cancer cell lines of GAPDH and ß-actin genes.

Tube 1: CACO2 + GAPDH Tube 2: CACO2 + β -actin Tube 3: MCF-7 + GAPDH

4.2.3 RT-PCR for patient samples

Having demonstrated that the cell lines obtain sufficient mRNA and the RT-PCR reaction can detect both control genes, these samples together with a number of patients' samples were tested for house keeping genes and hTERT expression.

The RNA concentration and purity for patients' samples were measured to check the samples integrity using the spectrophotometer where the purity ratio, according to the manufacturer protocol, should be within the following range (1.9-2.1 in 10 mM Tris.CL, pH 7.5). Then their concentration and purity were compared to CACO2 cell line RNA concentration and purity that had positive results for GAPDH and β-actin. The results are shown in Table 4.1:

Sample no.	Conc. ng/µl	Purity ratio
50c	7	1.19
87a	93	0.8
87b	14	1.2
90a	14	1.2
92a	15	1.18
Normal control	11	1.18
CACO2 cell line	32	1.05

 Table 4.1: RNA concentration and purity

The above table shows that RNA concentration are lower than the CACO2 cell line except sample 87a, and shows that the patients samples and the CACO2 cell line all have low RNA purity. Although the above shows low RNA concentrations and purity it was decided to use the same samples for the next RT-PCR using the same conditions as previously used successfully.

In this experiment the 1.2 % w/v agarose gel demonstrated faint bands in samples 8 (87a) and 9 (50c) at approximately 215 bp which is the correct-sized band for hTERT mRNA expression which could be explained by the insufficient RNA concentration in patients' samples, its low purity or a combination of both factors (Figure 4.3).





Tube 1: $ddH_2O + GAPDH$ primers Tube 2: normal volunteer + GAPDH primers Tube 3: $ddH_2O + LR$ -hTERT primers Tube 4: normal volunteer + LR-hTERT primers Tube 5: Sample 92a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 6: Sample 90a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 7: Sample 87b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 8: Sample 87a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 9: Sample 50c + LR-hTERT primers

As the RNA concentration and purity in the samples used were low, it was decided to

increase the number of RT-PCR cycles in this experiment from 35 to 40 cycles in order to

get a higher yield of RT-PCR products. The previous experiment was repeated using the same samples as two of these samples demonstrated positive hTERT bands, in addition GAPDH primers and CACO2 cell line were used (Figure 4.4).



Figure 4.4 RT-PCR increased to 40 cycles to get a higher yield of RT-PCR products

Tube 1: Sample 50c + LR-hTERT primers Tube 2: Sample 50c + GAPDH primers Tube 3: Sample 87a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 4: Sample 87a + GAPDH primers Tube 5: Sample 87b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 6: Sample 87b + GAPDH primers Tube 7: Sample 90a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 8: Sample 90a + GAPDH primers Tube 9: Sample 92a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 10: Sample 92a + GAPDH primers Tube 11: normal control + LR-hTERT primers Tube 12: normal control + GAPDH primers Tube 13: CACO2 + LR-hTERT primers Tube 14: CACO2 + GAPDH primers

Figure 4.4 showed that samples 2, 8 and 14 had expression of RT-PCR products when

GAPDH primers were used in two patients samples and CACO2 cell line (at band 450

bp), but none of the samples expressed hTERT mRNA which could be due to the insufficient mRNA concentration in the samples.

As the result of the above it was decided to extract RNA from new patients' serum samples and use them as fresh in order to avoid any RNA degradation and use new LRhTERT primers and hTERT primers that were used in Chen *et al* and Lledo *et al* studies (Chen et al. 2000) (Lledo et al. 2004) in order to compare them to the LR-hTERT primers, these new hTERT are:

CHEN-hTERT FOR: 5'-TGA CAC CTC ACC TCA CCC-3' CHEN-hTERT REV: 5'-CAC TG CTT CCG CAA GTT CAC-3' LLEDO-hTERT FOR: 5'-ACC GTC TGC GTG AGG AGA TC-3' LLEDO-hTERT REV: 5'-CCG GTA GAA AAA AGA GCC TGT TC -3' Furthermore new ddH₂O and GAPDH primers were used to avoid contamination.



Figure 4.5 There are two faint bands at around 450 bp in columns 22 and 25.

- Tube 1: Sample 9a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 2: Sample 9b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 3: Sample 11a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 4: Sample 11b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 5: Sample 19a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 6: Sample 19b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 7: ddH₂O + LR-hTERT primers Tube 8: 9a + GAPDH primers Tube 9: 9b + GAPDH primers Tube 10: 11a + GAPDH primers Tube 11: 11b + GAPDH primers Tube 12: 19a + GAPDH primers
- Tube 13: 19b+ GAPDH primers Tube 14: ddH₂O + GAPDH primer Tube 15: 9a + CHEN-hTERT primers Tube 16: 9b + CHEN-hTERT primers Tube 17: 9a + LLEDO-hTERT primers Tube 18: 9b + LLEDO-hTERT primers Tube 19: 9a + β -actin primers Tube 20: 9b + β -actin primers Tube 21: CACO2 + LR-hTERT primers Tube 22: CACO2 + GAPDH primers Tube 23: CACO2 + CHEN-hTERT primers Tube 24: CACO2 + LLEDO-hTERT primers Tube 25: CACO2 + β -actin primers

This experiment again has failed to demonstrate hTERT expression. There were 2 samples, only positive with β-actin and GAPDH primers used (samples 22 and 25). Furthermore the gel was difficult to analyse, as it was difficult to differentiate between the bands that were created by hTERT expression or the bands of the starting template, in order to over come this obstacle 3% w/v agarose gel was used instead of the 1.2% w/v agarose. The 3% w/v gel has the ability to give wider spaces between bands of a small

size and hence can differentiate between the bands created by hTERT expression or the starting template.

The following RT-PCR (Figure 4.6) was performed using two colon cancer cell lines with the available hTERT primers and 3% w/v agarose gel used for electrophoresis.



Figure 4.6 Demonstrates bright bands at 450 bp and 214 bp

Tube 1: $ddH_2O + LR$ -hTERT primers Tube 2: $ddH_2O + GAPDH$ primers Tube 3: CACO2 + LR-hTERT primers Tube 4: $LoVo + \beta$ -actin primers Tube 5: LoVo + GAPDH primers Tube 6: LoVo + LLEDO-hTERT primers Tube 7: LoVo + CHEN-hTERT primers Tube 8: LoVo + LR-hTERT primers

From this experiment it was concluded that Both LoVo and CACO2 have expressed

hTERT mRNA (band 214 bp) when the LR-hTERT primers were used but not CHEN-

hTERT and LLEDO-hTERT primers, and both LoVo and CACO2 produced a bright

band at around 450 bp when the ß-actin and GAPDH primers were used. This experiment

was repeated on two occasions and was successful.

Having succeeded in detecting hTERT mRNA using the appropriate cancer cell lines and hTERT primers, the experiment was repeated applying the same conditions using patients' serum samples from which the RNA was freshly extracted (Figure 4.7).



Figure 4.7 RT-PCR using patients' serum samples

Tube 1: LoVo 10% + LR-hTERT primers Tube 2: LoVo + LR-hTERT primers Tube 3: ddH₂O + LR-hTERT primers Tube 4: normal control + LR-hTERT primers Tube 5: Sample 85b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 6: Sample 84a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 7: Sample 83a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 8: Sample 82 a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 9: Sample 81b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 10: Sample 81a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 11: Sample 80b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 12: Sample 80a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 13: Sample 79a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 14: Sample 78a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 15: Sample 77a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 16: Sample 76b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 17: Sample 76a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 18: Sample 75b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 19: Sample 74a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 20: Sample 74a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 21: Sample 72b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 22: Sample 72a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 23: Sample 71b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 24: Sample 71a + LR-hTERT primers The results (Figure 4.7) of this experiment were very encouraging, as LoVo cancer cell line expressed hTERT mRNA and Samples 19,20,22,23, and 13 may have expressed hTERT mRNA.

In order to check the integrity of the results the experiment was repeated on the positive samples (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.8 All patients' samples expressed hTERT mRNA

Tube 1: CACO2 + LR-hTERT Tube 2: LoVo + LR-hTERT primers Tube 3: ddH₂O + LR-hTERT primers Tube 4: Sample 72a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 5: Sample 73b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 6: Sample 74a + LR-hTERT primers Tube 7: Sample 75b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 8: Sample 76b + LR-hTERT primers Tube 9: Sample 79a + LR-hTERT primers

Based upon the encouraging results above, RNA was extracted from 42 new samples of patients' serum and using the same RT-PCR conditions it could not give any positive results, in fact the products were smeared on the 3% w/v agarose gel with no obvious

explanation (Figure 4.9), the only possibility was water contamination, the water was replaced with a new one but still the results were negative, the experiment was repeated many time on the new samples but never managed to get positive results again. As a result of continuous inconsistency of the experiment and lack of positive RT-PCR on serum samples it was decided not to pursue this approach.



Figure 4.9 3% w/v agarose gel with smeared products

4.3 Conclusion

This study failed to find a standard reliable technique that could detect hTERT mRNA in serum samples of CRC as hTERT mRNA was only detected in 6 samples out of all other samples. Such approach has been reported previously and the discrepancy could be for a number of reasons;

1) The first reason could be the source of samples, where in this study serum samples of CRC patients were used. Two studies used RT-PCR on serum samples, the first on breast cancer patients (Chen et al. 2000) and the other using hepatocellular cancer (Miura, N. et

al. 2003), both studies managed to produce positive results using the same methods as applied in this thesis, but both studies have not commented on the duration of sample storage, hTERT expression was also detected intracellularly in the peripheral blood in 46% of patients with gastric cancer using red blood cell (RBC) lysis followed by RT-PCR (Shin et al. 2002), and detected in 29/55 (53 percent) patients with hepatocellular carcinoma using immunomagnetic separation technique to isolate CTC followed by RT-PCR (Waguri et al. 2003).

Furthermore hTERT mRNA has been detected in the plasma samples of CRC patients.(Lledo et al. 2004) peripheral blood samples of 50 patients using real time PCR, it was found that 82% of CRC patients had hTERT mRNA expression values higher than the maximum values of normal control and the sensitivity and the specificity of the assay were 98% and 64% respectively. The fact that plasma samples alone were used in this study, without an attempt to first isolate tumour cells by means of immunomagnetic separation, could explain the high level of detection of hTERT expression, as transcription of telomerase from non-tumour sources such as activated lymphocytes would have been possible.

In 2007 Uen *et al* used a (Uen et al. 2007) Membrane-arrays consisting of a panel of mRNA markers that included hTERT, CK19, CK20, and CEA mRNA were used to detect CTCs in the peripheral blood of 194 stage II CRC patients who underwent potentially curative resection. Digoxigenin (DIG)-labelled cDNA were amplified by RT-PCR from the peripheral blood samples, which were then hybridized to the membrane-array. All patients were followed up regularly, and their outcomes were investigated completely. Fifty-three of 194 (27.3%) stage II patients were detected with the expression

110

of all 4 mRNA markers using the membrane-array method. After a median follow up of 40 months, 56 of 194 (28.9%) developed recurrence/metastases postoperatively. Univariately, postoperative relapse was significantly correlated with the depth of invasion (P < 0.001), the presence of vascular invasion (P < 0.001), the presence of perineural invasion (P = 0.048), the expression of all 4 mRNA markers (P < 0.001), and the number of examined lymph nodes (P = 0.031). Meanwhile, using a multivariate logistic regression analysis, T4 depth of tumour invasion (P = 0.013), the presence of vascular invasion (P = 0.032), and the expression of all 4 mRNA markers (P < 0.001) were demonstrated to be independent predictors for postoperative relapse. Combination of the depth of tumour invasion, vascular invasion, and all 4 mRNA markers as predictors of postoperative relapse showed that patients with any 1 positive predictor had a hazard ratio of about 27-fold to develop postoperative relapse (P < 0.001; 95% CI = 11.42-64.40). The interval between the detection of all 4 positive molecular markers and subsequently developed postoperative relapse ranged from 4 to 10 months (median: 7 months). Furthermore, the expression of all 4 mRNA markers in all stage II CRC patients, or either stage II colon or rectal cancer patients were strongly correlated with poorer relapse-free survival rates by survival analyses (all P < 0.001). This study concluded that the constructed membrane-array method for the detection of CTCs is a potential auxiliary tool to conventional clinicopathological variables for the prediction of postoperative relapse in stage II CRC patients who have undergone curative resection. This study is the first one to study the prognostic value of hTERT mRNA as a tumour marker as the patients were followed up over a period of 40 months.

111

2) The second explanation is the duration of storage; the samples in this study were stored at a temperature of -80^C for a period ranging between few days to few months; the long duration of the samples could have degraded the RNA present in the samples. The third explanation for the discrepancy in the results, are the conditions of RT-PCR; i.e. single or multiplex, number of PCR cycles and if the PCR is standard, nested or real time. RT-PCR is a very sensitive technique that could give variable results depending on the conditions applied, the previous studies used different condition, hence the discrepancy in their results, although it is hard to compare between their results as each study dealt with cancers of different origins.

At the end of this chapter it is recommended that there is an urgent need to define a standard technique, not requiring excessive time and labour input, which can be utilised by different groups to undertake large, well-controlled, randomized studies on the markers with most promise.

CHAPTER 5

Detection of circulating tumour cells in the peripheral blood of CRC patients

This chapter describes the use of the TeloTAGGG PCR-ELISA to identify circulating colorectal tumour cells

5.1 Introduction

Nearly half of all CRC patients who undergo curative resection relapse as a result of occult metastases (the presence of CTC). In 1869 Ashworth as cited in Ghossein and Bhattacharya (Ghossein and Bhattacharya 2000) was the first to describe CTC. CTC are a potential cause of metastases and subsequently disease relapse particularly following surgery; therefore the presence or absence of CTC could be an important prognostic factor, and an indicator for the decision concerning adjuvant treatment and follow-up.(Hardingham et al. 1995)

Telomerase has been used as a diagnostic marker to detect CTC in tissue, bone marrow and blood samples (section 1.6). It has the advantage of being both highly cancer specific and an indicator for the detection of viable tumour cells.

The aims of this study were to:

- Determine the prognostic value of telomerase activity in CTC in a previous cohort of patients with CRC.
- Assess the validity of using the TeloTAGGG[™] Telomerase PCR ELISA to identify CTC.

5.2 Prognostic value of telomerase activity in CTC

A previous retrospective study was undertaken on a cohort of 34 patients who underwent curative resection for CRC in Hull. Peripheral blood samples were taken pre- and 1 week post operatively from all patients and from 10 healthy normal controls with the same age and sex-match. A mononuclear cell preparation was made by density centrifugation, epithelial tumour cells were isolated using Dynabeads coupled with Ber-EP4 and telomerase activity was assessed using TeloTAGGG PCR-ELISA assay as mentioned in

114

the methods and material chapter section 2.3 and 2.4. The study was carried out by Dr R Loveday (University of Hull) (Loveday et al. 2004) in order to detect the presence of CTC via telomerase activity in the pre and post operative samples and to determine its diagnostic value.

In this thesis the same patients were followed up over a period of time and the mortality and recurrence rates of those patients were correlated with presence of CTC as assessed by telomerase activity.

5.2.1 Results

Thirty four patients underwent a surgical resection for CRC. The clinicopathological data and telomerase status are shown in Table 5.1.

In this study there were 22 males (65%) and 12 (35%) females, the mean age was 64 (range 30-81). Half of the tumours were located in the rectum and the remaining cases were distributed throughout the colon. In this study 15% of the tumours were Dukes A, 35% Dukes B, 29% Dukes C and 21% Dukes D. The mean time from diagnosis to last follow up was 47.5 months. Telomerase activity was detected in 32% of the pre-operative samples and 56% of the post-operative samples and was not detected in any of the healthy control samples. CTC presence did not correlate to the tumour site or Dukes stage. Seventeen (50%) patients developed recurrence or metastases with a mean time of 18.2 months. Three patients out of 11 (27%) were positive for CTC in their pre-operative sample, and 8 out of 19 (42%) with positive CTC in their post-operative samples died as a result of metastases.

Patient						
No.	Tumour Site	Dukes	Follow up	Recurrence	Pre-op CTC	Post-op CTC
1	Rectum	А	58	No	Positive	Positive
2	Rectum	A	48	Yes	Negative	Negative
3	Rectum	A	68	No	Positive	Negative
4	Sigmoid	А	50	No	Negative	Positive
5	Rectum	А	50	Yes	Negative	Positive
6	Rectum	В	57	Yes	Positive	Positive
7	Transverse colon	В	55	No	Negative	Negative
8	Rectum	В	15	Yes	Positive	Positive
9	Sigmoid	В	42	Yes	Positive	Negative
10	Descending colon	В	50	No	Positive	Positive
11	Sigmoid	В	51	Yes	Negative	Positive
12	Rectum	В	53	No	Negative	Negative
13	Sigmoid	В	53	No	Negative	Negative
14	Sigmoid	В	54	No	Negative	Positive
15	Sigmoid	В	53	No	Negative	Negative
16	Sigmoid	В	50	No	Negative	Negative
17	Sigmoid	В	49	No	Positive	Positive
18	Rectum	С	58	No	Positive	Positive
19	Sigmoid	С	58	No	Negative	Positive
20	Rectum	С	67	No	Positive	Positive
21	Rectum	С	47	Yes	Negative	Negative
22	Sigmoid	С	53	Yes	Positive	Negative
23	Sigmoid	С	59	No	Negative	Positive
24	Rectum	С	56	Yes	Negative	Positive
25	Rectum	С	48	No	Negative	Positive
26	Rectum	С	57	Yes	Negative	Negative
27	Rectum	С	53	No	Negative	Positive
28	Rectum	D	56	Yes	Negative	Positive
29	Rectum	D	31	Yes	Negative	Negative
30	Sigmoid	D	29	Yes	Negative	Negative
31	Sigmoid	D	21	Yes	Negative	Negative
32	Rectum	D	6	Yes	Negative	Negative
33	Transverse colon	D	8	Yes	Negative	Positive
34	Sigmoid	D	53	Yes	Positive	Positive

Table 5.1: Patients' clinicopathological data

M: male, F: female (Loveday et al. 2004)

Five out of 11 patients (45%) with positive CTC in their pre-operative samples and 8 out of 19 patients (42%) with positive CTC in their post operative samples developed recurrence or metastases. Eight (23.5%) patients had CTC detected in both pre and pos-

operative samples; 3 of which developed recurrence or metastases and 2 died of metastatic disease.

The above results showed no significant statistical correlation between the presence of CTC in peripheral blood and recurrence or mortality rates.

5.2.2 Conclusion

This study has demonstrated that the use of immunomagnetic separation of the tumour cells from the PBMC, and the use of the TeloTAGGG PCR-ELISA assay for the detection of CTC and telomerase activity in the peripheral blood of CRC patients to be specific where 32% of pre-operative samples and 56% post-operative samples were positive. However this small cohort study has failed to demonstrate any correlation between the presence of CTC and the disease stage. The presence of CTC in peripheral blood was shown to have no prognostic value after a median follow up of 47.5 months. Based on the result of this small cohort study it was decided to perform a prospective study on a larger scale in order to confirm the findings.

5.3 Detection of Telomerase activity in circulating epithelial cells by Telomerase PCR ELISA

5.3.1 Methods

A prospective study was undertaken on a cohort of 98 patients who underwent curative resection for CRC. Peripheral blood samples were taken pre- and 4-6 weeks post operatively and if the patients were receiving chemotherapy further blood samples were obtained on a monthly interval. Methods and materials described in section 2.3 and 2.4 were used for cell isolation and telomerase activation.

117

5.3.2 The conception of TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA

1) Telomeric Repeat Amplification Protocol assay (TRAP)

A biotin-labelled synthetic P1-TS-primer and a 216 bp internal standard (IS) are provided in the kit. The IS is an internal amplification control that allows detection of *Taq* DNA polymerase inhibitors. It has been reported that some tissue samples contain inhibitors of *Taq* DNA polymerase (Wright et al. 1995), thus giving false-negative results when analysed for telomerase activity. Therefore an IS has been used in order to identify false negative tumour samples.

In this first step if telomerase is present in patients' samples the enzyme will add telomeric repeats (TTAGGG) to the 3'-end of the biotin-labeled synthetic P1-TS-primer. The elongation products as well as the IS are subsequently amplified by PCR using the primers P1-TS and the anchor-primer P2 to allow highly sensitive detection of telomerase activity.

To confirm the specificity of product formation in the TRAP assay, samples were split into two groups. One group was treated with heat for 10 min at 85°C to inactivate telomerase protein prior to the TRAP assay.

2) ELISA (Enzyme Linked Immuno-Sorbent Assay) (see section 2.4):

Briefly the PCR products were denatured and hybridized separately to digoxigenin-(DIG)-labeled detection probes, specific for the telomeric repeats (P3-T) and for the (IS) (P3-Std), respectively. The resulting products were then immobilized via the biotin label to a streptavidin-coated microplate, and subsequently detected with an antibody against digoxigenin that is conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (Anti-DIG-HRP). A peroxidase substrate TMB (3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine) is then added to the plate which induces a colour change that can be measured on a plate reader A_{450nm} - A_{690nm} .

5.3.3 Data analysis

Negative Control

Controls should be considered as negative only when their values are less than $0.1A_{450nm}$ - $A_{690nm\ units}$ when analyzed with the telomerase specific detection probe (P3-T). If the telomerase-specific values are higher than that, the entire experiment —including the TRAP reaction— should be repeated with prolonged heat.

Positive Control

The values for low and high controls should be in the range of 0.2–0.5 and 2.0–4.0 absorbance unit (after 10 min substrate reaction) respectively as set by the manufacturer protocol.

Samples

Samples are to be considered as telomerase-positive if the difference in absorbance (ΔA) between the negative controls and samples is higher than the twofold background activity (background activity = value of negative control or heat-treated sample).

5.3.4 Results

The full details of the patients' clinicopathological status were shown previously in chapter 4 (Table 4.1 chapter 4).

The patients' samples, positive and negative controls were arranged in the ELISA plate in the following order as shown in Figure 5.1

	1 S + TB	2 S + TB	3 <mark>S/S + TB</mark>	4 S + TB	5 S + TB	6 S + IS	7 S + IS	8 S + IS
А	H + TB	S + TB	S +TB	S + TB	S + TB	H + IS	S + IS	S + IS
В	L + TB	S + TB	S +TB	S + TB	S + TB	L + IS	S + IS	S + IS
С	LB + TB	S + TB	S +TB	S + TB	S + TB	LB + IS	S + IS	S + IS
D	S + TB	S + TB	S +TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + IS	S + IS	S + IS
Е	S + TB	S + TB	S +TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + IS	S + IS	S + IS
F	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + IS	S + IS	
G	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + IS	S + IS	
н	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + TB	S + IS	S + IS	

Figure 5.1 Samples distribution on ELISA plate

H: High positive control L: Low positive control LB: Lysis buffer TB: Telomerase buffer S: heat treated samples S: None heat treated samples **IS:** Internal standard

In the experiment PBMC lysates were extracted from patients' samples, and were kept frozen before they were used for the TeloTAGGG assay. The protein concentration was determined using Coomassie Plus kit (section 2.4.2).

The study protocol set the level of protein content in the sample lysates to be $0.2\mu g/\mu l$ hence the samples were then standardised to $0.2\mu g/\mu l$ by dilution with lysis buffer. The manufacturer's recommendation for the TeloTAGGG assay is $0.5-10\mu g$ total protein per tube. Table 5.2 shows that some samples had sufficient protein concentration for TeloTAGGG assay with exception of samples highlighted in red. The low protein concentration in some samples could be due to its relatively low cell numbers in the CTC preparation during storage in liquid nitrogen before extracting the cell lysates and/or due to the fact that the cell lysates were frozen for more than 4-6 weeks before using them for TeloTAGGG assay and hence some protein may have been lost.

Sample number	Sample Concentration µg/µl
19#5	4.2
19#6	0.1
21#5	0.1
21#6	3.1
28#2	2.8
31#2	3.6
34#2	3.5
36#3	2
39#2	0.3
41#2	3.2
44#2	0.1
45#2	0.6
53#1	3
54#2	0.1
56#1	4
57#3	0.1
62#1	0.2
63#1	2.6

 Table 5.2: Protein concentration of cell lysates

Table 5.3 shows the results of the TeloTAGGG assay, where the high and low controls were positive when telomerase and internal standard (TB, IS) buffers were used in fact both were higher than expected as the values for low and high controls should be in the range of 0.2–0.5 and 2.0–4.0 respectively as set by the manufacturer protocol.

N.B. The first number indicates the patient number and the #x indicates the number of sample, for an example 19#6 means; blood sample number 6 from patient number 19

Furthermore the lysis buffer tube was negative indicating that there was no contamination.

Looking at the samples inactivated with heat (negative controls) most of them had negative results with the exception of the samples highlighted in red; this could be as a result of insufficient inactivation with heat or could represent some sort of contamination hence the associated results should be considered carefully. Most of the IS (the positive controls) were significantly positive and were 2 fold higher than that of the negative controls (lysis buffer and heat treated samples) with the exception of the samples highlighted in gray, this could be due to the presence of telomerase inhibitors in these samples. In the TB samples only sample 19#5 was positive where it was 2 fold higher than the negative control.

	C+ IS	C + TB	Sample no.	HT + TB	NHT + TB	NHT + IS
Н	2.599	2.93	19#5	0.046	0.222	2.577
L	1.657	1.893	19#6	0.066	0.036	2.682
LS	0.04	0.056	21#5	0.075	0.052	3.039
			21#6	0.074	0.049	2.52
			28#2	0.045	0.051	0.054
			31#2	0.49	0.041	0.048
			34#2	0.065	0.067	1.832
			36#3	0.083	0.058	2.344
			39#2	<mark>0.139</mark>	0.059	2.702
			41#2	0.046	0.045	0.055
			44#2	0.081	0.059	2.951
			45#2	0.114	0.045	2.82
			53#1	0.08	0.07	2.325
			54#2	0.086	0.059	2.814
			56#1	0.124	0.083	2.179
			57#3	<mark>0.143</mark>	0.057	3.11
			62#1	0.051	0.055	2.837
			63#1	0.05	0.064	2.828

Table 5.3: An example TeloTAGGG assay

H: High L: Low LS: Lysis buffer C: Control IS: Internal standard HT: Heat treated TB: Telomerase buffer NHT: None heat treated

The same experiment was repeated using another set of 18 samples, where the cell lysates were more than 4-6 weeks old. Some samples had a very low protein concentration with the exception of few samples highlighted in pink which meant that the samples were used undiluted for the PCR reaction. Tables 5.4 and 5.5 demonstrate the results of these experiments.

Sample number	Sample Concentration µg/µl
19#4	0.16
21#2	0.1
21#4	0.07
23#2	0.16
24#2	0.09
35#1	0.18
35#2	<mark>3.4</mark>
35#3	<mark>0.3</mark>
36#1	0.7
36#2	0.7
36#3	<mark>3.4</mark>
41#3	<mark>2.8</mark>
46#1	0.08
46#2	<mark>3.1</mark>
46#3	0.1
47#1	0.3
47#2	0.8
47#3	0.25

Table 5.4: Protein concentrations

	C + IS	C + TB	Sample no.	HT + TB	NHT + TB	NHT + IS
Н	1.35	0.3	19#4	0.038	0.04	2.85
L	1.12	0.08	21#2	0.062	0.056	3.13
LB	0.9	0.04	21#4	0.042	0.04	4.95
			23#2	0.041	0.043	2.52
			24#2	0.04	0.047	3.12
			35#1	0.034	0.037	0.7
			35#2	0.035	0.041	0.045
			35#3	0.036	0.032	1.91
			36#1	0.036	0.039	0.399
			36#2	0.028	0.041	0.157
			36#3	0.037	0.041	0.587
			41#3	0.033	0.043	0.033
			46#1	0.039	0.042	2.39
			46#2	0.04	0.042	0.042
			46#3	0.035	0.039	1.61
			47#1	0.039	0.042	1
			47#2	0.039	0.036	0.503
			47#3	0.038	0.062	0.037

 Table 5.5: TeloTAGGG assay

H: High L: Low LS: Lysis buffer C: Control IS: Internal standard HT: Heat treated TB: Telomerase buffer NHT: None heat treated

Table 5.5 demonstrates that the standard positive high and low controls were positive, again the low control is higher than it should be according to the manufacturer's instructions, which could be due to contamination. All of the samples cell lysates used with TB were negative and some of the cell lysates when used with the IS showed

negative results. In this experiment increasing the protein content of the sample lysates did not increase the ability of detecting CTC using the TeloTAGGG assay.

In the next step it was decided to extract the cell lysates and use them for TeloTAGGG assay immediately without any storage period in order to prevent any potential protein degradation.

	C + IS	C + TB	Sample no.	HT + TB	NHT + TB	NHT + IS
Н	3.330	2.8	44#1	0.091	0.052	2.156
L	2.835	1.58	67#1	0.085	0.078	1.797
LB	0.04	0.032	67#2	0.061	0.072	1.952
			68#1	0.065	0.055	2.134
			68#2	0.083	0.048	2.133
			69#1	0.132	0.047	2.695
			69#2	0.154	0.043	2.498
			70#1	0.138	0.039	2.309
			71#1	0.077	0.059	1.141
			72#1	0.083	0.044	1.367
			73#1	0.068	0.043	1.511
			74#1	<mark>0.066</mark>	0.481	1.64
			75#1	0.073	<mark>0.418</mark>	1.402
			76#1	0.12	0.318	2.528
			77#1	0.108	0.254	1.741
			78#1	0.176	0.169	1.477
			79#1	0.147	0.181	1.633
			80#1	0.056	0.062	0.674

 Table 5.6: TeloTAGGG assay

H: High L: Low LS: Lysis buffer C: Control IS: Internal standard HT: Heat treated TB: Telomerase buffer NHT: None heat treated

Four patients' samples with acceptable protein concentrations, according to the protocol,

when used with TB, showed positive results.

Two samples were higher than their negative controls by 2 folds (blue colour) and the remaining (highlighted in red) where only 2-3 times higher than there negative controls (0.318/0.120), (0.254/0.108) (Table 5.6).

To verify the results 2 further TeloTAGGG assay were undertaken using freshly extracted cell lysates: 4 samples out of 35 were telomerase positive. The positive and negative controls on the plates all gave the appropriate values. After these two experiments 3 further Telo*TAGGG* kits were used on freshly extracted cell lysates from 46 samples, all of the 3 assays failed to detect any telomerase activity. When the positive standard controls and the cell lysates used with IS buffers were studied none of them showed any positive results which raise up the suspicion of a technical failure of the kit and and as a result the experiment was ended.

Although the aim of this experiment was to correlate the telomerase activity in the CTC samples, stage of the disease and its prognosis. It was difficult in this study to make any correlation as there were only few positive results and not possible to analyse all samples as a result of the faulty batches used later in the experiments. The majority of the patients analysed were in the Dukes' C stage and only one patient has Dukes' A Table 5.7 shows the clinicopathological status of the patients with the positive results.

NO	SEX	AGE	DUKE	METS	DEATH
14	М	80	А	Ν	Ν
16	F	72	С	Ν	Ν
19	М	64	С	Ν	Ν
23	F	53	D	Ν	Ν
24	F	59	D	LIVER	Ν
71	М	47	С	Ν	N
74	F	64	С	Ν	Ν
75	М	56	D	Ν	Ν
76	М	61	В	Ν	Ν
77	М	72	D	LIVER	Ν
79	F	78	В	Ν	N
84	М	68	С	N	N
92	F	72	В	N	N
93	F	69	С	N	N

Table 5.7: Patients with positive telomerase activity

5.4 Summary

In this chapter the aim was to detect telomerase activity using TeloTAGGG assay, in total assays were performed on independent 132 samples, fourteen samples showed positive telomerase activity (11%). In this study 36 samples, in which the cell lysates had been stored for \geq 4-6 weeks before use, were assayed with only one positive result (3%). A further 71 samples were analysed immediately after cell lysing and 9 (13%) were found to be positive for telomerase activity. One of these assays was performed in collaboration with a colleague (Mr. D Beral) working in the same laboratory, where telomerase activity was detected in 4 out of 25 samples tested, the cell lysates used in this assay were stored for less than 4 weeks and when the assay was repeated 2 and 4 weeks after the first experiment the same samples gave negative results. In fact in this study it was not

possible to get positive results on repeated samples, which strongly suggests that storage leads to the loss of telomerase activity.

5.5 Conclusions and recommendations

In this experiment telomerase activity was detected in CTC however some difficulties were encountered using the above kit, and this experiment has raised a number of questions.

5.5.1 The validity of IMS technique

The efficiency of IMS technique in isolating CTC from PBMC has been checked by a colleague (Mr. D. Beral) who clearly demonstrated the ability of Dynabeads covered with BerEP4 antibody to isolate BerEP4 expressing cells. Cancer cell that express BerEP4 and others that do not express BerEP4 were mixed with Dynabeads covered with BerEP4 antibody and this was observed under the microscope. The pictures showed that the cell lines that express BerEP4 were attached to the Dynabeads coated with the relevant antibody (Figure 5.2 & 5.3)



Figure 5.2 BerEP4-Dynabeads with no cells attached after mixing with BerEP4negative cell line (CaCO-2) and extraction with magnet. Provided by D. Beral



Figure 5.3 BerEP4-Dynabeads attached to cells after mixing with a BerEP4-positive cell line (MCF-7) and extraction using the magnet. Provided by D. Beral

5.5.2 Protein concentrations of cell lysates used in TeloTAGGG assay

The study protocol set the level of protein content in the sample lysates to 0.2µg/µl using the modified Bradford assay. The manufacturer's recommendation for the TeloTAGGG assay was 0.5-10µg total protein per tube, therefore with 3µl per reaction tube there was 0.6µg total protein per tube. This level was deliberately chosen to be at the lower end of the recommended range in order to reduce the risk of false positive results and had been used previously within this laboratory (Loveday et al. 2004). After initial assays on study cohort samples it became apparent that very few samples were giving positive results. It was hypothesised that the protein content may have been set too low. To test this, undiluted samples were used in order to increase the protein content in the lysates but none of the samples gave positive results for telomerase thus not supporting the hypothesis that the protein content was set too low.

5.5.3 The duration of samples storage

In this experiment 36 samples in which the cell lysates had been stored for \geq 4-6 weeks before use were assayed with only one positive result (3%). A further 71 samples were analysed immediately after cell lysing and 9 (13%) were found to be positive for telomerase activity. In a previous experiments performed by Mr. Beral the 4/25 positive samples failed to reproduce positive results after storage for an additional 2 and 4 weeks. Together these experiments strongly suggest that the fresher the cell lysates the more likely they are to produce positive results. As it seems that there is a degree of protein degradation during the period of cell lysates storage. This conclusion is supported when the data was compared to Loveday study (Loveday et al. 2004), as in this study the

131
isolated CTC were lysed only few days after storage and TRAP assay was performed on the samples within 2-4 weeks of storing the cell lysates.

Furthermore it was hypothesised that the longer the CTC are frozen in liquid nitrogen the higher the chance of protein degradation, hence the lesser the chance of telomerase detection. To investigate this hypothesis the samples were divided into two groups. The first group contained the patients with positive telomerase results and the second group was the one with negative results. The time between CTC isolation and their lysis was determined for each group. It was shown that the samples with the positive telomerase were stored for an average period of 28 days (range 2-60) whereas the negative telomerase group was stored for an average of 73 days (range 1-275), fully supporting the above hypothesis. Furthermore the results of Gauthier *et al* study support this hypothesis (Gauthier et al. 2001) where 8/11 (72%) of Duke's A patients were telomerase positive, in this study the samples were lysed and stored without a period of storage to the isolated epithelial cells.

5.5.4 The validity of the TeloTAGGG kits

The manufacturers were contacted for advice regarding the persistently negative results in the last batch to see if any systematic error in performing the assay could be identified, despite having followed the manufacturers' instructions. No such error was able to be identified, however it was noted that the kit was subsequently withdrawn from the market, with no explanation.

In conclusion isolated CTC should be stored in liquid nitrogen for only a short period of time before extracting cell lysates and the cell lysates should be prepared for assay

immediately before performing the assay as long as there is no faulty technique with the assay used.

CHAPTER 6 Discussion

In this chapter the wider implications of the work reported in this thesis will be discussed

6.1 CTL response against tumour cells

The catalytic subunit of telomerase (hTERT) has been widely considered to be a universal tumour antigen and has the potential to be a major factor in future cancer immunotherapy since it is expressed by most human tumours but is absent in the majority of normal tissues. It also plays a universal role in tumourgenesis, and its peptide sequences have been recognized by the T cell repertoire in an MHC restricted manner. Seven synthetic peptides derived from hTERT that induce specific CTL response have been investigated to date; four of these peptides react with CTL in an HLA-A2 restricted manner (Vonderheide et al. 1999) (Scardino et al. 2002); a fifth peptide acts in an HLA-A3 restricted manner (Vonderheide et al. 2001) and the final two peptides bind in an HLA-A24 restricted manner (Arai et al. 2001).

In this thesis 2 peptides were used [hTERT (I540 and P865)] that react with CTL in an HLA-A2 restricted manner and hTERT (K973) that acts in an HLA-A3 restricted manner.

Thirty patients with CRC were studied for CTL reaction. The results showed that 70% of the patients were HLA-A2 positive, 10% HLA-A3 positive and 20% were HLA2/A3 positive. Twenty eight pre-operative samples and thirteen post-operative samples were analysable, 71% of pre-operative samples and 61% post-operative samples had CTL reaction towards hTERT peptides whether in an HLA-A2, HLA-A3 or HLA2/A3 restricted manner.

On analysis the results appear to be higher than the results obtained by Titu *et al* who studied the T-cell response against the same two HLA-A2 specific peptides of hTERT (I540 and P865) in 37 CRC patients and 12 normal controls (Titu et al. 2004). Their

results demonstrate that CTL active against hTERT are present in only 20% of CRC patients. There are two explanations for the discrepancy in the results of both studies; the first explanation is that in our study the specific number of spots was calculated by subtracting the number of cells present in the well with no peptide (negative control well) from the number of cells present with peptides, and samples were considered positive only if the value was ≥ 1 . Whereas in the study of Titu and colleagues the samples were considered positive only when the number of the spots with peptides were ≥ 16 spots which is the threshold level calculated from the cells with no peptides. In his study the mean and the standard deviation was calculated for the number of spots in the control wells with no peptides, and a threshold level was set by adding 3 standard deviations to the mean, his method was previously used by Pittet *et al.* (Pittet et al. 1999). The second explanation is that in this study another hTERT peptide was added which might have contributed for the higher results.

Our results were more similar to Amarnath *et al* (Amarnath et al. 2004) results who investigated the specific CD8⁺ CTL response in primary breast cancer patients. In her study of 45 patients using the same methods and peptides as utilised in this thesis, CTL recognized HLA-A2 P540 and P865 peptides in 76% and 47% respectively, CTL recognized both HLA-A2 peptides in 47% of patients and CTL recognized HLA-A3 K973 peptides in 71% patients.

Furthermore our results appear to contradict those of Vonderheide *et al.* (Vonderheide et al. 2001) who were unable to detect a CTL response against hTERT-P540 peptide in freshly isolated PBMC from either cancer or normal controls. This could be due to a number of reasons; firstly in their experiments they analysed samples from 8 patients

only which make it possible to have missed the ones with circulating CTL; secondly the patients analysed were of various histologies (multiple myeloma, melanoma, lymphoma and prostate cancer) and none of them had CRC which, makes it difficult to compare directly between the two studies; and finally in their study only one hTERT peptide was used compared with 3 peptides in the present work.

6.1.1 Clinical trials of hTERT immunotherapy and future work

Multiple phase 1 clinical trials of hTERT immunotherapy have already been conducted in patients with advanced cancer, each of which test the hypothesis that hTERT-specific vaccination can overcome immunological tolerance and trigger anti-tumour T cell responses *in vivo*. Main findings include the induction of hTERT-specific T cells in the absence of toxicity. Objective clinical responses have been rarely reported, but no study yet has been statistically powered to measure this endpoint adequately.

Vonderheide and colleagues in 2004 has taken the first step into applying the above laboratory results into clinical practice when they performed a Phase I clinical trial to evaluate the clinical and immunological impact of vaccinating 5 patients with hormone refractory metastatic prostate cancer and 2 patients with metastatic chemotherapy resistant breast cancer with the HLA-A2-restricted hTERT I540 peptide presented with dendritic cells (Vonderheide et al. 2004). hTERT-specific T lymphocytes were induced in 4 of 7 patients with both cancers after vaccination with dendritic cells pulsed with hTERT peptide. Tetramer-guided high-speed sorting and polyclonal expansion achieved highly enriched populations of hTERT-specific cells that killed tumour cells in an MHCrestricted fashion. Partial tumour regression in 1 patient was associated with the induction of CD8+ tumour infiltrating lymphocytes. These results demonstrate the immunological feasibility of vaccinating patients against telomerase and provide rationale for targeting self-antigens with critical roles in oncogenesis.

In another clinical trial, 19 HLA-A2 positive women with metastatic breast cancer were vaccinated subcutaneously with hTERT I540 peptide emulsified in Montanide adjuvant and administered with granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) up to eight times (Domchek et al. 2006). Based on *in vitro* analyses performed on peripheral blood obtained before and after treatment, 68% of patients were found to have responded immunologically. Tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes (TIL) were evident after, but not before vaccination, with 4-13% of post-vaccine CD8+ TIL specific for hTERT I540. Induction of TIL manifested clinically with tumour-site pain and pruritis and pathologically with marked tumour necrosis. Peripheral blood hTERT-specific CD8+ T cells were also induced and shown *in vitro* to proliferate, produce IFN- γ , and lyse tumours. An exploratory landmark analysis revealed an association between an hTERTspecific CD8+ T cell immune response and overall survival in these patients. Interestingly, these clinical and immunological findings were not observed in an earlier study where 14 patients with metastatic cancers (melanoma, renal, colon cancers) and were injected with hTERT I540 in Montanide without GMCSF. Although induction of 1540-specific CTL was observed in 50% of patients without toxicity, CTL isolated ex vivo failed to lyse tumours endogenously expressed telomerase and no clinical benefit was observed (Parkhurst et al. 2004). With the goal of inducing both CD4 and CD8 T cells responses in patients, another trial enrolled 26 patients with non-small cell lung cancer who were repeatedly injected with 2 hTERT peptides; I540 (HLA-A2 peptide) and E611 (DR, DP and DQ peptide) and GM-CSF (Brunsvig et al. 2006). Treatment was well

tolerated and immune responses against E611 were detected in 46% of evaluable patients. A complete tumour response was observed in one patient who developed an immune response following treatment. In a second trial at the same institution, patients with nonresectable pancreatic cancer were immunised with E611 peptide alone, with GM-CSF, with specificT cell responses detected in 63% of patients (Bernhardt et al. 2006.) Median survival for immune responders was significantly higher than that for non-responders. To test the immunogenicity of low-affinity hTERT peptides, two trials enrolled HLA-A2 positive patients. Patients were given subcutaneous injections of 572Y modified peptide in Montanide adjuvant. Nineteen patients with chemotherapy refractory and progressing malignant tumours advanced were treated in a phase I trial (Mavroudis et al. 2006), and 22 patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer were treated in a follow up expanded safety trial Peptide specific T cell responses were observed in the majority of patients without toxicity. In the second trial, estimated overall survival was 30 months for immunological responders vs. 4 months for non-responders (Bolonaki et al. 2007). Another trial testing both I540 and 572Y peptides loaded onto autologous B cells as a vaccine was tested in 15 patients with advanced prostate cancer. Again, immune responses were observed without toxicity (Cortez-Gonzalez and Zanetti 2007). Finally, in the first clinical trial evaluating immunotherapy with full-length hTERT (Su et al. 2005), 20 patients with metastatic prostate cancer were administered autologous dendritic cells transfected with mRNA encoding hTERT with or without the inclusion of a chimeric construct of lysosome-associated membrane protein-1 (LAMP). Induction of hTERT-specific CD8 T cells was observed in all but one patient, with up to 1.8% of CD8+ T cells exhibiting hTERT specificity. Antigen-specific immune measurements

were higher in patients immunised with chimeric LAMP hTERT. Treatment was associated with an increase in the prostate-specific antigen doubling time and molecular clearance of circulating micrometastases.

The above published reports of hTERT vaccination offer preliminary evidence to support the notion that hTERT can function as a TAA target for novel vaccines. If, in further studies with second-generation vaccines, optimal immunity can be successfully elicited in cancer patients without the induction of severe autoimmunity, hTERT clearly becomes a prime candidate for a widely applicable cancer vaccine.

6.2 Telomerase and CTC

Despite the modest improvements in patient survival from CRC in the last few decades, the overall five-year survival rate remains at 40-45 %. Surgical resection is the mainstay of treatment for CRC, but nearly half of all patients who undergo a potentially curative resection will relapse because of undetected micrometastases. The fact that the overall survival rate remains poor, strongly suggests that the dissemination of these cells occurs early in the disease process and emphasizes the need for finding feasible diagnostic methods with sufficient sensitivity and specificity.

In this thesis two well described techniques in the literature were used to detect CTC in the peripheral blood of CRC patients utilising telomerase activity and its catalytic subunit. In the first experiment peripheral blood samples were collected from 105 patients with curative CRC before and after surgery and CTC were isolated from the PBMC using the immunomagnetic separation technique and a TeloTAGGG Telomerase PCR ELISA^{PLUS} assay was done on the isolated cell lysates in order to detect telomerase

activity. In the second experiment serum samples of CRC patients were used to detect the expression of hTERT mRNA utilising RT-PCR technique.

In the first telomerase assay performed only 14 samples demonstrated telomerase activity, these 14 samples were either freshly prepared or frozen for less than 4 weeks compared with the remaining negative samples. It was concluded that the longer the samples are kept frozen the higher the chance of protein degradation. In this experiment a correlation between the disease stage and the presence of telomerase activity or its prognostic value could not be studied as the reliability of the test could not be confirmed. Furthermore, it was not possible to find a standard reliable technique which could detect hTERT mRNA in serum samples of CRC patients as hTERT mRNA was only detected in 6 samples out of all other samples. This could be again as a result of the long duration of samples storage.

The expression of hTERT in peripheral blood samples was reported in previous studies, where it has been detected in blood samples of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma (Miura, N. et al. 2003) (Waguri et al. 2003), breast cancer (Chen et al. 2000), gastric cancer (Shin et al. 2002), and CRC patients (Lledo et al. 2004).

Furthermore recently (Uen et al. 2007) was the first to report the prognostic value of hTERT mRNA as a tumour marker where the patients were followed up over a period of 40 months. A Membrane-arrays technique was used consisting of a panel of mRNA markers that included hTERT, CK19, CK20, and CEA mRNA to detect CTCs in the peripheral blood of 194 stage II CRC patients who underwent potentially curative resection. Fifty-three of 194 (27.3%) stage II patients were detected with the expression

of all 4 mRNA markers. After a median follow up of 40 months, 56 of 194 (28.9%) developed recurrence/metastases postoperatively.

6.3 Conclusion

6.3.1 Technical issues in CTC detection

CTC detection is all about rare event detection. In metastatic cancer patients, CTC in the peripheral circulation occur at an estimated number of one CTC per $1X10^{5-7}$ peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Therefore, most assays apply an enrichment step to increase the sensitivity.

Another major problem in the routine and automated detection of CTC arises from the illegitimate expression of the epithelial cell-related markers and the lack of tumour cell specific markers. As the detection of mRNA markers is especially difficult due to the sensitivity of mRNA to preparation procedures, the exploration of new marker or markers is required.

Furthermore, tumour cells may lose epithelial features during dissemination through a process called epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT). EMT renders tumour cells to become less rigid and more motile thereby facilitating their invasion of stromal tissue. (Willipinski-Stapelfeldt et al. 2005) (Yang et al. 2006). This process is characterised by the loss of cell-to-cell adhesion, increased expression of mesenchymal markers, and loss of several epithelial markers. Since the epithelial markers that get lost during EMT may include markers used for CTC detection, underestimation of the actual CTC number may occur.

6.3.2 Clinical application of CTC detection in cancer prognosis and treatment

The detection of CTC for CRC in early diagnosis, staging and prognosis is a long term dream of researchers and clinicians. As the molecular biology tools became widely applicable in the last 15 years, significant achievements were observed. Initial results obtained from clinical studies strongly suggest that CTC detection and enumeration has indeed prognostic value and can serve as an early marker to assess antitumour activity of cancer treatment.

A recent study in patients with CRC identified CTC by RT-PCR positivity for both CK-20 and CEA mRNA. A Hundred and ninety-six patients with curative CRC undergoing primary tumour resection were observed over a median follow-up of 1393 days, they concluded that the presence of CTC within 24 hours after resection was predictive for relapse, in particular when combined with lymph node status (Allen-Mersh et al. 2007). Concerning metastatic disease, all studies published so far in which CTC were identified through PCR-based methods included numbers of patients too small to draw firm conclusions. By contrast, data from studies recruiting large numbers of metastatic patients are available using the CellSearch TM Epithelial Cell Kit/CellSpotter TM Analyzer. In this method, CTC were isolated from whole blood by IMS using ferrofluids coated with epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCam) specific antibodies. Subsequently, the isolated cells were stained with fluorescent monoclonal antibodies for epithelial cells (CK 8, 18, 19), leucocytes (CD45) and a nuclear staining dye, and thereafter enumerated using a semi-automated fluorescence microscope. CTC were defined as nuclear cells, expressing CK and lacking CD45 expression (Allard et al. 2004). With this procedure it

was demonstrated that only one out of 344 (0.3%) healthy and non-malignant subjects had ≥ 2 CTC per 7.5 ml whole blood, while approximately 60–70% of metastatic breast cancer patients have ≥ 2 CTC (Riethdorf et al. 2007) (Cristofanilli et al. 2004). In a prospective, multicentre study including 177 metastatic breast cancer patients, a high CTC number at baseline, defined as \geq 5 CTC per 7.5 ml whole blood, was an independent predictor for a poor outcome in terms of progression-free (2.7 versus 7.0 months) and overall survival (10.1 versus >18 months) (Cristofanilli et al. 2004). Also, at each examined time point after treatment initiation, from 3 weeks onwards, a high CTC count was able to distinguish patients with an unfavourable clinical outcome. In addition, patients who initially had an increased number of CTC but a low number after the first administration of systemic treatment had a better outcome in terms of progression-free survival and overall survival compared with patients in whom the number of CTC remained elevated (Cristofanilli et al. 2005) (Hayes et al. 2006). This strongly suggests that CTC enumeration can serve as an early surrogate marker for response assessment. The feasibility of CTC enumeration to guide treatment was further supported by the observation that in patients without progression at radiological assessment those patients with a high CTC count had a poorer overall survival than patients with a low count. Additionally, the inter-reader variability for determining a response on the basis of CTC enumeration was smaller than when using radiological imaging (Budd et al. 2006), which suggests that CTC enumeration outperforms radiological assessments for response evaluation.

Using the assay mentioned earlier, similar results were recently presented in a multicentre study comprising 413 patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma (Meropol et al.

2007). Patients with \geq 3 CTC per 7.5 ml blood at base-line fared more poorly than patients with less CTC in terms of median progression-free and overall survival; 4.5 versus 7.9 months and 9.4 versus 18.5 months, respectively. Additionally, a decrease in CTC levels 3–5 weeks following treatment initiation was associated with improved progression-free and overall survival compared to those patients who remained at high CTC levels.

Also, in patients with hormone-refractory prostate cancer showing prostate specific antigen (PSA)-progression and who started chemotherapy, CTC enumeration showed encouraging results (Moreno et al. 2007). Using a cut-off level of \geq 5 CTC per 7.5 ml blood, patients with a low level at base line (43% of the 240 patients) had a better median overall survival of 21.4 months compared to patients with an elevated count (10.7 months). Similar to the studies performed in breast and CRC, a CTC decrease to low levels at all time-points assessed was predictive for improved survival, from 2 to 5 weeks after starting therapy onwards.

6.3.3 Future work

Determination of the significance of micrometastatic cell in the peripheral blood of Dukes stage B under chemotherapy is still missing. Currently, there are several methods available for CTC detection, some of which in clinical studies have been shown to be associated with clinical outcome. However, confirmation of the results, which look promising at first glance indeed, is required prior to widespread use and having clinical impact. In particular, the observation that CTC levels during treatment may serve as marker for early assessment of anti-tumour activity is intriguing, but whether this should have therapeutic consequences is currently unknown. To solve this question, randomised

studies would be required in which patients exhibiting a high CTC count after starting a certain treatment are randomly allocated to receive an alternative treatment directly or to continue the same systemic therapy and only after radiological progression to be switched to the alternative therapy. Such a study can determine whether early switching to another type of therapy on the basis of CTC enumeration yields a better outcome.

References:

- Aaltonen LA, Sankila R, Mecklin JP, Jarvinen H, Pukkala E, Peltomaki P and de la Chapelle A (1994). "A novel approach to estimate the proportion of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer of total colorectal cancer burden." Cancer Detect Prev 18(1): 57-63.
- Aerts J, Wynendaele W, Paridaens R, Christiaens MR, van den Bogaert W, van Oosterom AT and Vandekerckhove F (2001). "A real-time quantitative reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) to detect breast carcinoma cells in peripheral blood." Ann Oncol **12**(1): 39-46.
- Akiyama Y, Sato H, Yamada T, Nagasaki H, Tsuchiya A, Abe R and Yuasa Y (1997). "Germ-line mutation of the hMSH6/GTBP gene in an atypical hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer kindred." Cancer Res **57**(18): 3920-3.
- Allard WJ, Matera J, Miller MC, Repollet M, Connelly MC, Rao C, Tibbe AG, Uhr JW and Terstappen LW (2004). "Tumor cells circulate in the peripheral blood of all major carcinomas but not in healthy subjects or patients with nonmalignant diseases." Clin Cancer Res **10**(20): 6897-904.
- Allen-Mersh TG, McCullough TK, Patel H, Wharton RQ, Glover C and Jonas SK (2007). "Role of circulating tumour cells in predicting recurrence after excision of primary colorectal carcinoma." Br J Surg 94(1): 96-105.
- Allsopp RC, Chang E, Kashefi-Aazam M, Rogaev EI, Piatyszek MA, Shay JW and Harley CB (1995). "Telomere shortening is associated with cell division in vitro and in vivo." Exp Cell Res **220**(1): 194-200.
- Amarnath SM, Dyer CE, Ramesh A, Iwuagwu O, Drew PJ and Greenman J (2004). "In vitro quantification of the cytotoxic T lymphocyte response against human telomerase reverse transcriptase in breast cancer." Int J Oncol **25**(1): 211-7.
- Anker P, Mulcahy H, Chen XQ and Stroun M (1999). "Detection of circulating tumour DNA in the blood (plasma/serum) of cancer patients." Cancer Metastasis Rev 18(1): 65-73.
- Arai J, Yasukawa M, Ohminami H, Kakimoto M, Hasegawa A and Fujita S (2001).
 "Identification of human telomerase reverse transcriptase-derived peptides that induce HLA-A24-restricted antileukemia cytotoxic T lymphocytes." Blood 97(9): 2903-7.
- Atkinson EA and Bleackley RC (1995). "Mechanisms of lysis by cytotoxic T cells." Crit Rev Immunol **15**(3-4): 359-84.

- Austruy E, Jeanpierre C, Antignac C, Whitmore SA, Van Cong N, Bernheim A, Callen DF and Junien C (1993). "Physical and genetic mapping of the dipeptidase gene DPEP1 to 16q24.3." Genomics **15**(3): 684-7.
- Ayyoub M, Stevanovic S, Sahin U, Guillaume P, Servis C, Rimoldi D, Valmori D, Romero P, Cerottini JC, Rammensee HG, Pfreundschuh M, Speiser D and Levy F (2002). "Proteasome-assisted identification of a SSX-2-derived epitope recognized by tumor-reactive CTL infiltrating metastatic melanoma." J Immunol 168(4): 1717-22.
- Barnes CJ, Cameron IL, Hardman WE and Lee M (1998). "Non-steroidol antiinflammatory drug effect on crypt cell proliferation and apoptosis during initiation of rat colon carcinogenesis." Br J Cancer **77**(4): 573-80.
- Barnes JP (1952). "Physiologic resection of the right colon." Surg Gynecol Obstet **94**(6): 722-6.
- Baselga J and Mendelsohn J (1994). "The epidermal growth factor receptor as a target for therapy in breast carcinoma." Breast Cancer Res Treat **29**(1): 127-38.
- Bechter OE, Eisterer W, Dlaska M, Kuhr T and Thaler J (2002). "CpG island methylation of the hTERT promoter is associated with lower telomerase activity in B-cell lymphocytic leukemia." Exp Hematol **30**(1): 26-33.
- Belair CD, Yeager TR, Lopez PM and Reznikoff CA (1997). "Telomerase activity: a biomarker of cell proliferation, not malignant transformation." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(25): 13677-82.
- Berinstein NL (2002). "Carcinoembryonic antigen as a target for therapeutic anticancer vaccines: a review." J Clin Oncol **20**(8): 2197-207.
- Bernhardt SL, Gjertsen MK, Trachsel S, Moller M, Eriksen JA, Meo M, Buanes T and Gaudernack G (2006). "Telomerase peptide vaccination of patients with nonresectable pancreatic cancer: A dose escalating phase I/II study." Br J Cancer 95(11): 1474-82.
- Bilaud T, Brun C, Ancelin K, Koering CE, Laroche T and Gilson E (1997). "Telomeric localization of TRF2, a novel human telobox protein." Nat Genet **17**(2): 236-9.
- Bisgaard ML, Fenger K, Bulow S, Niebuhr E and Mohr J (1994). "Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP): frequency, penetrance, and mutation rate." Hum Mutat **3**(2): 121-5.
- Bolonaki I, Kotsakis A, Papadimitraki E, Aggouraki D, Konsolakis G, Vagia A, Christophylakis C, Nikoloudi I, Magganas E, Galanis A, Cordopatis P, Kosmatopoulos K, Georgoulias V and Mavroudis D (2007). "Vaccination of

patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer with an optimized cryptic human telomerase reverse transcriptase peptide." J Clin Oncol **25**(19): 2727-34.

- Bossolasco P, Ricci C, Farina G, Soligo D, Pedretti D, Scanni A and Deliliers GL (2002). "Detection of micrometastatic cells in breast cancer by RT-pCR for the mammaglobin gene." Cancer Detect Prev **26**(1): 60-3.
- Braun S and Pantel K (1999). "Micrometastatic bone marrow involvement: detection and prognostic significance." Med Oncol **16**(3): 154-65.
- Brentnall TA, Crispin DA, Rabinovitch PS, Haggitt RC, Rubin CE, Stevens AC and Burmer GC (1994). "Mutations in the p53 gene: an early marker of neoplastic progression in ulcerative colitis." Gastroenterology **107**(2): 369-78.
- Brewer HB, Jr., Fairwell T, LaRue A, Ronan R, Houser A and Bronzert TJ (1978). "The amino acid sequence of human APOA-I, an apolipoprotein isolated from high density lipoproteins." Biochem Biophys Res Commun **80**(3): 623-30.
- Broccoli D, Smogorzewska A, Chong L and de Lange T (1997). "Human telomeres contain two distinct Myb-related proteins, TRF1 and TRF2." Nat Genet **17**(2): 231-5.
- Brunsvig PF, Aamdal S, Gjertsen MK, Kvalheim G, Markowski-Grimsrud CJ, Sve I, Dyrhaug M, Trachsel S, Moller M, Eriksen JA and Gaudernack G (2006).
 "Telomerase peptide vaccination: a phase I/II study in patients with non-small cell lung cancer." Cancer Immunol Immunother 55(12): 1553-64.
- Bryce LA, Morrison N, Hoare SF, Muir S and Keith WN (2000). "Mapping of the gene for the human telomerase reverse transcriptase, hTERT, to chromosome 5p15.33 by fluorescence in situ hybridization." Neoplasia **2**(3): 197-201.
- Budd GT, Cristofanilli M, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Borden E, Miller MC, Matera J, Repollet M, Doyle GV, Terstappen LW and Hayes DF (2006). "Circulating tumor cells versus imaging--predicting overall survival in metastatic breast cancer." Clin Cancer Res 12(21): 6403-9.
- Burkitt DP (1971). "Epidemiology of cancer of the colon and rectum." Cancer **28**(1): 3-13.
- Bustin SA, Gyselman VG, Williams NS and Dorudi S (1999). "Detection of cytokeratins 19/20 and guanylyl cyclase C in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients." Br J Cancer **79**(11-12): 1813-20.

Cancer Research UK (2004).

- Cancer statistics registrations 2004 (2004). .
- Carpenter G and Cohen S (1990). "Epidermal growth factor." J Biol Chem **265**(14): 7709-12.
- Castells A, Boix L, Bessa X, Gargallo L and Pique JM (1998). "Detection of colonic cells in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients by means of reverse transcriptase and polymerase chain reaction." Br J Cancer **78**(10): 1368-72.
- Cawthon RM, Smith KR, O'Brien E, Sivatchenko A and Kerber RA (2003). "Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older." Lancet **361**(9355): 393-5.
- Champelovier P, Mongelard F and Seigneurin D (1999). "CK20 gene expression: technical limits for the detection of circulating tumor cells." Anticancer Res **19**(3A): 2073-8.
- Chen XQ, Bonnefoi H, Pelte MF, Lyautey J, Lederrey C, Movarekhi S, Schaeffer P, Mulcahy HE, Meyer P, Stroun M and Anker P (2000). "Telomerase RNA as a detection marker in the serum of breast cancer patients." Clin Cancer Res **6**(10): 3823-6.
- Cillo U, Navaglia F, Vitale A, Molari A, Basso D, Bassanello M, Brolese A, Zanus G, Montin U, D'Amico F, Ciarleglio FA, Carraro A, Bridda A, Burra P, Carraro P, Plebani M and D'Amico DF (2004). "Clinical significance of alpha-fetoprotein mRNA in blood of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma." Clin Chim Acta 347(1-2): 129-38.
- Clarke LE, Leitzel K, Smith J, Ali SM and Lipton A (2003). "Epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA in peripheral blood of patients with pancreatic, lung, and colon carcinomas detected by RT-PCR." Int J Oncol **22**(2): 425-30.
- Coleman MP, Rachet B, Woods LM, Mitry E, Riga M, Cooper N, Quinn MJ, Brenner H and Esteve J (2004). "Trends and socioeconomic inequalities in cancer survival in England and Wales up to 2001." Br J Cancer **90**(7): 1367-73.
- Cong YS, Wen J and Bacchetti S (1999). "The human telomerase catalytic subunit hTERT: organization of the gene and characterization of the promoter." Hum Mol Genet **8**(1): 137-42.
- Cortez-Gonzalez X and Zanetti M (2007). "Telomerase immunity from bench to bedside: round one." J Transl Med **5**: 12.
- Cote RJ, Peterson HF, Chaiwun B, Gelber RD, Goldhirsch A, Castiglione-Gertsch M, Gusterson B and Neville AM (1999). "Role of immunohistochemical detection of

lymph-node metastases in management of breast cancer. International Breast Cancer Study Group." Lancet **354**(9182): 896-900.

- Counter CM (1996). "The roles of telomeres and telomerase in cell life span." Mutat Res **366**(1): 45-63.
- Counter CM, Gupta J, Harley CB, Leber B and Bacchetti S (1995). "Telomerase activity in normal leukocytes and in hematologic malignancies." Blood **85**(9): 2315-20.
- Cristofanilli M, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Matera J, Miller MC, Reuben JM, Doyle GV, Allard WJ, Terstappen LW and Hayes DF (2004). "Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer." N Engl J Med 351(8): 781-91.
- Cristofanilli M, Hayes DF, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Reuben JM, Doyle GV, Matera J, Allard WJ, Miller MC, Fritsche HA, Hortobagyi GN and Terstappen LW (2005). "Circulating tumor cells: a novel prognostic factor for newly diagnosed metastatic breast cancer." J Clin Oncol 23(7): 1420-30.
- Datta YH, Adams PT, Drobyski WR, Ethier SP, Terry VH and Roth MS (1994). "Sensitive detection of occult breast cancer by the reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction." J Clin Oncol **12**(3): 475-82.
- de Cremoux P, Extra JM, Denis MG, Pierga JY, Bourstyn E, Nos C, Clough KB, Boudou E, Martin EC, Muller A, Pouillart P and Magdelenat H (2000). "Detection of MUC1-expressing mammary carcinoma cells in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients by real-time polymerase chain reaction." Clin Cancer Res **6**(8): 3117-22.
- de Lange T, Shiue L, Myers RM, Cox DR, Naylor SL, Killery AM and Varmus HE (1990). "Structure and variability of human chromosome ends." Mol Cell Biol **10**(2): 518-27.
- De Luca A, Pignata S, Casamassimi A, D'Antonio A, Gridelli C, Rossi A, Cremona F, Parisi V, De Matteis A and Normanno N (2000). "Detection of circulating tumor cells in carcinoma patients by a novel epidermal growth factor receptor reverse transcription-PCR assay." Clin Cancer Res **6**(4): 1439-44.
- Dessain SK, Yu H, Reddel RR, Beijersbergen RL and Weinberg RA (2000). "Methylation of the human telomerase gene CpG island." Cancer Res **60**(3): 537-41.
- Devereux TR, Horikawa I, Anna CH, Annab LA, Afshari CA and Barrett JC (1999). "DNA methylation analysis of the promoter region of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) gene." Cancer Res **59**(24): 6087-90.

- Dingemans AM, Brakenhoff RH, Postmus PE and Giaccone G (1997). "Detection of cytokeratin-19 transcripts by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction in lung cancer cell lines and blood of lung cancer patients." Lab Invest **77**(3): 213-20.
- Doetzlhofer A, Rotheneder H, Lagger G, Koranda M, Kurtev V, Brosch G, Wintersberger E and Seiser C (1999). "Histone deacetylase 1 can repress transcription by binding to Sp1." Mol Cell Biol **19**(8): 5504-11.
- Domchek SM, Fox K, Recio A, Schuchter LM, Davidson R, Demichele A, Mick R, Feldman M and Vonderheide RH (2006). Immunological and clinical outcomes following telomerase peptide vaccination in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Proc. AACR.
- Dong ZZ, Yao DF, Yao DB, Wu XH, Wu W, Qiu LW, Jiang DR, Zhu JH and Meng XY (2005). "Expression and alteration of insulin-like growth factor II-messenger RNA in hepatoma tissues and peripheral blood of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma." World J Gastroenterol 11(30): 4655-60.
- Douard R, Moutereau S, Serru V, Sales JP, Wind P, Cugnenc PH, Vaubourdolle M and Loric S (2005). "Immunobead multiplex RT-PCR detection of carcinoembryonic genes expressing cells in the blood of colorectal cancer patients." Clin Chem Lab Med **43**(2): 127-32.
- Fearnhead NS, Britton MP and Bodmer WF (2001). "The ABC of APC." Hum Mol Genet **10**(7): 721-33.
- Feng J, Funk WD, Wang SS, Weinrich SL, Avilion AA, Chiu CP, Adams RR, Chang E, Allsopp RC, Yu J and et al. (1995). "The RNA component of human telomerase." Science 269(5228): 1236-41.
- Fidler IJ (1970). "Metastasis: guantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor embolilabeled with 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine." J Natl Cancer Inst 45(4): 773-82.
- Fishel R, Lescoe MK, Rao MR, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, Garber J, Kane M and Kolodner R (1993). "The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer." Cell **75**(5): 1027-38.
- Fleming ID, Phillips JL, Menck HR, Murphy GP and Winchester DP (1997). "The National Cancer Data Base report on recent hospital cancer program progress toward complete American Joint Committee on Cancer/TNM staging." Cancer 80(12): 2305-10.
- Fossel M (1998). "Telomerase and the aging cell: implications for human health." Jama **279**(21): 1732-5.

- Freudenheim JL, Graham S, Marshall JR, Haughey BP, Cholewinski S and Wilkinson G (1991). "Folate intake and carcinogenesis of the colon and rectum." Int J Epidemiol **20**(2): 368-74.
- Fuchs CS, Giovannucci EL, Colditz GA, Hunter DJ, Stampfer MJ, Rosner B, Speizer FE and Willett WC (1999). "Dietary fiber and the risk of colorectal cancer and adenoma in women." N Engl J Med **340**(3): 169-76.
- Furugori E, Hirayama R, Nakamura KI, Kammori M, Esaki Y and Takubo K (2000). "Telomere shortening in gastric carcinoma with aging despite telomerase activation." J Cancer Res Clin Oncol **126**(8): 481-5.
- Fuxe J, Akusjarvi G, Goike HM, Roos G, Collins VP and Pettersson RF (2000). "Adenovirus-mediated overexpression of p15INK4B inhibits human glioma cell growth, induces replicative senescence, and inhibits telomerase activity similarly to p16INK4A." Cell Growth Differ **11**(7): 373-84.
- Garcia-Olmo D, Ontanon J, Garcia-Olmo DC, Vallejo M and Cifuentes J (1999). "Experimental evidence does not support use of the "no-touch" isolation technique in colorectal cancer." Dis Colon Rectum **42**(11): 1449-56; discussion 1454-6.
- Gauthier LR, Granotier C, Soria JC, Faivre S, Boige V, Raymond E and Boussin FD (2001). "Detection of circulating carcinoma cells by telomerase activity." Br J Cancer **84**(5): 631-5.
- Gazzaniga P, Gandini O, Giuliani L, Magnanti M, Gradilone A, Silvestri I, Gianni W, Gallucci M, Frati L and Agliano AM (2001a). "Detection of epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA in peripheral blood: a new marker of circulating neoplastic cells in bladder cancer patients." Clin Cancer Res **7**(3): 577-83.
- Gazzaniga P, Gradilone A, Frati L and Agliano AM (2001b). "Epidermal growth factor receptor mRNA expression in peripheral blood of bladder cancer patients: a potential marker to detect treatment failure." Clin Cancer Res **7**(12): 4288-9.
- Gertler R, Rosenberg R, Stricker D, Werner M, Lassmann S, Ulm K, Nekarda H and Siewert JR (2002). "Prognostic potential of the telomerase subunit human telomerase reverse transcriptase in tumor tissue and nontumorous mucosa from patients with colorectal carcinoma." Cancer **95**(10): 2103-11.
- Gewin L and Galloway DA (2001). "E box-dependent activation of telomerase by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 does not require induction of c-myc." J Virol **75**(15): 7198-201.

- Ghossein RA and Bhattacharya S (2000). "Molecular detection and characterisation of circulating tumour cells and micrometastases in solid tumours." Eur J Cancer 36(13 Spec No): 1681-94.
- Ghossein RA, Scher HI, Gerald WL, Kelly WK, Curley T, Amsterdam A, Zhang ZF and Rosai J (1995). "Detection of circulating tumor cells in patients with localized and metastatic prostatic carcinoma: clinical implications." J Clin Oncol 13(5): 1195-200.
- Giovannucci E, Rimm EB, Ascherio A, Stampfer MJ, Colditz GA and Willett WC (1995). "Alcohol, low-methionine--low-folate diets, and risk of colon cancer in men." J Natl Cancer Inst 87(4): 265-73.
- Giovannucci E, Stampfer MJ, Colditz G, Rimm EB and Willett WC (1992). "Relationship of diet to risk of colorectal adenoma in men." J Natl Cancer Inst **84**(2): 91-8.
- Gradilone A, Gazzaniga P, Silvestri I, Gandini O, Trasatti L, Lauro S, Frati L and Agliano AM (2003). "Detection of CK19, CK20 and EGFR mRNAs in peripheral blood of carcinoma patients: correlation with clinical stage of disease." Oncol Rep 10(1): 217-22.
- Grady W, Rajput A, Myeroff L and Markowitz S (1997). "What's new with RII?" Gastroenterology **112**(1): 297-302.
- Grandori C, Cowley SM, James LP and Eisenman RN (2000). "The Myc/Max/Mad network and the transcriptional control of cell behavior." Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol **16**: 653-99.
- Greenberg PD (1991). "Adoptive T cell therapy of tumors: mechanisms operative in the recognition and elimination of tumor cells." Adv Immunol **49**: 281-355.
- Greenfield EA, Nguyen KA and Kuchroo VK (1998). "CD28/B7 costimulation: a review." Crit Rev Immunol **18**(5): 389-418.
- Greider CW and Blackburn EH (1985). "Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in Tetrahymena extracts." Cell **43**(2 Pt 1): 405-13.
- Greider CW and Blackburn EH (1989). "A telomeric sequence in the RNA of Tetrahymena telomerase required for telomere repeat synthesis." Nature **337**(6205): 331-7.
- Groden J, Thliveris A, Samowitz W, Carlson M, Gelbert L, Albertsen H, Joslyn G, Stevens J, Spirio L, Robertson M and et al. (1991). "Identification and characterization of the familial adenomatous polyposis coli gene." Cell 66(3): 589-600.

- Grodstein F, Newcomb PA and Stampfer MJ (1999). "Postmenopausal hormone therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer: a review and meta-analysis." Am J Med **106**(5): 574-82.
- Grunewald K, Haun M, Urbanek M, Fiegl M, Muller-Holzner E, Gunsilius E, Dunser M, Marth C and Gastl G (2000). "Mammaglobin gene expression: a superior marker of breast cancer cells in peripheral blood in comparison to epidermal-growthfactor receptor and cytokeratin-19." Lab Invest **80**(7): 1071-7.
- Guadagni F, Kantor J, Aloe S, Carone MD, Spila A, D'Alessandro R, Abbolito MR, Cosimelli M, Graziano F, Carboni F, Carlini S, Perri P, Sciarretta F, Greiner JW, Kashmiri SV, Steinberg SM, Roselli M and Schlom J (2001). "Detection of blood-borne cells in colorectal cancer patients by nested reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction for carcinoembryonic antigen messenger RNA: longitudinal analyses and demonstration of its potential importance as an adjunct to multiple serum markers." Cancer Res 61(6): 2523-32.
- Guller U, Zajac P, Schnider A, Bosch B, Vorburger S, Zuber M, Spagnoli GC, Oertli D, Maurer R, Metzger U, Harder F, Heberer M and Marti WR (2002). "Disseminated single tumor cells as detected by real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction represent a prognostic factor in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer." Ann Surg 236(6): 768-75; discussion 775-6.
- Guo J, Xiao B, Jin Z, Qin L, Chen J, Chen H, Zhang X and Liu Z (2005). "Detection of cytokeratin 20 mRNA in the peripheral blood of patients with colorectal cancer by immunomagnetic bead enrichment and real-time reverse transcriptase-polymeras chain reaction." J Gastroenterol Hepatol **20**(8): 1279-84.
- Hammarstrom S (1999). "The carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) family: structures, suggested functions and expression in normal and malignant tissues." Semin Cancer Biol **9**(2): 67-81.
- Hampton R, Walker M, Marshall J and Juhl H (2002). "Differential expression of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) splice variants in whole blood of colon cancer patients and healthy volunteers: implication for the detection of circulating colon cancer cells." Oncogene 21(51): 7817-23.
- Hara E, Tsurui H, Shinozaki A, Nakada S and Oda K (1991). "Cooperative effect of antisense-Rb and antisense-p53 oligomers on the extension of life span in human diploid fibroblasts, TIG-1." Biochem Biophys Res Commun **179**(1): 528-34.
- Hardingham JE, Hewett PJ, Sage RE, Finch JL, Nuttall JD, Kotasek D and Dobrovic A (2000). "Molecular detection of blood-borne epithelial cells in colorectal cancer patients and in patients with benign bowel disease." Int J Cancer 89(1): 8-13.

- Hardingham JE, Kotasek D, Sage RE, Eaton MC, Pascoe VH and Dobrovic A (1995).
 "Detection of circulating tumor cells in colorectal cancer by immunobead-PCR is a sensitive prognostic marker for relapse of disease." Mol Med 1(7): 789-94.
- Harle-Bachor C and Boukamp P (1996). "Telomerase activity in the regenerative basal layer of the epidermis inhuman skin and in immortal and carcinoma-derived skin keratinocytes." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **93**(13): 6476-81.
- Harley CB, Futcher AB and Greider CW (1990). "Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts." Nature **345**(6274): 458-60.
- Harrington L, Zhou W, McPhail T, Oulton R, Yeung DS, Mar V, Bass MB and Robinson MO (1997). "Human telomerase contains evolutionarily conserved catalytic and structural subunits." Genes Dev 11(23): 3109-15.
- Hashimoto T, Kobayashi Y, Ishikawa Y, Tsuchiya S, Okumura S, Nakagawa K, Tokuchi Y, Hayashi M, Nishida K, Hayashi S, Hayashi J and Tsuchiya E (2000)
 "Prognostic value of genetically diagnosed lymph node micrometastasis in non-small cell lung carcinoma cases." Cancer Res 60(22): 6472-8.
- Hastie ND, Dempster M, Dunlop MG, Thompson AM, Green DK and Allshire RC (1990). "Telomere reduction in human colorectal carcinoma and with ageing." Nature 346(6287): 866-8.
- Hayashi N, Egami H, Kai M, Kurusu Y, Takano S and Ogawa M (1999). "No-touch isolation technique reduces intraoperative shedding of tumor cells into the portal vein during resection of colorectal cancer." Surgery **125**(4): 369-74.
- Hayashi N, Ito I, Yanagisawa A, Kato Y, Nakamori S, Imaoka S, Watanabe H, Ogawa M and Nakamura Y (1995). "Genetic diagnosis of lymph-node metastasis in colorectal cancer." Lancet 345(8960): 1257-9.
- Hayes DF, Cristofanilli M, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Miller MC, Matera J, Allard WJ, Doyle GV and Terstappen LW (2006). "Circulating tumor cells at each follow-up time point during therapy of metastatic breast cancer patients predict progression-free and overall survival." Clin Cancer Res 12(14 Pt 1): 4218-24.
- Heinzel T, Lavinsky RM, Mullen TM, Soderstrom M, Laherty CD, Torchia J, Yang WM, Brard G, Ngo SD, Davie JR, Seto E, Eisenman RN, Rose DW, Glass CK and Rosenfeld MG (1997). "A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression." Nature **387**(6628): 43-8.
- Henderson YC, Breau RL, Liu TJ and Clayman GL (2000). "Telomerase activity in head and neck tumors after introduction of wild-type p53, p21, p16, and E2F-1 genes by means of recombinant adenovirus." Head Neck **22**(4): 347-54.

- Herman JG, Umar A, Polyak K, Graff JR, Ahuja N, Issa JP, Markowitz S, Willson JK, Hamilton SR, Kinzler KW, Kane MF, Kolodner RD, Vogelstein B, Kunkel TA and Baylin SB (1998). "Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(12): 6870-5.
- Hermans IF, Daish A, Yang J, Ritchie DS and Ronchese F (1998). "Antigen expressed on tumor cells fails to elicit an immune response, even in the presence of increased numbers of tumor-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte precursors." Cancer Res 58(17): 3909-17.
- Hernandez J, Garcia-Pons F, Lone YC, Firat H, Schmidt JD, Langlade-Demoyen P and Zanetti M (2002). "Identification of a human telomerase reverse transcriptase peptide of low affinity for HLA A2.1 that induces cytotoxic T lymphocytes and mediates lysis of tumor cells." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99**(19): 12275-80.
- Hibi K, Robinson CR, Booker S, Wu L, Hamilton SR, Sidransky D and Jen J (1998).
 "Molecular detection of genetic alterations in the serum of colorectal cancer patients." Cancer Res 58(7): 1405-7.
- Hildebrandt M, Mapara MY, Korner IJ, Bargou RC, Moldenhauer G and Dorken B (1997). "Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)-controlled immunomagnetic purging of breast cancer cells using the magnetic cell separation (MACS) system: a sensitive method for monitoring purging efficiency." Exp Hematol 25(1): 57-65.
- Hillaire S, Barbu V, Boucher E, Moukhtar M and Poupon R (1994). "Albumin messenger RNA as a marker of circulating hepatocytes in hepatocellular carcinoma." Gastroenterology **106**(1): 239-42.
- Hiyama E, Gollahon L, Kataoka T, Kuroi K, Yokoyama T, Gazdar AF, Hiyama K, Piatyszek MA and Shay JW (1996). "Telomerase activity in human breast tumors." J Natl Cancer Inst 88(2): 116-22.
- Holt SE, Shay JW and Wright WE (1996). "Refining the telomere-telomerase hypothesis of aging and cancer." Nat Biotechnol **14**(7): 836-9.
- Hoon DS, Sarantou T, Doi F, Chi DD, Kuo C, Conrad AJ, Schmid P, Turner R and Guiliano A (1996). "Detection of metastatic breast cancer by beta-hCG polymerase chain reaction." Int J Cancer 69(5): 369-74.
- Hsieh JS, Lin SR, Chang MY, Chen FM, Lu CY, Huang TJ, Huang YS, Huang CJ and Wang JY (2005). "APC, K-ras, and p53 gene mutations in colorectal cancer patients: correlation to clinicopathologic features and postoperative surveillance." Am Surg **71**(4): 336-43.

- Hu XC and Chow LW (2001). "Detection of circulating breast cancer cells with multiplemarker RT-PCR assay." Anticancer Res **21**(1A): 421-4.
- Ikeguchi M and Kaibara N (2005). "Detection of circulating cancer cells after a gastrectomy for gastric cancer." Surg Today **35**(6): 436-41.
- Illert B, Fein M, Otto C, Cording F, Stehle D, Thiede A and Timmermann W (2005).
 "Disseminated tumor cells in the blood of patients with gastric cancer are an independent predictive marker of poor prognosis." Scand J Gastroenterol 40(7): 843-9.
- Ishiwatari-Hayasaka H, Kawashima H, Osawa T, Nagata S and Miyasaka M (1997). "Induction of cell death by chimeric L-selectin-Fas receptors." Int Immunol **9**(4): 627-35.
- Ishizone S, Yamauchi K, Kawa S, Suzuki T, Shimizu F, Harada O, Sugiyama A, Miyagawa S, Fukuda M and Nakayama J (2006). "Clinical utility of quantitative RT-PCR targeted to alpha1,4-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase mRNA for detection of pancreatic cancer." Cancer Sci 97(2): 119-26.
- Ito H, Kanda T, Nishimaki T, Sato H, Nakagawa S and Hatakeyama K (2004). "Detection and quantification of circulating tumor cells in patients with esophageal cancer by real-time polymerase chain reaction." J Exp Clin Cancer Res **23**(3): 455-64.
- Jiang SY, Shyu RY, Huang MF, Tang HS, Young TH, Roffler SR, Chiou YS and Yeh MY (1997). "Detection of alphafetoprotein-expressing cells in the blood of patients with hepatoma and hepatitis." Br J Cancer 75(6): 928-33.
- Jonas S, Windeatt S, A OB, Fordy C and Allen-Mersh TG (1996). "Identification of carcinoembryonic antigen-producing cells circulating in the blood of patients with colorectal carcinoma by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction." Gut 39(5): 717-21.
- Jones PA and Takai D (2001). "The role of DNA methylation in mammalian epigenetics." Science **293**(5532): 1068-70.
- Jong HS, Park YI, Kim S, Sohn JH, Kang SH, Song SH, Bang YJ and Kim NK (1999). "Up-regulation of human telomerase catalytic subunit during gastric carcinogenesis." Cancer 86(4): 559-65.
- Kaganoi J, Shimada Y, Kano M, Okumura T, Watanabe G and Imamura M (2004)."Detection of circulating oesophageal squamous cancer cells in peripheral blood and its impact on prognosis." Br J Surg **91**(8): 1055-60.
- Kahn HJ, Yang LY, Blondal J, Lickley L, Holloway C, Hanna W, Narod S, McCready DR, Seth A and Marks A (2000). "RT-PCR amplification of CK19 mRNA in the

blood of breast cancer patients: correlation with established prognostic parameters." Breast Cancer Res Treat 60(2): 143-51.

- Kanaya T, Kyo S, Hamada K, Takakura M, Kitagawa Y, Harada H and Inoue M (2000). "Adenoviral expression of p53 represses telomerase activity through downregulation of human telomerase reverse transcriptase transcription." Clin Cancer Res 6(4): 1239-47.
- Kane MF, Loda M, Gaida GM, Lipman J, Mishra R, Goldman H, Jessup JM and Kolodner R (1997). "Methylation of the hMLH1 promoter correlates with lack of expression of hMLH1 in sporadic colon tumors and mismatch repair-defective human tumor cell lines." Cancer Res 57(5): 808-11.
- Kang MK, Swee J, Kim RH, Baluda MA and Park NH (2002). "The telomeric length and heterogeneity decrease with age in normal human oral keratinocytes." Mech Ageing Dev 123(6): 585-92.
- Kerber RA, Slattery ML, Potter JD, Caan BJ and Edwards SL (1998). "Risk of colon cancer associated with a family history of cancer or colorectal polyps: the diet, activity, and reproduction in colon cancer study." Int J Cancer **78**(2): 157-60.
- Khazaie K, Schirrmacher V and Lichtner RB (1993). "EGF receptor in neoplasia and metastasis." Cancer Metastasis Rev **12**(3-4): 255-74.
- Kilian A, Bowtell DD, Abud HE, Hime GR, Venter DJ, Keese PK, Duncan EL, Reddel RR and Jefferson RA (1997). "Isolation of a candidate human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, which reveals complex splicing patterns in different cell types." Hum Mol Genet 6(12): 2011-9.
- Kim NW, Piatyszek MA, Prowse KR, Harley CB, West MD, Ho PL, Coviello GM, Wright WE, Weinrich SL and Shay JW (1994). "Specific association of human telomerase activity with immortal cells and cancer." Science 266(5193): 2011-5.
- Kinzler KW and Vogelstein B (1996). "Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer." Cell **87**(2): 159-70.
- Kolodner RD, Hall NR, Lipford J, Kane MF, Morrison PT, Finan PJ, Burn J, Chapman P, Earabino C, Merchant E and et al. (1995). "Structure of the human MLH1 locus and analysis of a large hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal carcinoma kindred for mlh1 mutations." Cancer Res 55(2): 242-8.
- Komeda T, Fukuda Y, Sando T, Kita R, Furukawa M, Nishida N, Amenomori M and Nakao K (1995). "Sensitive detection of circulating hepatocellular carcinoma cells in peripheral venous blood." Cancer **75**(9): 2214-9.

- Kopreski MS, Benko FA, Kwak LW and Gocke CD (1999). "Detection of tumor messenger RNA in the serum of patients with malignant melanoma." Clin Cancer Res 5(8): 1961-5.
- Korinek V, Barker N, Morin PJ, van Wichen D, de Weger R, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B and Clevers H (1997). "Constitutive transcriptional activation by a beta-catenin-Tcf complex in APC-/- colon carcinoma." Science **275**(5307): 1784-7.
- Kozak EM and Tate SS (1982). "Glutathione-degrading enzymes of microvillus membranes." J Biol Chem 257(11): 6322-7.
- Krismann M, Todt B, Schroder J, Gareis D, Muller KM, Seeber S and Schutte J (1995).
 "Low specificity of cytokeratin 19 reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction analyses for detection of hematogenous lung cancer dissemination." J Clin Oncol 13(11): 2769-75.
- Kumar P (1994). "Clinical Medicine."
- Kyo S, Kanaya T, Takakura M, Tanaka M, Yamashita A, Inoue H and Inoue M (1999a). "Expression of human telomerase subunits in ovarian malignant, borderline and benign tumors." Int J Cancer 80(6): 804-9.
- Kyo S, Takakura M, Kanaya T, Zhuo W, Fujimoto K, Nishio Y, Orimo A and Inoue M (1999b). "Estrogen activates telomerase." Cancer Res **59**(23): 5917-21.
- Kyo S, Takakura M, Taira T, Kanaya T, Itoh H, Yutsudo M, Ariga H and Inoue M (2000). "Sp1 cooperates with c-Myc to activate transcription of the human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene (hTERT)." Nucleic Acids Res 28(3): 669-77.
- Laherty CD, Yang WM, Sun JM, Davie JR, Seto E and Eisenman RN (1997). "Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression." Cell **89**(3): 349-56.
- Latza U, Niedobitek G, Schwarting R, Nekarda H and Stein H (1990). "Ber-EP4: new monoclonal antibody which distinguishes epithelia from mesothelial." J Clin Pathol **43**(3): 213-9.
- Leitzel K, Lieu B, Curley E, Smith J, Chinchilli V, Rychlik W and Lipton A (1998). "Detection of cancer cells in peripheral blood of breast cancer patients using reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction for epidermal growth factor receptor." Clin Cancer Res **4**(12): 3037-43.
- Li H, Zhao LL, Funder JW and Liu JP (1997). "Protein phosphatase 2A inhibits nuclear telomerase activity in human breast cancer cells." J Biol Chem **272**(27): 16729-32.

- Lin JC, Tsai CS, Wang WY and Jan JS (2000). "Detection of circulating tumor cells in venous blood of nasopharyngeal carcinoma patients by nested reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction." Kaohsiung J Med Sci **16**(1): 1-8.
- Lin YC, Wu Chou YH, Liao IC and Cheng AJ (2003). "The expression of mammaglobin mRNA in peripheral blood of metastatic breast cancer patients as an adjunct to serum tumor markers." Cancer Lett **191**(1): 93-9.
- Lindsey J, McGill NI, Lindsey LA, Green DK and Cooke HJ (1991). "In vivo loss of telomeric repeats with age in humans." Mutat Res **256**(1): 45-8.
- Lingner J, Hughes TR, Shevchenko A, Mann M, Lundblad V and Cech TR (1997). "Reverse transcriptase motifs in the catalytic subunit of telomerase." Science **276**(5312): 561-7.
- Lipton L, Halford SE, Johnson V, Novelli MR, Jones A, Cummings C, Barclay E, Sieber O, Sadat A, Bisgaard ML, Hodgson SV, Aaltonen LA, Thomas HJ and Tomlinson IP (2003). "Carcinogenesis in MYH-associated polyposis follows a distinct genetic pathway." Cancer Res 63(22): 7595-9.
- Lipton LR, Johnson V, Cummings C, Fisher S, Risby P, Eftekhar Sadat AT, Cranston T, Izatt L, Sasieni P, Hodgson SV, Thomas HJ and Tomlinson IP (2004). "Refining the Amsterdam Criteria and Bethesda Guidelines: testing algorithms for the prediction of mismatch repair mutation status in the familial cancer clinic." J Clin Oncol **22**(24): 4934-43.
- Liu B, Nicolaides NC, Markowitz S, Willson JK, Parsons RE, Jen J, Papadopolous N, Peltomaki P, de la Chapelle A, Hamilton SR and et al. (1995). "Mismatch repair gene defects in sporadic colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability." Nat Genet **9**(1): 48-55.
- Liu K, Hodes RJ and Weng N (2001). "Cutting edge: telomerase activation in human T lymphocytes does not require increase in telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) protein but is associated with hTERT phosphorylation and nuclear translocation." J Immunol **166**(8): 4826-30.
- Liu Y, Zhang B, Qian G, Chen H, Wu M, Fu J and Huang C (1998). "[The detection of circulating hepatocellular carcinoma cells in peripheral venous blood by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction and its clinical significance]." Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi 36(10): 608-10.
- Lledo SM, Garcia-Granero E, Dasi F, Ripoli R, Garcia SA, Cervantes A and Alino SF (2004). "Real time quantification in plasma of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) mRNA in patients with colorectal cancer." Colorectal Dis 6(4): 236-42.

- Lloyd JM, McIver CM, Stephenson SA, Hewett PJ, Rieger N and Hardingham JE (2006). "Identification of early-stage colorectal cancer patients at risk of relapse postresection by immunobead reverse transcription-PCR analysis of peritoneal lavage fluid for malignant cells." Clin Cancer Res **12**(2): 417-23.
- Lopez-Guerrero JA, Gilabert PB, Gonzalez EB, Sanz Alonso MA, Perez JP, Talens AS, Oraval EA, de la Rubia Comos J and Boix SB (1999). "Use of reversetranscriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for carcinoembryonic antigen, cytokeratin 19, and maspin in the detection of tumor cells in leukapheresis products from patients with breast cancer: comparison with immunocytochemistry." J Hematother **8**(1): 53-61.
- Loveday R, Titu LV, Beral D, Jordison V, Monson JR and Greenman J (2004). "Telomerase activity in circulating colorectal tumour cells." Cancer therapy **2**: 115-120.
- Lovett E (1976). "Familial cancer of the gastro-intestinal tract." Br J Surg 63(1): 19-22.
- Luppi M, Morselli M, Bandieri E, Federico M, Marasca R, Barozzi P, Ferrari MG, Savarino M, Frassoldati A and Torelli G (1996). "Sensitive detection of circulating breast cancer cells by reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction of maspin gene." Ann Oncol 7(6): 619-24.
- Lynch HT, Boman B, Fitzgibbons RJ, Jr., Lanspa SJ and Smyrk TC (1989). "Hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer: (Lynch syndrome I and II). A challenge for the clinician." Nebr Med J **74**(1): 2-7.
- Lynch HT, Kimberling W, Albano WA, Lynch JF, Biscone K, Schuelke GS, Sandberg AA, Lipkin M, Deschner EE, Mikol YB and et al. (1985). "Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndromes I and II). I. Clinical description of resource." Cancer **56**(4): 934-8.
- Lynch HT, Smyrk TC, Watson P, Lanspa SJ, Lynch JF, Lynch PM, Cavalieri RJ and Boland CR (1993). "Genetics, natural history, tumor spectrum, and pathology of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer: an updated review." Gastroenterology **104**(5): 1535-49.
- Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Haserlat SM, Supko JG, Haluska FG, Louis DN, Christiani DC, Settleman J and Haber DA (2004). "Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib." N Engl J Med **350**(21): 2129-39.
- Majima T, Ichikura T, Takayama E, Chochi K and Mochizuki H (2000). "Detecting circulating cancer cells using reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction for

cytokeratin mRNA in peripheral blood from patients with gastric cancer." Jpn J Clin Oncol **30**(11): 499-503.

- Makarov VL, Hirose Y and Langmore JP (1997). "Long G tails at both ends of human chromosomes suggest a C strand degradation mechanism for telomere shortening." Cell **88**(5): 657-66.
- Manhani AR, Manhani R, Soares HP, Bendit I, Lopes F, Nicoletti AG, Fonseca FL, Novaes M, Zatta SM, Arias V, Giralt S and del Giglio A (2001). "CK-19 expression by RT-PCR in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients correlates with response to chemotherapy." Breast Cancer Res Treat 66(3): 249-54.
- Markowitz S, Wang J, Myeroff L, Parsons R, Sun L, Lutterbaugh J, Fan RS, Zborowska E, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B and et al. (1995). "Inactivation of the type II TGFbeta receptor in colon cancer cells with microsatellite instability." Science 268(5215): 1336-8.
- Matsumura M, Niwa Y, Kato N, Komatsu Y, Shiina S, Kawabe T, Kawase T, Toyoshima H, Ihori M, Shiratori Y and et al. (1994). "Detection of alpha-fetoprotein mRNA, an indicator of hematogenous spreading hepatocellular carcinoma, in the circulation: a possible predictor of metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma." Hepatology **20**(6): 1418-25.
- Mavroudis D, Bolonakis I, Cornet S, Myllaki G, Kanellou P, Kotsakis A, Galanis A, Nikoloudi I, Spyropoulou M, Menez J, Miconnet I, Niniraki M, Cordopatis P, Kosmatopoulos K and Georgoulias V (2006). "A phase I study of the optimized cryptic peptide TERT(572y) in patients with advanced malignancies." Oncology 70(4): 306-14.
- McElligott R and Wellinger RJ (1997). "The terminal DNA structure of mammalian chromosomes." Embo J **16**(12): 3705-14.
- McIver CM, Lloyd JM, Hewett PJ and Hardingham JE (2004). "Dipeptidase 1: a candidate tumor-specific molecular marker in colorectal carcinoma." Cancer Lett **209**(1): 67-74.
- McMichael AJ and Potter JD (1985). "Host factors in carcinogenesis: certain bile-acid metabolic profiles that selectively increase the risk of proximal colon cancer." J Natl Cancer Inst **75**(2): 185-91.
- Melk A, Ramassar V, Helms LM, Moore R, Rayner D, Solez K and Halloran PF (2000). "Telomere shortening in kidneys with age." J Am Soc Nephrol **11**(3): 444-53.
- Meropol NJ, Cohen SJ, Iannotti N, Saidman BH, Sabbath KD, Miller MC, Doyle GV, Tissing H, Terstappen LW and Punt CJ (2007). "Circulating tumor cells (CTC)

predict progression free (PFS) and overall survival (OS) in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer." Journal of Clinical Oncology **25**(18S): 4010.

- Meyerson M, Counter CM, Eaton EN, Ellisen LW, Steiner P, Caddle SD, Ziaugra L, Beijersbergen RL, Davidoff MJ, Liu Q, Bacchetti S, Haber DA and Weinberg RA (1997). "hEST2, the putative human telomerase catalytic subunit gene, is upregulated in tumor cells and during immortalization." Cell **90**(4): 785-95.
- Miller MC and Collins K (2002). "Telomerase recognizes its template by using an adjacent RNA motif." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **99**(10): 6585-90.
- Minev B, Hipp J, Firat H, Schmidt JD, Langlade-Demoyen P and Zanetti M (2000). "Cytotoxic T cell immunity against telomerase reverse transcriptase in humans." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(9): 4796-801.
- Misiti S, Nanni S, Fontemaggi G, Cong YS, Wen J, Hirte HW, Piaggio G, Sacchi A, Pontecorvi A, Bacchetti S and Farsetti A (2000). "Induction of hTERT expression and telomerase activity by estrogens in human ovary epithelium cells." Mol Cell Biol 20(11): 3764-71.
- Mitchell JR, Cheng J and Collins K (1999a). "A box H/ACA small nucleolar RNA-like domain at the human telomerase RNA 3' end." Mol Cell Biol **19**(1): 567-76.
- Mitchell JR, Wood E and Collins K (1999b). "A telomerase component is defective in the human disease dyskeratosis congenita." Nature **402**(6761): 551-5.
- Miura M, Ichikawa Y, Tanaka K, Kamiyama M, Hamaguchi Y, Ishikawa T, Yamaguchi S, Togo S, Ike H, Ooki S and Shimada H (2003). "Real-time PCR (TaqMan PCR) quantification of carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) mRNA in the peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients." Anticancer Res **23**(2B): 1271-6.
- Miura N, Shiota G, Nakagawa T, Maeda Y, Sano A, Marumoto A, Kishimoto Y, Murawaki Y and Hasegawa J (2003). "Sensitive detection of human telomerase reverse transcriptase mRNA in the serum of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma." Oncology **64**(4): 430-4.
- Miyaki M, Konishi M, Tanaka K, Kikuchi-Yanoshita R, Muraoka M, Yasuno M, Igari T, Koike M, Chiba M and Mori T (1997). "Germline mutation of MSH6 as the cause of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer." Nat Genet **17**(3): 271-2.
- Miyashiro I, Kuo C, Huynh K, Iida A, Morton D, Bilchik A, Giuliano A and Hoon DS (2001). "Molecular strategy for detecting metastatic cancers with use of multiple tumor-specific MAGE-A genes." Clin Chem 47(3): 505-12.
- Miyazono F, Natsugoe S, Takao S, Tokuda K, Kijima F, Aridome K, Hokita S, Baba M, Eizuru Y and Aikou T (2001). "Surgical maneuvers enhance molecular detection

of circulating tumor cells during gastric cancer surgery." Ann Surg **233**(2): 189-94.

- Miyazono F, Takao S, Natsugoe S, Uchikura K, Kijima F, Aridome K, Shinchi H and Aikou T (1999). "Molecular detection of circulating cancer cells during surgery in patients with biliary-pancreatic cancer." Am J Surg **177**(6): 475-9.
- Morales CP, Holt SE, Ouellette M, Kaur KJ, Yan Y, Wilson KS, White MA, Wright WE and Shay JW (1999). "Absence of cancer-associated changes in human fibroblasts immortalized with telomerase." Nat Genet **21**(1): 115-8.
- Moreno J, DeBono JS, Shaffer D, Montgomery B, Miller MC, Tissing H, Doyle GV, Terstappen LW, Pienta KJ and Raghavan D (2007). "Multi-center study evaluating circulating tumor cells (CTCs) as a surrogate for survival in men treated for castration refractory prostate cancer (CRPC)." Journal of Clinical Oncology 25(18S): 5016.
- Mori M, Mimori K, Ueo H, Karimine N, Barnard GF, Sugimachi K and Akiyoshi T (1996). "Molecular detection of circulating solid carcinoma cells in the peripheral blood: the concept of early systemic disease." Int J Cancer **68**(6): 739-43.
- Mori M, Mimori K, Ueo H, Tsuji K, Shiraishi T, Barnard GF, Sugimachi K and Akiyoshi T (1998). "Clinical significance of molecular detection of carcinoma cells in lymph nodes and peripheral blood by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction in patients with gastrointestinal or breast carcinomas." J Clin Oncol 16(1): 128-32.
- Morimoto O, Nagano H, Miyamoto A, Fujiwara Y, Kondo M, Yamamoto T, Ota H, Nakamura M, Wada H, Damdinsuren B, Marubashi S, Dono K, Umeshita K, Nakamori S, Sakon M and Monden M (2005). "Association between recurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma and alpha-fetoprotein messenger RNA levels in peripheral blood." Surg Today 35(12): 1033-41.
- Morson BC (1974). "Evolution of cancer of the colon and rectum." Cancer **34**(3): suppl:845-9.
- Muller C, Petermann D, Pfeffel F, Oesterreicher C and Fugger R (1997). "Lack of specificity of albumin-mRNA-positive cells as a marker of circulating hepatoma cells." Hepatology **25**(4): 896-9.
- Muller P and Schlimok G (2000). "Bone marrow "micrometastases" of epithelial tumors: detection and clinical relevance." J Cancer Res Clin Oncol **126**(11): 607-18.
- Nakamori S, Kameyama M, Furukawa H, Takeda O, Sugai S, Imaoka S and Nakamura Y (1997). "Genetic detection of colorectal cancer cells in circulation and lymph nodes." Dis Colon Rectum **40**(10 Suppl): S29-36.

- Nakamura TM, Morin GB, Chapman KB, Weinrich SL, Andrews WH, Lingner J, Harley CB and Cech TR (1997). "Telomerase catalytic subunit homologs from fission yeast and human." Science **277**(5328): 955-9.
- Nakashima S, Natsugoe S, Matsumoto M, Miyazono F, Nakajo A, Uchikura K, Tokuda K, Ishigami S, Baba M, Takao S and Aikou T (2003). "Clinical significance of circulating tumor cells in blood by molecular detection and tumor markers in esophageal cancer." Surgery 133(2): 162-9.
- Naruse I, Ohmori T, Ao Y, Fukumoto H, Kuroki T, Mori M, Saijo N and Nishio K (2002). "Antitumor activity of the selective epidermal growth factor receptortyrosine kinase inhibitor (EGFR-TKI) Iressa (ZD1839) in an EGFR-expressing multidrug-resistant cell line in vitro and in vivo." Int J Cancer 98(2): 310-5.
- Newmark HL, Wargovich MJ and Bruce WR (1984). "Colon cancer and dietary fat, phosphate, and calcium: a hypothesis." J Natl Cancer Inst **72**(6): 1323-5.
- Niiyama H, Mizumoto K, Sato N, Nagai E, Mibu R, Fukui T, Kinoshita M and Tanaka M (2001). "Quantitative analysis of hTERT mRNA expression in colorectal cancer." Am J Gastroenterol **96**(6): 1895-900.
- Nishida S, Kitamura K, Ichikawa D, Koike H, Tani N and Yamagishi H (2000). "Molecular detection of disseminated cancer cells in the peripheral blood of patients with gastric cancer." Anticancer Res **20**(3B): 2155-9.
- Nishisho I, Nakamura Y, Miyoshi Y, Miki Y, Ando H, Horii A, Koyama K, Utsunomiya J, Baba S and Hedge P (1991). "Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients." Science **253**(5020): 665-9.
- Noh YH, Kim JA, Lim GR, Ro YT, Koo JH, Lee YS, Han DS, Park HK and Ahn MJ (2001). "Detection of circulating tumor cells in patients with gastrointestinal tract cancer using RT-PCR and its clinical implications." Exp Mol Med **33**(1): 8-14.
- Normanno N, De Luca A, Castaldo A, Casamassimi A, Di Popolo A, Zarrilli R, Porcellini A, Acquaviva AM, Avvedimento VE and Pignata S (1998).
 "Apolipoprotein A-I reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction analysis for detection of hematogenous colon cancer dissemination." Int J Oncol 13(3): 443-7.
- Nozawa H, Watanabe T, Ohnishi T, Tada T, Tsurita G, Sasaki S, Kitayama J and Nagawa H (2003). "Detection of cancer cells in mesenteric vein and peripheral vessels by measuring telomerase activity in patients with colorectal cancer." Surgery **134**(5): 791-8.
- O'Connell J, O'Sullivan GC, Collins JK and Shanahan F (1996). "The Fas counterattack: Fas-mediated T cell killing by colon cancer cells expressing Fas ligand." J Exp Med **184**(3): 1075-82.

- Office for National Statistics. "Mortality Statistics: Cause. England and Wales 2006. London."
- Oh ST, Kyo S and Laimins LA (2001). "Telomerase activation by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 protein: induction of human telomerase reverse transcriptase expression through Myc and GC-rich Sp1 binding sites." J Virol **75**(12): 5559-66.
- Olovnikov AM (1996). "Telomeres, telomerase, and aging: origin of the theory." Exp Gerontol **31**(4): 443-8.
- Oshimura M and Barrett JC (1997). "Multiple pathways to cellular senescence: role of telomerase repressors." Eur J Cancer **33**(5): 710-5.
- Pantel K, Schlimok G, Braun S, Kutter D, Lindemann F, Schaller G, Funke I, Izbicki JR and Riethmuller G (1993). "Differential expression of proliferation-associated molecules in individual micrometastatic carcinoma cells." J Natl Cancer Inst 85(17): 1419-24.
- Parkhurst MR, Riley JP, Igarashi T, Li Y, Robbins PF and Rosenberg SA (2004). "Immunization of patients with the hTERT:540-548 peptide induces peptidereactive T lymphocytes that do not recognize tumors endogenously expressing telomerase." Clin Cancer Res 10(14): 4688-98.
- Pelkey TJ, Frierson HF, Jr. and Bruns DE (1996). "Molecular and immunological detection of circulating tumor cells and micrometastases from solid tumors." Clin Chem 42(9): 1369-81.
- Pittet MJ, Valmori D, Dunbar PR, Speiser DE, Lienard D, Lejeune F, Fleischhauer K, Cerundolo V, Cerottini JC and Romero P (1999). "High frequencies of naive Melan-A/MART-1-specific CD8(+) T cells in a large proportion of human histocompatibility leukocyte antigen (HLA)-A2 individuals." J Exp Med **190**(5): 705-15.
- Polakis P (1997). "The adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) tumor suppressor." Biochim Biophys Acta **1332**(3): F127-47.
- Potter JD (1999). "Colorectal cancer: molecules and populations." J Natl Cancer Inst **91**(11): 916-32.
- Potter JD, Slattery ML, Bostick RM and Gapstur SM (1993). "Colon cancer: a review of the epidemiology." Epidemiol Rev **15**(2): 499-545.
- R TJ "Toms J R(ed), CancerStats Monograph 2004. Cancer Research UK: London 2004."

Racila E, Euhus D, Weiss AJ, Rao C, McConnell J, Terstappen LW and Uhr JW (1998).
- "Detection and characterization of carcinoma cells in the blood." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **95**(8): 4589-94.
- Rampino N, Yamamoto H, Ionov Y, Li Y, Sawai H, Reed JC and Perucho M (1997).
 "Somatic frameshift mutations in the BAX gene in colon cancers of the microsatellite mutator phenotype." Science 275(5302): 967-9.
- Reisher SR, Hughes TE, Ordovas JM, Schaefer EJ and Feinstein SI (1993). "Increased expression of apolipoprotein genes accompanies differentiation in the intestinal cell line Caco-2." Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A **90**(12): 5757-61.
- Riethdorf S, Fritsche H, Muller V, Rau T, Schindlbeck C, Rack B, Janni W, Coith C, Beck K, Janicke F, Jackson S, Gornet T, Cristofanilli M and Pantel K (2007).
 "Detection of circulating tumor cells in peripheral blood of patients with metastatic breast cancer: a validation study of the CellSearch system." Clin Cancer Res 13(3): 920-8.
- Ring A, Smith IE and Dowsett M (2004). "Circulating tumour cells in breast cancer." Lancet Oncol 5(2): 79-88.
- Robins RA (1986). "T-cell responses at the host: tumour interface." Biochim Biophys Acta **865**(3): 289-305.
- Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Boland CR, Hamilton SR, Henson DE, Jass JR, Khan PM, Lynch H, Perucho M, Smyrk T, Sobin L and Srivastava S (1997). "A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Hereditary Nonpolyposis Colorectal Cancer Syndrome: meeting highlights and Bethesda guidelines." J Natl Cancer Inst 89(23): 1758-62.
- Sabbatini R, Federico M, Morselli M, Depenni R, Cagossi K, Luppi M, Torelli G and Silingardi V (2000). "Detection of circulating tumor cells by reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction of maspin in patients with breast cancer undergoing conventional-dose chemotherapy." J Clin Oncol **18**(9): 1914-20.
- Sales JP, Wind P, Douard R, Cugnenc PH and Loric S (1999). "Blood dissemination of colonic epithelial cells during no-touch surgery for rectosigmoid cancer." Lancet 354(9176): 392.
- Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F and Normanno N (1995). "Epidermal growth factorrelated peptides and their receptors in human malignancies." Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 19(3): 183-232.
- Scardino A, Gross DA, Alves P, Schultze JL, Graff-Dubois S, Faure O, Tourdot S, Chouaib S, Nadler LM, Lemonnier FA, Vonderheide RH, Cardoso AA and Kosmatopoulos K (2002). "HER-2/neu and hTERT cryptic epitopes as novel targets for broad spectrum tumor immunotherapy." J Immunol 168(11): 5900-6.

- Scheibenbogen C, Lee KH, Stevanovic S, Witzens M, Willhauck M, Waldmann V, Naeher H, Rammensee HG and Keilholz U (1997). "Analysis of the T cell response to tumor and viral peptide antigens by an IFNgamma-ELISPOT assay." Int J Cancer **71**(6): 932-6.
- Schoenfeld A, Kruger KH, Gomm J, Sinnett HD, Gazet JC, Sacks N, Bender HG, Luqmani Y and Coombes RC (1997). "The detection of micrometastases in the peripheral blood and bone marrow of patients with breast cancer using immunohistochemistry and reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction for keratin 19." Eur J Cancer 33(6): 854-61.
- Schott A, Vogel I, Krueger U, Kalthoff H, Schreiber HW, Schmiegel W, Henne-Bruns D, Kremer B and Juhl H (1998). "Isolated tumor cells are frequently detectable in the peritoneal cavity of gastric and colorectal cancer patients and serve as a new prognostic marker." Ann Surg 227(3): 372-9.
- Schultze JL and Vonderheide RH (2001). "From cancer genomics to cancer immunotherapy: toward second-generation tumor antigens." Trends Immunol 22(9): 516-23.
- Schuster R, Max N, Mann B, Heufelder K, Thilo F, Grone J, Rokos F, Buhr HJ, Thiel E and Keilholz U (2004). "Quantitative real-time RT-PCR for detection of disseminated tumor cells in peripheral blood of patients with colorectal cancer using different mRNA markers." Int J Cancer 108(2): 219-27.
- Seo JH, Choi CW, Kim BS, Shin SW, Kim YH, Kim JS, Lee SW, Choi JH, Park YT, Mok YJ, Kim CS and Kim JS (2005). "Follow-up study of peripheral blood carcinoembryonic antigen mRNA using reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction as an early marker of clinical recurrence in patients with curatively resected gastric cancer." Am J Clin Oncol 28(1): 24-9.
- Shay JW and Bacchetti S (1997). "A survey of telomerase activity in human cancer." Eur J Cancer **33**(5): 787-91.
- Shay JW, Pereira-Smith OM and Wright WE (1991). "A role for both RB and p53 in the regulation of human cellular senescence." Exp Cell Res **196**(1): 33-9.
- Shay JW, Werbin H and Wright WE (1997). "Telomerase assays in the diagnosis and prognosis of cancer." Ciba Found Symp **211**: 148-55; discussion 155-9.
- Shay JW and Wright WE (1989). "Quantitation of the frequency of immortalization of normal human diploid fibroblasts by SV40 large T-antigen." Exp Cell Res 184(1): 109-18.
- Shimizu F, Nakayama J, Ishizone S, Zhang MX, Kawakubo M, Ota H, Sugiyama A, Kawasaki S, Fukuda M and Katsuyama T (2003). "Usefulness of the real-time

reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction assay targeted to alpha1,4-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase for the detection of gastric cancer." Lab Invest **83**(2): 187-97.

- Shin JH, Chung J, Kim HO, Kim YH, Hur YM, Rhim JH, Chung HK, Park SC, Park JG and Yang HK (2002). "Detection of cancer cells in peripheral blood of stomach cancer patients using RT-PCR amplification of tumour-specific mRNAs." Aliment Pharmacol Ther 16 Suppl 2: 137-44.
- Sieber OM, Lipton L, Crabtree M, Heinimann K, Fidalgo P, Phillips RK, Bisgaard ML, Orntoft TF, Aaltonen LA, Hodgson SV, Thomas HJ and Tomlinson IP (2003).
 "Multiple colorectal adenomas, classic adenomatous polyposis, and germ-line mutations in MYH." N Engl J Med 348(9): 791-9.
- Silva AL, Tome MJ, Correia AE and Passos-Coelho JL (2002). "Human mammaglobin RT-PCR assay for detection of occult breast cancer cells in hematopoietic products." Ann Oncol **13**(3): 422-9.
- Silva JM, Dominguez G, Silva J, Garcia JM, Sanchez A, Rodriguez O, Provencio M, Espana P and Bonilla F (2001). "Detection of epithelial messenger RNA in the plasma of breast cancer patients is associated with poor prognosis tumor characteristics." Clin Cancer Res 7(9): 2821-5.
- Silva JM, Rodriguez R, Garcia JM, Munoz C, Silva J, Dominguez G, Provencio M, Espana P and Bonilla F (2002). "Detection of epithelial tumour RNA in the plasma of colon cancer patients is associated with advanced stages and circulating tumour cells." Gut 50(4): 530-4.
- Singh PN and Fraser GE (1998). "Dietary risk factors for colon cancer in a low-risk population." Am J Epidemiol **148**(8): 761-74.
- Slade MJ, Smith BM, Sinnett HD, Cross NC and Coombes RC (1999). "Quantitative polymerase chain reaction for the detection of micrometastases in patients with breast cancer." J Clin Oncol **17**(3): 870-9.
- Slattery ML, Levin TR, Ma K, Goldgar D, Holubkov R and Edwards S (2003). "Family history and colorectal cancer: predictors of risk." Cancer Causes Control 14(9): 879-87.
- Solmi R, De Sanctis P, Zucchini C, Ugolini G, Rosati G, Del Governatore M, Coppola D, Yeatman TJ, Lenzi L, Caira A, Zanotti S, Taffurelli M, Carinci P, Valvassori L and Strippoli P (2004). "Search for epithelial-specific mRNAs in peripheral blood of patients with colon cancer by RT-PCR." Int J Oncol 25(4): 1049-56.

- Soria JC, Gauthier LR, Raymond E, Granotier C, Morat L, Armand JP, Boussin FD and Sabatier L (1999). "Molecular detection of telomerase-positive circulating epithelial cells in metastatic breast cancer patients." Clin Cancer Res 5(5): 971-5.
- Stathopoulou A, Gizi A, Perraki M, Apostolaki S, Malamos N, Mavroudis D, Georgoulias V and Lianidou ES (2003). "Real-time quantification of CK-19 mRNA-positive cells in peripheral blood of breast cancer patients using the lightcycler system." Clin Cancer Res 9(14): 5145-51.
- Stathopoulou A, Vlachonikolis I, Mavroudis D, Perraki M, Kouroussis C, Apostolaki S, Malamos N, Kakolyris S, Kotsakis A, Xenidis N, Reppa D and Georgoulias V (2002). "Molecular detection of cytokeratin-19-positive cells in the peripheral blood of patients with operable breast cancer: evaluation of their prognostic significance." J Clin Oncol 20(16): 3404-12.
- Stein P and Schultz RM (2000). "Initiation of a chromatin-based transcriptionally repressive state in the preimplantation mouse embryo: lack of a primary role for expression of somatic histone H1." Mol Reprod Dev 55(3): 241-8.
- Straub B, Muller M, Krause H, Schrader M, Goessl C, Heicappell R and Miller K (2001). "Detection of prostate-specific antigen RNA before and after radical retropubic prostatectomy and transurethral resection of the prostate using "Light-Cycler"based quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction." Urology 58(5): 815-20.
- Su Z, Dannull J, Yang BK, Dahm P, Coleman D, Yancey D, Sichi S, Niedzwiecki D, Boczkowski D, Gilboa E and Vieweg J (2005). "Telomerase mRNA-transfected dendritic cells stimulate antigen-specific CD8+ and CD4+ T cell responses in patients with metastatic prostate cancer." J Immunol 174(6): 3798-807.
- Suchy B, Austrup F, Driesel G, Eder C, Kusiak I, Uciechowski P, Grill HJ and Giesing M (2000). "Detection of mammaglobin expressing cells in blood of breast cancer patients." Cancer Lett 158(2): 171-8.
- Suzuki T, Suzuki Y and Fujioka T (1999). "Expression of the catalytic subunit associated with telomerase gene in human urinary bladder cancer." J Urol **162**(6): 2217-20.
- Taback B, Chan AD, Kuo CT, Bostick PJ, Wang HJ, Giuliano AE and Hoon DS (2001).
 "Detection of occult metastatic breast cancer cells in blood by a multimolecular marker assay: correlation with clinical stage of disease." Cancer Res 61(24): 8845-50.
- Takakura M, Kyo S, Kanaya T, Hirano H, Takeda J, Yutsudo M and Inoue M (1999). "Cloning of human telomerase catalytic subunit (hTERT) gene promoter and identification of proximal core promoter sequences essential for transcriptional activation in immortalized and cancer cells." Cancer Res 59(3): 551-7.

- Takubo K, Izumiyama-Shimomura N, Honma N, Sawabe M, Arai T, Kato M, Oshimura M and Nakamura K (2002). "Telomere lengths are characteristic in each human individual." Exp Gerontol 37(4): 523-31.
- Takubo K, Nakamura K, Izumiyama N, Furugori E, Sawabe M, Arai T, Esaki Y, Mafune K, Kammori M, Fujiwara M, Kato M, Oshimura M and Sasajima K (2000).
 "Telomere shortening with aging in human liver." J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 55(11): B533-6.
- Titu LV, Loveday RL, Madden LA, Cawkwell L, Monson JR and Greenman J (2004). "Cytotoxic T-cell immunity against telomerase reverse transcriptase in colorectal cancer patients." Oncol Rep **12**(4): 871-6.
- Troisi R, Schairer C, Chow WH, Schatzkin A, Brinton LA and Fraumeni JF, Jr. (1997).
 "A prospective study of menopausal hormones and risk of colorectal cancer (United States)." Cancer Causes Control 8(2): 130-8.
- Tsujii M, Kawano S, Tsuji S, Sawaoka H, Hori M and DuBois RN (1998).
 "Cyclooxygenase regulates angiogenesis induced by colon cancer cells." Cell 93(5): 705-16.
- Uchikura K, Takao S, Nakajo A, Miyazono F, Nakashima S, Tokuda K, Matsumoto M, Shinchi H, Natsugoe S and Aikou T (2002). "Intraoperative molecular detection of circulating tumor cells by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction in patients with biliary-pancreatic cancer is associated with hematogenous metastasis." Ann Surg Oncol **9**(4): 364-70.
- Uen YH, Lin SR, Wu CH, Hsieh JS, Lu CY, Yu FJ, Huang TJ and Wang JY (2006).
 "Clinical significance of MUC1 and c-Met RT-PCR detection of circulating tumor cells in patients with gastric carcinoma." Clin Chim Acta 367(1-2): 55-61.
- Uen YH, Lin SR, Wu DC, Su YC, Wu JY, Cheng TL, Chi CW and Wang JY (2007).
 "Prognostic Significance of Multiple Molecular Markers for Patients With Stage II Colorectal Cancer Undergoing Curative Resection." Ann Surg 246(6): 1040-1046.
- Ulaner GA, Hu JF, Vu TH, Giudice LC and Hoffman AR (1998). "Telomerase activity in human development is regulated by human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) transcription and by alternate splicing of hTERT transcripts." Cancer Res **58**(18): 4168-72.
- Ulaner GA, Hu JF, Vu TH, Oruganti H, Giudice LC and Hoffman AR (2000). "Regulation of telomerase by alternate splicing of human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) in normal and neoplastic ovary, endometrium and myometrium." Int J Cancer **85**(3): 330-5.

- Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, Syngal S, de la Chapelle A, Ruschoff J, Fishel R, Lindor NM, Burgart LJ, Hamelin R, Hamilton SR, Hiatt RA, Jass J, Lindblom A, Lynch HT, Peltomaki P, Ramsey SD, Rodriguez-Bigas MA, Vasen HF, Hawk ET, Barrett JC, Freedman AN and Srivastava S (2004). "Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability." J Natl Cancer Inst 96(4): 261-8.
- van Steensel B and de Lange T (1997). "Control of telomere length by the human telomeric protein TRF1." Nature **385**(6618): 740-3.
- van Steensel B, Smogorzewska A and de Lange T (1998). "TRF2 protects human telomeres from end-to-end fusions." Cell **92**(3): 401-13.
- Vasen HF, Mecklin JP, Khan PM and Lynch HT (1991). "The International Collaborative Group on Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (ICG-HNPCC)." Dis Colon Rectum **34**(5): 424-5.
- Vasen HF, Watson P, Mecklin JP and Lynch HT (1999). "New clinical criteria for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (HNPCC, Lynch syndrome) proposed by the International Collaborative group on HNPCC." Gastroenterology **116**(6): 1453-6.
- Vlems FA, Diepstra JH, Cornelissen IM, Ruers TJ, Ligtenberg MJ, Punt CJ, van Krieken JH, Wobbes T and van Muijen GN (2002). "Limitations of cytokeratin 20 RT-PCR to detect disseminated tumour cells in blood and bone marrow of patients with colorectal cancer: expression in controls and downregulation in tumour tissue." Mol Pathol 55(3): 156-63.
- Vonderheide RH (2002). "Telomerase as a universal tumor-associated antigen for cancer immunotherapy." Oncogene **21**(4): 674-9.
- Vonderheide RH, Anderson KS, Hahn WC, Butler MO, Schultze JL and Nadler LM (2001). "Characterization of HLA-A3-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes reactive against the widely expressed tumor antigen telomerase." Clin Cancer Res **7**(11): 3343-8.
- Vonderheide RH, Domchek SM, Schultze JL, George DJ, Hoar KM, Chen DY, Stephans KF, Masutomi K, Loda M, Xia Z, Anderson KS, Hahn WC and Nadler LM (2004). "Vaccination of cancer patients against telomerase induces functional antitumor CD8+ T lymphocytes." Clin Cancer Res 10(3): 828-39.
- Vonderheide RH, Hahn WC, Schultze JL and Nadler LM (1999). "The telomerase catalytic subunit is a widely expressed tumor-associated antigen recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes." Immunity **10**(6): 673-9.

- Vonderheide RH, Schultze JL, Anderson KS, Maecker B, Butler MO, Xia Z, Kuroda MJ, von Bergwelt-Baildon MS, Bedor MM, Hoar KM, Schnipper DR, Brooks MW, Letvin NL, Stephans KF, Wucherpfennig KW, Hahn WC and Nadler LM (2001).
 "Equivalent induction of telomerase-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes from tumor-bearing patients and healthy individuals." Cancer Res 61(23): 8366-70.
- Waguri N, Suda T, Nomoto M, Kawai H, Mita Y, Kuroiwa T, Igarashi M, Kobayashi M, Fukuhara Y and Aoyagi Y (2003). "Sensitive and specific detection of circulating cancer cells in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma; detection of human telomerase reverse transcriptase messenger RNA after immunomagnetic separation." Clin Cancer Res 9(8): 3004-11.
- Wang Z, Kyo S, Takakura M, Tanaka M, Yatabe N, Maida Y, Fujiwara M, Hayakawa J, Ohmichi M, Koike K and Inoue M (2000). "Progesterone regulates human telomerase reverse transcriptase gene expression via activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase signaling pathway." Cancer Res 60(19): 5376-81.
- Wasserman L, Dreilinger A, Easter D and Wallace A (1999). "A seminested RT-PCR assay for HER2/neu: initial validation of a new method for the detection of disseminated breast cancer cells." Mol Diagn **4**(1): 21-8.
- Weihrauch MR, Skibowski E, Koslowsky TC, Voiss W, Re D, Kuhn-Regnier F, Bannwarth C, Siedek M, Diehl V and Bohlen H (2002). "Immunomagnetic enrichment and detection of micrometastases in colorectal cancer: correlation with established clinical parameters." J Clin Oncol 20(21): 4338-43.
- Weinrich SL, Pruzan R, Ma L, Ouellette M, Tesmer VM, Holt SE, Bodnar AG, Lichtsteiner S, Kim NW, Trager JB, Taylor RD, Carlos R, Andrews WH, Wright WE, Shay JW, Harley CB and Morin GB (1997). "Reconstitution of human telomerase with the template RNA component hTR and the catalytic protein subunit hTRT." Nat Genet 17(4): 498-502.
- Weitz J, Kienle P, Lacroix J, Willeke F, Benner A, Lehnert T, Herfarth C and von Knebel Doeberitz M (1998). "Dissemination of tumor cells in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer." Clin Cancer Res 4(2): 343-8.
- Weitz J, Kienle P, Magener A, Koch M, Schrodel A, Willeke F, Autschbach F, Lacroix J, Lehnert T, Herfarth C and von Knebel Doeberitz M (1999). "Detection of disseminated colorectal cancer cells in lymph nodes, blood and bone marrow." Clin Cancer Res 5(7): 1830-6.
- Weng NP, Levine BL, June CH and Hodes RJ (1996). "Regulated expression of telomerase activity in human T lymphocyte development and activation." J Exp Med **183**(6): 2471-9.

- Wharton RQ, Jonas SK, Glover C, Khan ZA, Klokouzas A, Quinn H, Henry M and Allen-Mersh TG (1999). "Increased detection of circulating tumor cells in the blood of colorectal carcinoma patients using two reverse transcription-PCR assays and multiple blood samples." Clin Cancer Res 5(12): 4158-63.
- Wick M, Zubov D and Hagen G (1999). "Genomic organization and promoter characterization of the gene encoding the human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT)." Gene **232**(1): 97-106.
- Willipinski-Stapelfeldt B, Riethdorf S, Assmann V, Woelfle U, Rau T, Sauter G, Heukeshoven J and Pantel K (2005). "Changes in cytoskeletal protein composition indicative of an epithelial-mesenchymal transition in human micrometastatic and primary breast carcinoma cells." Clin Cancer Res 11(22): 8006-14.
- Wisman GB, De Jong S, Meersma GJ, Helder MN, Hollema H, de Vries EG, Keith WN and van der Zee AG (2000). "Telomerase in (pre)neoplastic cervical disease." Hum Pathol **31**(10): 1304-12.
- Wong IH, Yeo W, Chan AT and Johnson PJ (2001). "Quantitative relationship of the circulating tumor burden assessed by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction for cytokeratin 19 mRNA in peripheral blood of colorectal cancer patients with Dukes' stage, serum carcinoembryonic antigen level and tumor progression." Cancer Lett **162**(1): 65-73.
- Wright WE, Pereira-Smith OM and Shay JW (1989). "Reversible cellular senescence: implications for immortalization of normal human diploid fibroblasts." Mol Cell Biol **9**(7): 3088-92.
- Wright WE, Shay JW and Piatyszek MA (1995). "Modifications of a telomeric repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) result in increased reliability, linearity and sensitivity." Nucleic Acids Res **23**(18): 3794-5.
- Wright WE, Tesmer VM, Huffman KE, Levene SD and Shay JW (1997). "Normal human chromosomes have long G-rich telomeric overhangs at one end." Genes Dev **11**(21): 2801-9.
- Wu A, Ichihashi M and Ueda M (1999). "Correlation of the expression of human telomerase subunits with telomerase activity in normal skin and skin tumors." Cancer 86(10): 2038-44.
- Wu CH, Lin SR, Yu FJ, Wu DC, Pan YS, Hsieh JS, Huang SY and Wang JY (2006).
 "Development of a high-throughput membrane-array method for molecular diagnosis of circulating tumor cells in patients with gastric cancers." Int J Cancer 119(2): 373-379.

- Wulf GG, Jurgens B, Liersch T, Gatzemeier W, Rauschecker H, Buske C, Hufner M, Hiddemann W and Wormann B (1997). "Reverse transcriptase/polymerase chain reaction analysis of parathyroid hormone-related protein for the detection of tumor cell dissemination in the peripheral blood and bone marrow of patients with breast cancer." J Cancer Res Clin Oncol **123**(9): 514-21.
- Xenidis N, Vlachonikolis I, Mavroudis D, Perraki M, Stathopoulou A, Malamos N, Kouroussis C, Kakolyris S, Apostolaki S, Vardakis N, Lianidou E and Georgoulias V (2003). "Peripheral blood circulating cytokeratin-19 mRNApositive cells after the completion of adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with operable breast cancer." Ann Oncol 14(6): 849-55.
- Xu D, Wang Q, Gruber A, Bjorkholm M, Chen Z, Zaid A, Selivanova G, Peterson C, Wiman KG and Pisa P (2000). "Downregulation of telomerase reverse transcriptase mRNA expression by wild type p53 in human tumor cells." Oncogene 19(45): 5123-33.
- Yan P, Saraga EP, Bouzourene H, Bosman FT and Benhattar J (1999). "Telomerase activation in colorectal carcinogenesis." J Pathol **189**(2): 207-12.
- Yang J, Mani SA and Weinberg RA (2006). "Exploring a new twist on tumor metastasis." Cancer Res **66**(9): 4549-52.
- Yang L, Suwa T, Wright WE, Shay JW and Hornsby PJ (2001). "Telomere shortening and decline in replicative potential as a function of donor age in human adrenocortical cells." Mech Ageing Dev **122**(15): 1685-94.
- Yang SZ, Dong JH, Li K, Zhang Y and Zhu J (2005). "Detection of AFPmRNA and melanoma antigen gene-1mRNA as markers of disseminated hepatocellular carcinoma cells in blood." Hepatobiliary Pancreat Dis Int **4**(2): 227-33.
- Yeh KH, Chen YC, Yeh SH, Chen CP, Lin JT and Cheng AL (1998). "Detection of circulating cancer cells by nested reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction of cytokeratin-19 (K19)--possible clinical significance in advanced gastric cancer." Anticancer Res 18(2B): 1283-6.
- Yi X, Tesmer VM, Savre-Train I, Shay JW and Wright WE (1999). "Both transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms regulate human telomerase template RNA levels." Mol Cell Biol **19**(6): 3989-97.
- Yoong KF, Afford SC, Randhawa S, Hubscher SG and Adams DH (1999). "Fas/Fas ligand interaction in human colorectal hepatic metastases: A mechanism of hepatocyte destruction to facilitate local tumor invasion." Am J Pathol **154**(3): 693-703.

- Zach O, Kasparu H, Krieger O, Hehenwarter W, Girschikofsky M and Lutz D (1999).
 "Detection of circulating mammary carcinoma cells in the peripheral blood of breast cancer patients via a nested reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction assay for mammaglobin mRNA." J Clin Oncol **17**(7): 2015-9.
- Zakian VA (1996). "Structure, function, and replication of Saccharomyces cerevisiae telomeres." Annu Rev Genet **30**: 141-72.
- Zehentner BK (2002). "Detection of disseminated tumor cells: strategies and diagnostic implications." Expert Rev Mol Diagn **2**(1): 41-8.
- Zhang XW, Fan P, Yang HY, Yang L and Chen GY (2003). "[Significance of detecting disseminated tumor cells in peripheral blood of gastric and colorectal cancer patients]." Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 25(1): 66-9.

No.	Sex	Age	Duke	Site	Operation	Complications	Met
1	М	80	С	Rectum	APR	N	Ν
2	М	59	С	Rectum	AR	Ν	Ν
3	М	74	А	Rt colon	AR	Ν	Ν
4	М	71	В	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
5	М	73	В	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	Ν
6	Μ	89	А	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	Ν
7	Μ	84	А	Rectum	AR	Wound infection	Ν
8	F	49	В	Lt colon	Total colectomy	Ν	Ν
9	F	85	В	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
10	Μ	71	А	Sigmoid	AR	Wound infection	Ν
11	Μ	60	С	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
12	F	75	С	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
13	М	86	D	Rectum	AR	N	Lung
14	М	80	А	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
15	F	68	С	Rectum	Total colectomy	N	Ν
16	F	72	С	Rectum	APR	N	Ν
17	М	66	В	Sigmoid	AR	N	Ν
18	М	43	С	Rectum	APR	Small bowel obstruction	Ν
19	М	64	С	Sigmoid	Lt hemicolectomy	N	N
20	М	79	С	Rectum	Hartmanns	N	N
21	М	70	С	Rectum	Lt hemicolectomy	N	N
22	М	74	С	Sigmoid	AR	N	Ν
23	F	53	D	Sigmoid	AR	N	Liver
24	F	59	D	Rectum	AR	N	Liver
25	М	62	А	Sigmoid	AR	N	N
26	F	75	С	Sigmoid	Total colectomy	N	N
27	F	78	C	Caecum	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
28	М	78	C	Lt colon	AR	N	N
29	F	67	В	Rectum	APR	N	N
30	F	71	В	Rectum	AR	N	N
31	M	87	C	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
32	M	83	В	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
33	M	79	В	Rectum	AR	N	N
34	F	83	A	Sigmoid	AR	N	N
35	F	88	A	Rectum	AR	AL	N
36	M	75	D	Sigmoid	AR	N	N
37	M	81	C	Rectum	Colostomy	N	N
38	F	90	B	Rectum	APR	N	N
39	F	54	C	A colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
40	F	81	C	Rectum	APR	Pancreatitis	N
41	F	56	В	Caecum	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
42	M	78	B	Rectum	Total colectomy	N	N
43	M	87	C	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
44	M	64	В	Rectum	Hartmanns	Wound infection	N
45	F	68	C	Rectum	AR	N	N
46	F	72	А	Rectum	AR	Ν	Ν

Appendix 4.1: Patients' data

No.	Sex	Age	Duke	Site	Operation	Complications	Met
47	F	69	С	Sigmoid	Sigmoid colectomy	Ν	Ν
48	F	71	С	Caecum	Total colectomy	Ν	Liver
49	F	81	С	Rectum	Hartmanns	Ν	Ν
50	F	60	С	Lt colon	Lt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
51	F	85	С	Rt colon	Lt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
52	Μ	83	С	Caecum	Rt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
53	М	55	С	Rectum	AR	Ν	Ν
54	Μ	60	В	Rt colon	Lt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
55	F	77	А	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	Ν
56	F	62	С	Rectum	APR	Ν	Ν
57	М	64	С	Rectum	AR + LI	Ν	Ν
58	М	76	С	Sigmoid	AR	Colocutanous fistula	Ν
59	Μ	74	А	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
60	F	56	С	Sigmoid		N	Ν
					LT colectomy and		
					liver resection		
61	F	74	А	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
62	F	82	А	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
63	F	71	В	Sigmoid	AR	N	Ν
64	F	73	D	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
65	F	51	С	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
66	М	70	С	Rectum	AR	N	Ν
67	Μ	82	D	Rectum	AR	Fluid collection	Liver
68	F	84	В	Sigmoid	Sigmoid colectomy	N	Ν
69	F	75	С	Sigmoid	AR	AL	Ν
70	F	63	А	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	N
71	М	47	С	T colon	Subtotal colectomy	N	Ν
72	М	57	А	Rectum	AR	AL	N
73	Μ	52	С	Rectum	AR	N	N
74	F	64	С	Rectum	AR	N	N
75	М	56	D	Sigmoid	Total colectomy	N	N
76	Μ	61	В	Caecum	Total colectomy	Stenosis	N
77	Μ	72	D	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
78	М	79	В	Caecum	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
79	F	78	В	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	N	N
80	М	60	А	Rectum	AR	N	N
81	М	76	В	Rectum	AR	Pneumonia	N
82	М	82	С	Rectum	AR	N	N
02	м	71	C	T Calan	Extended Rt	N	N
0.0	M	/1 69	C	I COIOII	AD	IN N	IN N
04	M	70	L B	Teolor		IN N	IN N
0J 86	IVI E	70 60		I COION	AK Dt homicoloctomy	IN N	IN N
00	Г	72	A D	Ricolon	A D	IN N	IN N
0/	Г	13 64	D	Rectum		IN N	IN Liver
00 80	IVI E	66		Rectulli Dt colon	AK Dt homicoloctomy	N	N
09	Г	52	A	Rt COION	A D	IN N	IN N
90	Г	22	Ľ	Rectum	AK	1N	IN

No.	Sex	Age	Duke	Site	Operation	Complications	Met
91	Μ	79	С	Rectum	AR	Ν	Ν
92	F	72	В	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	Ν
93	F	69	С	Sigmoid	AR	Ν	Ν
94	М	77	В	Sigmoid	AR	N	Ν
95	Μ	85	С	T colon	Lt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
96	F	78	В	Rt colon	Rt hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν
					Extended Rt		
97	F	73	А	Lt colon	hemicolectomy	Ν	Ν

F: Female

M: Male Rt: Right

Lt: Left

T: Transverse

AR: Anterior resection

APR: Abdomino-perineal resection

Met: Metastases

A: Ascending LI: Loop ileostomy

AL: Anastomotic leak